# **Base Prospectus**

# SALIX FINANCE LIMITED

(a private company incorporated in Ireland with registered number 477113)

# Multi Issuer Limited Recourse Secured Note Programme

Under the Multi Issuer Limited Recourse Secured Note Programme described in this Base Prospectus (the "**Programme**"), it is intended that certain companies (each a "**Relevant Issuer**"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue notes, where recourse in respect of such notes is limited to the proceeds of enforcement of the security over the assets of the Relevant Issuer on which such notes are secured ("**Notes**") on the terms set out herein, as completed by the information contained in the relevant series prospectus in respect of the relevant Notes (each a "**Series Prospectus**"). As at the date of this Base Prospectus, Salix Finance Limited is the first Relevant Issuer under the Programme.

In connection with the proposed issue of a Series of Notes (as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Overview of the Programme") by a Relevant Issuer, such Relevant Issuer will either already be a party to the principal trust deed dated 15 December 2015, as amended and supplemented from time to time, entered into between Salix Finance Limited and HSBC Corporate Trustee Company (UK) Limited as trustee (the "Principal Trust Deed") and certain other Master Documents (as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Overview of the Programme") or will execute a deed (an "Acceptance Deed") agreeing to be bound by all the terms of the Principal Trust Deed, the other Master Documents and such other documents as may be executed pursuant to or in connection with the proposed issue of Notes. From and after execution and delivery of the Master Documents or an Acceptance Deed by a Relevant Issuer, as the case may be, each such Relevant Issuer shall become and be treated as an "Issuer" for the purposes of the Master Documents and this Base Prospectus. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein to "Issuer" are references to the Relevant Issuer in respect of (and only to the extent of) the Notes issued by it and in respect of the Master Documents only to the extent that it is bound by them and such references specifically exclude any other Relevant Issuer. Each Relevant Issuer shall be bound by the Master Documents only in respect of the Series of Notes issued by it and matters relating thereto. No Relevant Issuer shall be bound by the Master Documents in respect of any Series of Notes issued by any other Relevant Issuer.

Notes will be issued in Series. The payment obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Notes, Coupons, Receipts and Talons of a Series together with the Issuer's payment obligations under the Trust Deed and Swap Agreement (if any) relating to such Series (each as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Master Conditions") and certain reimbursement payment obligations of the Issuer to the Custodian and/or the Issuing and Paying Agent in relation to such Series will be secured primarily by English law charges and assignments in favour of the Trustee over: (i) certain assets and property which may take the form of transferable securities, loans, deposits, shares, partnership interests, units in unit trusts or any other asset or property acquired and or held by the Issuer in connection with such Series and all property, assets and sums derived therefrom; (ii) all the Issuer's rights attaching to or relating to the assets and property (including the benefit of any contractual rights relating thereto) described in (i); (iii) the rights of the Issuer under the Swap Agreement (if any) and certain Transaction Documents (each as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Master Conditions") relating to the relevant Series; and (iv) all sums and assets held by the Agents (as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Master Conditions"), the Swap Agreement (if any) and any assets, property, income, rights and/or agreements of the Issuer from time to time charged or assigned to the Trustee, as the case may be, securing the Notes of a particular Series are referred to in this Base Prospectus as the "Mortgaged Property" for such Series. The holders of a specific Series of Notes will have recourse only to the Mortgaged Property for that Series, subject always to the Security (as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Master Conditions"), and no other assets of the Issuer or any other Relevant Issuer will be available to pay any claims with respect to the Notes of such Se

If, after the Mortgaged Property for a Series has been exhausted (whether pursuant to liquidation or enforcement) and following the application of the available cash sums derived therefrom in accordance with Condition 15 of the Notes and the relevant Trust Deed, any outstanding claim against the Issuer in respect of the secured payment obligations of the Issuer in relation to such Series remains unpaid, then such outstanding claims will be extinguished and no debt will be owed by the Issuer in respect thereof. Following such extinguishment, no holder of any Note of the relevant Series nor any Transaction Party or any other person acting on behalf of any of them will be entitled to take any further steps against the Issuer or any of its officers, shareholders, corporate service providers or directors to recover any further sum relating to such Series in respect of the extinguished claim and no debt will be owed to any such persons by the Issuer in respect of such further sum.

The Issuer may from time to time issue further Notes on the same terms as existing Notes and such further Notes shall be consolidated and form a single Series with such existing Notes, provided that unless otherwise approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Master Conditions") of Noteholders, the Issuer provides additional assets as security for such further Notes in accordance with Condition 21.

This document constitutes a base prospectus (the "Base Prospectus") as contemplated by Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including Directive 2010/73/EU) (the "Prospectus Directive") and Commission Regulation (EC) 809/2004 (as amended). The Base Prospectus has been approved by the Central Bank of Ireland (the "Central Bank"), as competent authority (the "Competent Authority") under the Prospectus Directive. The Central Bank only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the requirements imposed under Irish and EU law pursuant to the Prospectus Directive. Such approval relates only to the Notes which are to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange (the "Market") or other regulated markets for the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC or which are to be offered to the public in any Member State of the European Economic Area. Application has been made to the Irish Stock Exchange for the Notes issued under the Programme within 12 months of the date of this Base Prospectus to be admitted to the Official List (the "Official List") and trading on its regulated market. The Market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments (as amended). A Series of Notes may be listed and/or admitted to trading on such other or further stock exchanges as may be agreed between the Issuer and the Arranger. References in this Base Prospectus to a Series of Notes being "listed" (and all related references) will mean that such Notes have either been admitted to the Official List and have been admitted to trading on the Market or have been admitted to the official list and have been admitted Series of Notes may also be issued pursuant to

the Programme. The Series Prospectus issued specifying the relevant issue details of the Notes will specify whether or not such Notes are to be listed.

This Base Prospectus has been filed with and approved by the Central Bank as required by the Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations 2005 of Ireland (as amended) (the "**Prospectus Regulations**") and filed with the Irish Companies Registration Office in accordance with Regulation 38(1)(b) of the Prospectus Regulations.

Each Series of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a "temporary Global Note") or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a "permanent Global Note" and a permanent Global Note or temporary Global Note a "Global Note"). If the Global Notes are stated in the applicable Series Prospectus to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, the Global Notes will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"). Global Notes which are not issued in NGN form ("CGNs") and Certificates will be deposited on the issue date of the relevant Tranche with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the "Common Depositary"). The provisions governing the exchange or transfer, as the case may be, of interests in Global Notes for other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form". Notes in registered form ("Registered Notes") will be represented by registered seach a "Certificate"), one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Registered Notes issued in global form will be represented by registered global certificates ("Global Certificates"). If a Global Certificate is held under the New Safekeeping Structure (the "NSS") the Global Certificate will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where Series of Notes is to be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to Notes already issued. Whether or not a rating in relation to any Notes will be treated as having been issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies will be disclosed in the relevant Series Prospectus. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

THE NOTES WILL BE OBLIGATIONS SOLELY OF THE ISSUER AND WILL NOT BE GUARANTEED BY, OR BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF, ANY OTHER ENTITY,

Arranger

ING BANK

The date of this Base Prospectus is 15 December 2015.

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and for the purpose of giving information with regard to Salix Finance Limited and the Notes which, according to the particular nature of the Issuer and the Notes, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Relevant Issuer.

Each of the Relevant Issuers accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of each Relevant Issuer (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

Each Relevant Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that this document contains all information with respect to it and the Notes issued by such Relevant Issuer that is material in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes, the statements contained in this document relating to it are in every material particular true and accurate and not misleading, the opinions and intentions expressed in this Base Prospectus with regard to it are honestly held, have been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions, there are no other facts in relation to such Relevant Issuer or the Notes the omission of which would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes, make any statement in this Base Prospectus misleading in any material respect and all reasonable enquiries have been made by such Relevant Issuer to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Base Prospectus and the applicable Series Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in "Overview of the Programme"). Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of any Relevant Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of any Relevant Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive (2003/71/EC), the minimum specified denomination shall be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes).

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus comes are required by the Relevant Issuers, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") and include Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Base Prospectus, see "Subscription and Sale".

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of any Relevant Issuer or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

None of the Arranger, the Dealers or any other Transaction Party (as defined in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Master Conditions") have separately verified the information contained in this Base Prospectus and accordingly none of them makes any representation, recommendation or warranty, express or implied, regarding the accuracy, adequacy, reasonableness or completeness of the information contained herein or in any further information, notice or other document which may, at any time, be supplied in connection with the Notes or their distribution. To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers, the Arranger or any other Transaction Party accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Base Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger or a Dealer or on its behalf in connection with any Relevant Issuer or the issue and offering of the Notes. Each of the Arranger, the Dealers and other Transaction Parties accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Base Prospectus or any such statement, and none of them accepts any responsibility or liability therefor. None of the Arranger, the Dealers or any Transaction Party undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of any relevant Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Base Prospectus or to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to their attention.

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed "Risk Factors" in this Base Prospectus. This Base Prospectus does not describe all of the risks of an investment in the Notes. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Relevant Issuers, the Arranger or the Dealers or any Transaction Party that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other financial statements should purchase the Notes. Purchasers of Notes should conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding the Issuer of the relevant Series of Notes, the security arrangements and the Notes as they deem appropriate to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in the Notes. Purchasers of Notes should have sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, and access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical resources, to evaluate the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the applicable Series Prospectus and the merits and risks of investing in the Notes in the context of their financial position and circumstances. None of the Dealers or the Arranger or any Transaction Party undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of any of the Relevant Issuers during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Base Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger or any Transaction Party. The risk factors identified in this Base Prospectus are provided as general information only and the Dealers, the Arranger and the other Transaction Parties disclaim any responsibility to advise purchasers of Notes of the risks and investment considerations associated therewith as they may exist at the date hereof or as they may from time to time alter.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche (as defined in "Overview of the Programme – Method of Issue"), the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilising manager(s) (the "**Stabilising Manager(s)**") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable Series Prospectus may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment shall be conducted in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT") AND MAY INCLUDE NOTES IN BEARER FORM THAT ARE SUBJECT TO U.S. TAX LAW REQUIREMENTS. THE ISSUER HAS NOT REGISTERED AND WILL NOT REGISTER UNDER THE U.S. INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AS AMENDED (THE "INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT"). NOTES MAY BE OFFERED AND SOLD IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ("REGULATION S") TO NON-U.S. PERSONS IN OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS. THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, RESOLD, DELIVERED OR TRANSFERRED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) OR PERSONS THAT ARE NOT NON-UNITED STATES PERSONS (AS DEFINED BY THE U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION).

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Series Prospectus, each purchaser or holder of a Note shall be deemed to have represented by such purchase and/or holding that it is not a Benefit Plan Investor, is not using the assets of a Benefit Plan Investor to acquire the Notes, and shall not at any time hold such Notes for or on behalf of a Benefit Plan Investor. For the purposes of this Base Prospectus, "Benefit Plan Investor" means (a) an employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA")), whether or not subject to ERISA, (b) a plan described in Section 4975(e)(1) of the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Internal Revenue Code") or (c) any entity whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of a plan's investment in the entity under U.S. Department of Labor Regulations § 2510.3-101 (29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101).

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to "euro", "€" and "EUR" are to the lawful currency of those Member States of the European Union that have adopted the single currency of the European Union, references to "dollars", "U.S. dollars", "USD", "\$" and "U.S.\$" are to the lawful currency of the United States of America and references to "Sterling", "GBP" and "£" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

Salix Finance Limited is not regulated by the Central Bank. The Notes will not have the status of a bank deposit under Irish law and are not within the scope of the Deposit Protection Scheme operated by the Central Bank. If the Issuer (or any other Relevant Issuer incorporated in Ireland) wishes to issue Notes with a maturity of less than one year, it shall ensure that it is in full compliance with the notice BSD C 01/02 issued by the Central Bank of Ireland of exemptions granted under Section 8(2) of the Central Bank Act, 1971, as amended.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME	4
RISK FACTORS	11
INVESTOR SUITABILITY	27
SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS	28
MASTER CONDITIONS	29
SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM	76
USE OF PROCEEDS.	79
DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER	80
THE SWAP AGREEMENT	83
SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS FOR COLLATERAL HELD IN CLEARING SYSTEM	86
TAXATION	88
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	91
GENERAL INFORMATION	94

#### **OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME**

The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Base Prospectus. Capitalised terms used but not defined in this overview shall have the meaning given to them in the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Master Conditions".

Issuer:

Salix Finance Limited (a "Relevant Issuer") or any other Relevant Issuer added by an Issuer Disclosure Annex to this Base Prospectus. Each company that is a party to the Principal Trust Deed and other Master Documents in the capacity of a "Relevant Issuer" or that executes an Acceptance Deed agreeing to be bound by all the terms of the Principal Trust Deed, the other Master Documents and to enter into a swap agreement on substantially the same terms as the Master Agreement between Salix Finance Limited and ING Bank N.V. (as such terms are defined in the Master Conditions) and such other documents as may be executed pursuant to or in connection with the issue of Notes, shall constitute a Relevant Issuer and may issue Notes pursuant to the Programme subject to and in accordance with the Master Documents. References herein to "Issuer" are references to the Relevant Issuer in respect of (and only to the extent of) the Notes issued by it and in respect of the Master Documents to the extent that it is bound by them and such references specifically exclude any other Relevant Issuer. References herein to the "Master Documents" means the Principal Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Custody Agreement, the Dealer Agreement, the Procedures Memorandum and/or such other documents designated as such in the relevant Acceptance Deed.

**Description:** 

**Arranger:** 

ING Bank N.V.

Notes.

Mortgaged Property:

The Notes of each Series will be secured in the manner set out in Condition 4 of the Master Conditions. The Mortgaged Property in respect of a Series of Notes will comprise the Collateral and/or the Swap Agreement (if any) and/or any assets, property, income, rights and/or agreements of the Issuer from time to time charged or assigned to the Trustee, as the case may be, securing the Secured Payment Obligations to the extent they relate to such Series.

Secured Note Programme pursuant to which a Relevant Issuer may issue

**Security:** 

With respect to a Series of Notes and the Transaction Documents relating to such Series, the payment obligations of the Issuer under the Trust Deed relating to such Series, the Custody Agreement relating to such Series, the Swap Agreement (if any) relating to such Series and each Note, Coupon, Receipt, Talon of such Series together with any obligation of the Issuer to reimburse the Issuing and Paying Agent in respect of payments made in accordance with the terms of the Agency Agreement to any person in discharge of any such payment obligation relating to such Series (referred to herein as the "Secured Payment Obligations") are secured in favour of the Trustee, pursuant to the Trust Deed, by:

- (i) a first fixed charge over the Collateral (if any) for such Series and all property, assets and sums derived therefrom;
- (ii) an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's rights attaching to or relating to the Collateral (if any) for such Series and all property, sums or assets derived therefrom including without limitation any right to delivery thereof or to an equivalent number or nominal value thereof which arises in connection with any such assets being held in a clearing system

or through a financial intermediary;

- (iii) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights, title and/or interest against the Custodian, to the extent that they relate to the Collateral (if any) for such Series;
- (iv) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights, title and/or interest under the Agency Agreement, to the extent that they relate to the Notes of such Series;
- (v) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights, title and/or interest under the Swap Agreement (if any) entered into in connection with such Series:
- (vi) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights against the Disposal Agent under the terms of the Agency Agreement (or any other agreement entered into between the Issuer and the Disposal Agent) to the extent such rights relate to the Collateral (if any) for such Series;
- (vii) a first fixed charge over (A) all sums held by the Issuing and Paying Agent and/or the Custodian to meet payments due in respect of any Secured Payment Obligation in respect of such Series, and (B) any sums received by the Issuing and Paying Agent under the Swap Agreement relating to such Series; and
- (viii) a first fixed charge over all sums, securities and any other property held or received by the Disposal Agent relating to the Transaction Documents and the Collateral (if any) to the extent they relate to such Series.

Additionally, in respect of a Series of Notes the Secured Payment Obligations of the Issuer of such Series may be secured pursuant to a security document other than the Trust Deed as specified in the relevant Supplemental Trust Deed and/or the applicable Series Prospectus.

Dealers:

ING Bank N.V.

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme. References in this Base Prospectus to "Permanent Dealers" are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been terminated) and references to "Dealers" are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as dealers in respect of one or more Tranches.

Trustee:

HSBC Corporate Trustee Company (UK) Limited.

**Issuing and Paying Agent:** 

HSBC Bank plc.

**Calculation Agent:** 

HSBC Bank plc.

**Determination Agent:** 

ING Bank N.V., London branch or such other agent appointed as Determination Agent in respect of the relevant Series of Notes from time to time.

Custodian:

HSBC Bank plc.

**Disposal Agent:** 

ING Bank N.V., London branch or such other agent appointed as Disposal Agent in respect of the relevant Series of Notes from time to time.

Registrar and Transfer Agent(s):

HSBC Bank plc and the Transfer Agent(s) in respect of each Series of Notes will be as specified in the applicable Series Prospectus.

**Swap Counterparty:** 

If the Issuer enters into a Swap Agreement in respect of a Series of Notes the counterparty in respect of such agreement will be as specified in the applicable Series Prospectus.

Method of Issue:

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche") on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be completed, where necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be completed in the applicable Series Prospectus.

**Issue Price of the Notes:** 

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or premium to their nominal amount.

Form of Notes:

The Notes may be issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes") only. Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes and vice versa.

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will be represented on issue by a temporary Global Note if (i) definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders following the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such Notes have an initial maturity of more than one year and are being issued in compliance with the D Rules (as defined in "Selling Restrictions" below), otherwise such Tranche will be represented by a permanent Global Note.

Registered Notes will be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Certificates representing Registered Notes that are registered in the name of a nominee for one or more clearing systems are referred to herein as "Global Certificates".

**Clearing Systems:** 

Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and, in relation to any Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between the Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Trustee and the relevant Dealer.

**Initial Delivery of Notes:** 

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global Note representing Bearer Notes is an NGN or if the relevant Global Certificate representing Registered Notes is held under the NSS, such Global Note or Global Certificate, as applicable, will be deposited with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global Note is a CGN or the relevant Global Certificates is not held under the NSS, such Global Note or Global Certificate, as applicable, will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global Notes or Global Certificates may also be deposited with any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that the

method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Trustee and the relevant Dealer. Registered Notes that are to be credited to one or more clearing systems on issue will be registered in the name of nominees or a common nominee for such clearing systems.

**Currencies:** 

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes may be issued in any currency as agreed between the Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent and the relevant Dealers.

Maturities:

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, any maturity.

**Specified Denomination:** 

Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified in the applicable Series Prospectus, save that in the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or offered to the public in an EEA State in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive, the minimum specified denomination shall be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes).

**Fixed Rate Notes:** 

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the applicable Series Prospectus.

**Floating Rate Notes:** 

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for each Series as follows:

- (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or such other definitions specified in the applicable Series Prospectus; or
- (ii) by reference to LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN or EURIBOR (or such other benchmark as may be specified in the applicable Series Prospectus) as adjusted for any applicable margin.

**Zero Coupon Notes:** 

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest.

**Interest Periods and Rates of Interest:** 

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable rate of interest or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum rate of interest, a minimum rate of interest, or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period. All such information will be set out in the applicable Series Prospectus.

**Redemption:** 

The applicable Series Prospectus will specify the basis for calculating the redemption amounts payable.

**Redemption by Instalments:** 

The Series Prospectus issued in respect of each issue of Notes that are redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the dates on which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed.

**Early Redemption:** 

The Notes may become due and payable prior to the Maturity Date at their Early Redemption Amount on the Early Redemption Date in connection with the occurrence of a Collateral Default, a Note Tax Event, a Collateral Tax Event, a Partial Collateral Call, a Collateral Call, a Swap Termination Event, a Swap Counterparty Event, a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event, a Custodian Enforcement Event or an Event of Default as further described in Conditions 7 and 12 of the Master Conditions.

**Liquidation of Collateral:** 

**Status of Notes:** 

If a default is made in the payment of the Final Redemption Amount or any interest or Instalment Amount due and payable on the Maturity Date, or an Early Redemption Trigger Date occurs (other than pursuant to Condition 7(e)(ii)), or a Swap Termination Event occurs, a Liquidation Event will occur.

Upon receipt of a Liquidation Commencement Notice in relation to a Liquidation Event, the Disposal Agent will, so far as is practicable in the circumstances, effect an orderly Liquidation of all of the Collateral in accordance with the terms of the Conditions, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement.

The Notes will be secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer ranking pari passu and without any preference among themselves and secured in the manner described in Condition 4 of the Master Conditions. In respect of a Series of Notes, the Noteholders and Transaction Parties will have recourse only to the Mortgaged Property, subject always to the Security, and not to any other assets of the Issuer. Claims of Noteholders, Secured Creditors and the other Transaction Parties to the extent they relate to the relevant Series of Notes will rank in accordance with the priorities specified in the relevant Trust Deed. If, after the Mortgaged Property for a Series has been exhausted (whether pursuant to Liquidation or enforcement of the Security) and following the application of, the available cash sums derived therefrom in accordance with Condition 15 of the Notes and the relevant Trust Deed, any outstanding claim against the Issuer in respect of the secured payment obligations of the Issuer in relation to such Series remains unpaid, then such outstanding claims will be extinguished and no debt will be owed by the Issuer in respect thereof. Following such extinguishment, no holder of any Note of the relevant Series nor any Transaction Party or any other person acting on behalf of any of them will be entitled to take any further steps against the Issuer or any of its officers, shareholders, corporate service providers or directors to recover any further sum relating to such Series in respect of the extinguished claim and no debt will be owed to any such persons by the Issuer in respect of such further sum.

**Restrictions:** 

So long as any of the Notes remain outstanding, the Issuer will not, without the consent of the Trustee, engage in any business (other than the issuance or entry into of Obligations (as defined in the Master Conditions), the entry into related agreements and transactions and the performing of acts incidental or necessary in connection therewith), declare any dividends, have any subsidiaries or employees, purchase, own, lease or otherwise acquire any real property, consolidate or merge with any other person, convey or transfer its properties or assets substantially as an entity to any person (other than as contemplated by the Master Conditions and the relevant Trust Deed), issue any shares or any of the other restricted activities described in Condition 5 of the Master Conditions.

**Cross Default:** 

None

Rating:

The Programme is not rated but it is anticipated that certain Series of Notes may be rated.

Where a Series of Notes is to be rated, such rating and the assigning rating agency will be specified in the applicable Series Prospectus.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Without prejudice to the early redemption for taxation provisions of Condition 7(d), all payments in respect of the Notes will be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatsoever nature unless the Issuer or any Agent is required by applicable laws to make any such payment in respect of the Notes subject to any withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatsoever nature. In that event, the Issuer, or such Agent will make such payment after such withholding or deduction has been made and shall account to the relevant authorities for the amount so required to be withheld or deducted. Neither the Issuer nor any Agent will be obliged to make any additional payments to holders of Notes in respect of such withholding

If the Issuer in good faith determines a Tax Substitution Event has occurred then the Issuer will, as soon as reasonably practicable upon becoming aware of such Tax Substitution Event, so inform the Trustee. If a Tax Substitution Event occurs, the Issuer will use all reasonable endeavours to arrange for the substitution of a company incorporated in another jurisdiction approved beforehand in writing by the Trustee and the Swap Counterparty (provided that, in the case of rated Notes, Rating Agency Affirmation has been received by the time of such substitution from each Rating Agency) as the principal obligor or to change (to the satisfaction of the Trustee and the Swap Counterparty (provided that, in the case of rated Notes, Rating Agency Affirmation has been received by the time of such change from each Rating Agency)) its residence for taxation purposes to another jurisdiction approved beforehand in writing by the Trustee and the Swap Counterparty such that following such substitution or change of residence no Tax Substitution Event will exist.

The Issuer may from time to time issue further Notes of any Series on the same terms as existing Notes and such further Notes shall be consolidated and form a single Series with such existing Notes of the same Series; provided that, unless otherwise approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders, the Issuer provides additional assets as security for such further Notes in accordance with Condition 21.

English.

or deduction.

Application has been made to list Notes issued under the Programme on the Official List and to admit them to trading on the Market or as otherwise specified in the applicable Series Prospectus and references herein to "listing" shall be construed accordingly. As specified in the applicable Series Prospectus, a Series of Notes may be unlisted.

No assurance can be given that such listing can be obtained and/or maintained.

The Base Prospectus has been approved by the Central Bank of Ireland (the "Central Bank"), as competent authority (the "Competent Authority") under the Prospectus Directive.

Withholding Tax:

**Further Issues:** 

**Governing Law:** 

Listing and Admission to Trading:

Such approval relates only to Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC or which are to be offered to the public in any Member State of the European Economic Area.

Each Series of Notes shall have its terms set out in a prospectus (the "Series Prospectus"). Under no circumstances shall the Series Prospectus constitute final terms pursuant to the Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations 2005 (as amended).

The United States, the Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Directive, the United Kingdom, Ireland, Japan and any other jurisdiction relevant to any Series. See the section of this Base Prospectus headed "Subscription and Sale".

The Issuer is Category 2 for the purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act, as amended.

Notes in bearer form will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the "C Rules") unless (i) the applicable Series Prospectus states that Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the "D Rules") or (ii) the Notes are issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute "registration required obligations" under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 ("TEFRA"), which circumstances will be referred to in the applicable Series Prospectus as a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable.

**Selling Restrictions:** 

#### RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

Factors which the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive. Additional risk factors relating to a particular Series may be set out in the applicable Series Prospectus. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

#### General

#### The Notes

The Notes are complex instruments that involve substantial risks and are suitable only for sophisticated investors who have sufficient knowledge and experience and access to such professional advisers as they shall consider necessary in order to make their own evaluation of the risks and the merits of such an investment (including without limitation the tax, accounting, credit, legal, regulatory and financial implications for them of such an investment) and who have considered the suitability of such Notes in light of their own circumstances and financial condition. Prospective investors should ensure that they understand the nature of the risks posed by an investment in the Notes, and the extent of their exposure as a result of such investment in the Notes and, before making their investment decision, should consider carefully all of the information set forth in this Base Prospectus and in the applicable Series Prospectus and, in particular, the considerations set forth below. Owing to the structured nature of the Notes, their price may be more volatile than that of unstructured securities.

#### **Investors**

Each prospective investor in Notes should have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant Notes, including where principal and interest may reduce as a result of the occurrence of different events whether related to the creditworthiness of any entity or otherwise or changes in particular rates, prices or indices, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the prospective investor's currency.

Investment activities of certain investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective investor should therefore consult its professional advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) the Notes are legal investments for it, and/or (ii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or, if relevant, pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their professional advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

#### No fiduciary role

None of (i) the Issuer, (ii) the Arranger (iii) any Transaction Party or (iv) any of their respective affiliates is acting as an investment adviser, and none of them (other than the Trustee) assumes any fiduciary obligation to any purchaser of Notes or any other party, including the Issuer.

None of the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the Transaction Parties in respect of any Series assumes any responsibility for conducting or failing to conduct any investigation into the business, financial condition, prospects, creditworthiness, status and/or affairs of any issuer or obligor of any Collateral or the terms of any Collateral or of any Swap Counterparty or the terms of any Swap Agreement.

Investors may not rely on the views or advice of the Issuer, or any of the Transaction Parties in respect of any Series for any information in relation to any person other than such Issuer or Transaction Party, respectively.

#### No reliance

A prospective purchaser may not rely on the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the Transaction Parties in respect of any Series or any of their respective affiliates in connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the Notes or as to the other matters referred to above.

## No representations

None of the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the Transaction Parties in respect of any Series makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, in respect of any Collateral or any issuer or obligor of any Collateral or of any Swap Counterparty or in respect of the relevant Swap Agreement or in respect of any information contained in any documents prepared, provided or filed by or on behalf of any such issuer or obligor or in respect of such Collateral or of any Swap Counterparty or in respect of the relevant Swap Agreement with any exchange, governmental, supervisory or self regulatory authority or any other person.

## Risk Factors relating to the Issuer

#### The Issuer is a special purpose vehicle

The Issuer's sole business is the raising of money by issuing Notes for the purposes of purchasing assets and entering into related derivatives and other contracts. The Issuer has covenanted not to, as long as any of the Notes remain outstanding, without the consent of the Trustee and provided that it will not result in the rating assigned to the Notes (if any) being adversely affected, as affirmed in writing by the relevant rating agency, have any subsidiaries or employees, purchase, own, lease or otherwise acquire any real property (including office premises or like facilities), consolidate or merge with any other person, declare any dividends or issue any shares (other than such shares as were in issue on the date of its incorporation). As such, the Issuer has, and will have, no assets other than its issued and paid-up share capital, such fees (as agreed) payable to it in connection with the issue of Notes or entry into other obligations from time to time and any Mortgaged Property and any other assets on which Notes or other obligations are secured. There is no day-to-day management of the business of the Issuer.

## Regulation of the Issuer by any regulatory authority

The Issuer is not required to be licensed, registered or authorised under any current securities, commodities, insurance or banking laws or regulations of its jurisdiction of incorporation. There is no assurance, however, that in the future such regulatory authorities would not take a contrary view regarding the applicability of any such laws or regulations to the Issuer. There is also no assurance that the regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions would not require the Issuer to be licensed or authorised under any securities, commodities, insurance or banking laws or regulations of those jurisdictions. Any requirement to be licensed or authorised could have an adverse effect on the Issuer and on the holders of the Notes.

#### Preferred creditors under Irish law

Under Irish law, upon an insolvency of an Irish company such as the Issuer, when applying the proceeds of assets subject to fixed security that may have been realised in the course of a liquidation or receivership, the claims of a limited category of preferential creditors will take priority over the claims of creditors holding the relevant fixed security. These preferred claims include the remuneration, costs and expenses properly incurred by any examiner of the company (that may include any borrowings made by an examiner to fund the company's requirements for the duration of his appointment) that have been approved by the Irish courts (see "Examinership" below).

The holder of a fixed security over the book debts of an Irish tax resident company (that would include the Issuer) may be required by the Irish Revenue Commissioners, by notice in writing from the Irish Revenue Commissioners, to pay to them sums equivalent to those that the holder received in payment of debts due to it by the company.

Where the holder of the security has given notice to the Irish Revenue Commissioners of the creation of the security within 21 calendar days of its creation, the holder's liability is limited to the amount of certain outstanding Irish tax liabilities of the company (including liabilities in respect of value added tax) arising after the issuance of the Irish Revenue Commissioners' notice to the holder of fixed security.

The Irish Revenue Commissioners may also attach any debt due to an Irish tax resident company by another person in order to discharge any liabilities of the company in respect of outstanding tax, whether the liabilities are due on its

own account or as an agent or trustee. The scope of this right of the Irish Revenue Commissioners has not yet been considered by the Irish courts and it may override the rights of holders of security (whether fixed or floating) over the debt in question.

In relation to the disposal of assets of any Irish tax resident company that are subject to security, a person entitled to the benefit of the security may be liable for tax in relation to any capital gains made by the company on a disposal of those assets on exercise of the security.

The essence of a fixed charge is that the person creating the charge does not have liberty to deal with the assets that are the subject matter of the security in the sense of disposing of such assets or expending or appropriating the moneys or claims constituting such assets and accordingly, if and to the extent that such liberty is given to the Issuer, any charge constituted by the Trust Deed or other Security Documents relating to a Series may operate as a floating, rather than a fixed charge.

In particular, the Irish courts have held that in order to create a fixed charge on receivables, it is necessary to oblige the chargor to pay the proceeds of collection of the receivables into a designated bank account and to prohibit the chargor from withdrawing or otherwise dealing with the moneys standing to the credit of such account without the consent of the chargee.

Depending upon the level of control actually exercised by the chargor, there is therefore a possibility that the fixed security purported to be created by the Trust Deed or other Security Documents relating to a Series would be regarded by the Irish courts as a floating charge.

Floating charges have certain weaknesses, including the following:

- (a) they have weak priority against purchasers (who are not on notice of any negative pledge contained in the floating charge) and the chargees of the assets concerned and against lien holders, execution creditors and creditors with rights of set-off;
- (b) as discussed above, they rank after certain preferential creditors, such as claims of employees and certain taxes on winding-up;
- (c) they rank after certain insolvency remuneration expenses and liabilities;
- (d) the examiner of a company has certain rights to deal with the property covered by the floating charge; and
- (e) they rank after fixed charges.

## **Examinership**

Examinership is a court procedure available under the Irish Companies Act 2014, as amended to facilitate the survival of Irish companies in financial difficulties.

The Issuer, the directors of the Issuer, a contingent, prospective or actual creditor of the Issuer, or shareholders of the Issuer holding, at the date of presentation of the petition, not less than one-tenth of the voting share capital of the Issuer are each entitled to petition the court for the appointment of an examiner. The examiner, once appointed, has the power to set aside contracts and arrangements entered into by the company after his appointment and, in certain circumstances, can avoid a negative pledge given by the company prior to his appointment. Furthermore, he may sell assets which are the subject of a fixed charge. However, if such power is exercised, he must account to the holders of the fixed charge for the amount realised and discharge the amount due to them out of the proceeds of sale.

During the period of protection, the examiner will formulate proposals for a compromise or scheme of arrangement to assist the survival of the company or the whole or any part of its undertaking as a going concern. A scheme of arrangement may be approved by the Irish High Court or Circuit Court (where relevant) when at least one class of creditors has voted in favour of the proposals and the relevant Court is satisfied that such proposals are fair and equitable in relation to any class of members or creditors who have not accepted the proposals and whose interests would be impaired by implementation of the scheme of arrangement.

In considering proposals by the examiner, it is likely that secured and unsecured creditors would form separate classes of creditors. In the case of the Issuer, if the Trustee represented the majority in number and value of claims within the

secured creditor class (which would be likely given the restrictions agreed to by the Issuer in the Conditions), the Trustee would be in a position to reject any proposal not in favour of the Noteholders. The Trustee would also be entitled to argue at the relevant Court hearing at which the proposed scheme of arrangement is considered that the proposals are unfair and inequitable in relation to the Noteholders, especially if such proposals included a writing down of the value of amounts due by the Issuer to the Noteholders. The primary risks to the holders of Notes if an examiner were to be appointed to the Issuer are as follows:

- (a) the potential for a scheme of arrangement to be approved involving the writing down of the debt owed by the Issuer to the Noteholders as secured by the relevant Trust Deed and other Security Documents relating to the relevant Series;
- (b) the potential for the examiner to seek to set aside any negative pledge in the Notes prohibiting the creation of security or the incurring of borrowings by the Issuer to enable the examiner to borrow to fund the Issuer during the protection period; and
- (c) in the event that a scheme of arrangement is not approved and the Issuer subsequently goes into liquidation, the examiner's remuneration and expenses (including certain borrowings incurred by the examiner on behalf of the Issuer and approved by the relevant Court) will take priority over the moneys and liabilities which from time to time are or may become due, owing or payable by the Issuer to each of the Secured Creditors under the Notes or under any other Secured Payment Obligations.

## **Anti-money laundering**

The Issuer may be subject to anti-money laundering legislation in its jurisdiction of incorporation. If the Issuer were determined by the relevant authorities to be in violation of any such legislation, it could become subject to substantial criminal penalties. Any such violation could materially and adversely affect the timing and amount of payments made by the Issuer to Noteholders in respect of the Issuer's Notes.

#### **Risk Factors relating to the Notes**

## Limited recourse obligations

In respect of a Series of Notes, the Transaction Parties, and the Noteholders and the Couponholders in relation to such Series will have recourse only to the Mortgaged Property for such Series, subject always to the Security in respect of such Series, and not to any other assets of the Issuer. If after (i) the Mortgaged Property relating to a Series is exhausted (whether following a Liquidation or enforcement of the Security) and (ii) the available cash sums are applied as provided in Condition 15(a) or 15(b) (as applicable), any outstanding claim against the Issuer in respect of the Secured Payment Obligations relating to such Series remains unpaid, then such outstanding claim will be extinguished and no debt will be owed by the Issuer in respect thereof. Following extinguishment in accordance with the Conditions and the Transaction Documents, none of the Transaction Parties, the Noteholders, the Couponholders or any other person acting on behalf of any of them will be entitled to take any further steps against the Issuer or any of its officers, shareholders, corporate service providers or directors to recover any further sum in respect of the extinguished claim and no debt will be owed to any such persons by the Issuer in respect of such further sum.

Prospective investors should note that payment of the Final Redemption Amount, final Instalment Amount or Early Redemption Amount due on the Maturity Date or Early Redemption Date, as applicable, and the application of any Available Proceeds by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 15(a) will not be made on such date if, as at such Early Redemption Date or Maturity Date, as applicable, the amounts described in paragraphs (A) to (E) of Condition 15(a) have not been determined pursuant to the terms of the Conditions and/or the relevant Transaction Document, as applicable. Notwithstanding that any such amounts may have become due, the Issuer will only apply the Available Proceeds pursuant to Condition 15(a) once all of the amounts described in paragraphs (A) to (E) of Condition 15(a) have been quantified pursuant to the terms of the Conditions and/or the relevant Transaction Document, as applicable.

Further, none of the Trustee, the Noteholders nor any other secured party will be entitled at any time to proceed against the Issuer unless the Trustee having become bound to proceed fails or neglects to do so.

No Relevant Issuer has any obligations in respect of Notes issued by any other Relevant Issuer.

No person other than the Issuer will be obliged to make payments on the Notes.

#### **Trustee indemnity**

In certain circumstances, the Noteholders may be dependent on the Trustee to take certain actions in respect of a Series of Notes, in particular if the Security in respect of such Series becomes enforceable under the Conditions. Prior to taking such action, the Trustee may (and will, prior to enforcing the Security in respect of a Series) require to be indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. If the Trustee is not satisfied with its indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding it may decide not to take such action, without being in breach of its obligations under the relevant Trust Deed. Consequently, the Noteholders may have to either arrange for such indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding or accept the consequences of such inaction by the Trustee. Noteholders should be prepared to bear the costs associated with any such indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding and/or the consequences of any such inaction by the Trustee. Such inaction by the Trustee will not entitle Noteholders to proceed themselves directly against the Issuer.

#### Priority of claims

During the term of the Notes and on a liquidation of the relevant Collateral or an enforcement of the Security granted by the Issuer in favour of the Trustee, the rights of the Noteholders to be paid amounts due under the Notes will be subordinated to (i) the fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities due and payable to the Trustee including costs incurred in the enforcement of the security and the Trustee's remuneration, (ii) amounts owing to the Custodian under the Custody Agreement and amounts owing to the Issuing and Paying Agent under the Agency Agreement, (iii) amounts owing to the Swap Counterparty under the Swap Agreement and (iv) the other claims as specified in the Conditions and the relevant Trust Deed relating to the relevant Series that rank in priority to the claims of Noteholders and Couponholders.

## No gross-up

In the event that any withholding tax or deduction for tax is imposed on payments on the Notes, the Noteholders will not be entitled to receive grossed-up amounts to compensate for such withholding tax nor be reimbursed for the amount of any shortfall and no Event of Default shall occur as a result of any such withholding or deduction.

#### Modification, waivers and substitution

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of holders and investors in the Notes to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all holders and investors in the Notes of the relevant Series including holders and investors in the Notes who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and holders and investors in the Notes who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of holders and investors in the Notes, agree to (i) any modification of any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of any Transaction Document that is, in its opinion, of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error, (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in the relevant Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of any of the Conditions or any provisions of the Transaction Documents that is, in the opinion of the Trustee, not materially prejudicial to the interest of the Noteholders or (iii) the substitution of another company as principal debtor under the Trust Deed and the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons, as applicable, in place of the Issuer subject to the written consent of the Swap Counterparty.

#### **Early Redemption of the Notes**

The Notes of a Series may become due and payable prior to their Maturity Date as further described in Conditions 7 and 12 in connection with the occurrence of any of the following events:

- (i) a Collateral Default;
- (ii) a Note Tax Event or Collateral Tax Event;
- (iii) a Partial Collateral Call or a Collateral Call;
- (iv) a termination in whole of the relevant Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement;
- (v) a Swap Counterparty Event;

- (vi) a Bankruptcy Credit Event of the Swap Counterparty;
- (vii) a Custodian Enforcement Event; or
- (viii) an Event of Default under the Notes.

Following the occurrence of any of the above events and the delivery of any requisite notices in respect of a Series of Notes, such Series of Notes will become due and payable on the relevant Early Redemption Date at the Early Redemption Amount.

Prospective investors should note that there can be no assurance that the Early Redemption Amount per Note will be greater than or equal to the amount invested by any Noteholder.

The Issuer will fund payments of any Early Redemption Amount per Note under a Series of Notes from payment(s) due to it under, or on a Liquidation of, the Collateral (if applicable) and/or the relevant Swap Agreement (if applicable). If, following the realisation in full of the Mortgaged Property relating to the relevant Series of Notes (whether by way of Liquidation or enforcement of the Security) and application of available cash sums as provided in the Conditions, there are any outstanding claims against the Issuer in respect of such Series of Notes which remain unpaid, then such outstanding claim will be extinguished and no debt will be owed by the Issuer in respect thereof. In such circumstances, the investors in the Notes may not receive back their investment and may receive zero.

#### Market value of Notes

The market value of the Notes will be affected by a number of factors, including, but not limited to (i) the value and volatility of the Collateral (if any) and the creditworthiness of the issuers and obligors of any Collateral, (ii) the value and volatility of any property or other factor to which payments on the Notes may be linked, directly or indirectly, and the creditworthiness of the issuers or obligors in respect of any securities or other obligations to which payments on the Notes may be linked, directly or indirectly, (iii) market perception, interest rates, yields and foreign exchange rates, (iv) the time remaining to the Maturity Date, (v) the nature and liquidity of the Swap Agreement (if any) or any other derivative transaction entered into by the Issuer or embedded in the Notes or the Collateral and (vi) the value and volatility of the Swap Agreement and the creditworthiness of the Swap Counterparty, if any. Any price at which Notes may be sold prior to the Maturity Date may be at a discount, which could be substantial, to the value at which the Notes were acquired on the Issue Date.

Prospective purchasers should be aware that not all market participants would determine prices in respect of the Notes in the same manner, and the variation between such prices may be substantial. Accordingly, any prices provided by a Dealer may not be representative of prices that may be provided by other market participants. For this reason, any price provided or quoted by a Dealer should not be viewed or relied upon by prospective purchasers as establishing, or constituting advice by that Dealer concerning, a mark-to-market value of the Notes. The price (if any) provided by a Dealer is at the absolute discretion of that Dealer and may be determined by reference to such factors as it sees fit. Any such price may take into account fees, commissions or arrangements entered into by that Dealer with a third party in respect of the Notes and that Dealer shall have no obligation to any Noteholder to disclose such arrangements. Any price given would be prepared as of a particular date and time and would not therefore reflect subsequent changes in market values or any other factors relevant to the determination of the price.

## **Denominations**

In relation to any issue of Notes which have a denomination consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination such as  $\in 100,000$  plus a higher integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of  $\in 100,000$  (or its equivalent) that are not integral multiples of  $\in 100,000$  (or its equivalent). In such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.

#### Risk Factors relating to the Collateral

#### No investigations

No investigations, searches or other enquiries have or will be made by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Trustee in respect of the Collateral (if any) relating to any Series of Notes. No representations or warranties, express or implied, have been given by the Issuer, the Dealer, the Trustee or any other person on their behalf in respect of the Collateral (if any) relating to any Series of Notes.

#### Collateral

Noteholders may be exposed to the market price of the Collateral (if any) relating to the relevant Series. The Issuer may have to fund its payments by the sale of some or all of the Collateral at a market value. The market price of the Collateral will generally fluctuate with, among other things, the liquidity and volatility of the financial markets, general economic conditions, domestic and international political events, developments or trends in a particular industry and the financial condition of the relevant Collateral Obligor. The Arranger, the Dealer and any Transaction Party may have acquired, or during the terms of the Notes may acquire, confidential information or enter into transactions with respect to any Collateral and they shall not be under any duty to disclose such confidential information to any Noteholder or the Issuer.

#### Illiquid Collateral

The Collateral may comprise or include privately placed, unlisted securities or domestic securities or other assets which are not admitted to any trading market and which are not readily realisable.

#### **Country and Regional Risk**

The price and value of the Collateral may be influenced by the political, financial and economic stability of the country and/or region in which the issuer of or obligor in respect of the Collateral is incorporated or has its principal place of business or of the country in the currency of which the Collateral is denominated. In certain cases the price and value of assets originating from countries not ordinarily considered to be emerging markets countries may behave in a manner similar to those of assets originating from emerging markets countries.

#### **Emerging Markets**

The assets comprising the Collateral or, as the case may be, to which the return on any Series of Notes may be linked may originate from an emerging markets country. Investing in securities issued by entities in emerging market countries or in securities, the return on which is linked to such securities involves certain systemic and other risks and special considerations which include:

- (1) the prices of emerging market assets may be subject to sharp and sudden fluctuations and declines;
- (2) emerging market securities and other assets tend to be relatively illiquid. Trading volume may be lower than in debt of higher grade credits. This may result in wide bid/offer spreads prevailing in adverse market conditions. In addition, the sale or purchase price quoted for a portion of the Collateral may be better than can actually be obtained on the sale of the entire holding of the Collateral;
- published information in or in respect of emerging market countries and the issuers of or obligors in respect of emerging market securities or other assets has been proven on occasions to be materially inaccurate;
- in certain cases the holders of Notes may be exposed to the risk of default by a sub-custodian in an emerging markets country; and
- (5) realisation of Collateral comprising emerging market securities or other assets may be subject to restrictions or delays arising under local law.

## **Collateral Proceeds Paid to Counterparty**

The terms of the Notes may provide that the proceeds of redemption of any Collateral redeemed (other than due to a default) prior to the Maturity Date will be paid to the Swap Counterparty and the Swap Counterparty will not deliver any eligible investments by way of replacement of such Collateral. In the event that the proceeds of redemption of the Collateral are applied in this manner then the Noteholders will have no further rights to such proceeds of redemption and their principal credit exposure at any time thereafter will be to the Swap Counterparty pursuant to the Swap Agreement.

## **Credit Risk of Counterparties**

In certain cases where there is no Collateral the security for the Notes may be limited to the claims of the Issuer against the Swap Counterparty under a Swap Agreement or other agreement. In such circumstances, Noteholders will be further exposed to the risk of the Swap Counterparty.

#### Risk Factors relating to the Swap Counterparty and the Swap Agreement

If the Issuer enters into a Swap Agreement in relation to a Series of Notes, the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Notes will depend in whole or in part on the receipt by it of payments under the Swap Transaction(s) under such Swap Agreement relating to such Series. The Issuer will be exposed not only to the occurrence of a Collateral Default in relation to any applicable Collateral (excluding any Posted Securities) and/or the volatility in the market value of any applicable Collateral, if applicable, but also to the ability of the Swap Counterparty to perform its obligations under the related Swap Transaction(s). Default by the Swap Counterparty may result in the termination of the Swap Agreement and, in such circumstances, any amount due to the Issuer upon such termination may not be paid in full.

Pursuant to the terms of the Swap Agreement entered into by the Issuer in connection with a Series of Notes, the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty may terminate all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement in whole in certain specified circumstances. The Issuer will be entitled to terminate all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement in whole upon the occurrence of an event of default (as such events are more particularly described in the Swap Agreement) in relation to the Swap Counterparty, provided that it has received prior written consent from the Trustee. The Swap Counterparty will be entitled to terminate or will deemed to have designated to terminate all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement in whole upon the occurrence of an event of default (as such events are more particularly described in the Swap Agreement) in relation to the Issuer, certain illegality and force majeure events, certain tax events, a Collateral Default, a Collateral Call, the occurrence of an Early Redemption Trigger Date or an Event of Default under the Notes, the Issuer failing to give an Early Redemption notice to Noteholders when required to do so under the Conditions of the relevant Series of Notes or the delivery by the Trustee of an Enforcement Notice relating to a Custodian Enforcement Event to the Issuer. Any termination in whole of the Swap Transactions under a Swap Agreement relating to a Series of Notes will result in an early redemption in whole of such Series. Upon any such redemption, the amount paid to Noteholders to redeem such Notes may be significantly less than the Noteholder's original investment in such Notes and may be zero.

None of the Issuer, the Arranger, any Transaction Party nor any affiliate of any such persons makes any representation as to the credit quality of any Swap Counterparty or any Posted Securities, if applicable. Any of such persons may have acquired, or during the term of the Notes may acquire, non-public information in relation to the Swap Counterparty and/or the Posted Securities. None of such persons is under any obligation to make such information directly available to Noteholders. None of the Issuer, the Arranger, any Transaction Party nor any affiliate of any such persons is under any obligation to make available any information relating to, or keep under review on the Noteholders' behalf, the business, financial conditions, prospects, creditworthiness or state of affairs of any Swap Counterparty or any issuer/obligor in relation to any Posted Securities or conduct any investigation or due diligence thereon

Pursuant to the terms of the Swap Agreement relating to a Series of Notes, the Swap Counterparty may make determinations which:

- (i) have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes; and/or
- (ii) lead to the termination of the Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement and the Notes becoming due and payable prior to their Maturity Date.

In making determinations under the Swap Agreement, the Swap Counterparty owes no duty to the Noteholders of the relevant Series of Notes, will act for its own account, may exercise any discretion in its own interests and will not and is not required to take into account the interests of the Issuer or any Noteholder of the relevant Series of Notes. Without prejudice to the foregoing, in making determinations under the Swap Agreement, the Swap Counterparty will when acting in its capacity as calculation agent thereunder make determinations in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

## Risk Factors relating to the Custodian

The Issuer will hold cash and securities comprising the Mortgaged Property in respect of a Series of Notes with the Custodian on the terms of the Custody Agreement. The Custodian may hold cash and securities delivered or received by it on trust for the Issuer in custody accounts with one or more Sub-custodians (as defined in the Custody Agreement) or depositories in accordance with terms agreed with such Sub-custodians or depositories.

The ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations with respect to the Notes will be dependent upon receipt by the Issuer of payments from the Custodian under the Custody Agreement. The Disposal Agent's ability to effect a Liquidation and the Trustee's ability to enforce the Security will be dependent upon receipt by the Issuer, the Disposal Agent or the Trustee, as applicable, of deliveries from the Custodian and performance by the Custodian of its obligations under the Custody Agreement. Consequently, the Noteholders are also relying on the performance of the Custodian (and/or any relevant Sub-custodian or depository). In the event of a bankruptcy or insolvency of the Custodian (or any Sub-custodian or depository), there can be no assurance that the Issuer will be able to obtain delivery of and/or realise the property held with the Custodian or Sub-custodian or Depository on a timely basis or at all. In particular:

- (i) except for claims to assets held on trust (or otherwise outside the insolvent estate of the Custodian, Sub-custodian or depository) claims against the Custodian, Sub-custodian and/or depository may be general unsecured claims in respect of which the Issuer is exposed to the creditworthiness of the Custodian, Sub-custodian and/or depository as the case may be;
- (ii) the same position may apply for assets which ought to have been held on trust (or otherwise outside the insolvent estate of the Custodian, Sub-custodian or depository) but either were not or have ceased to be identifiable or recoverable as trust assets or in respect of which a shortfall exists. In that regard:
  - (a) although in the accounts of the Custodian maintained for the Issuer the Custodian is required to segregate in its books and records any Collateral with respect to one Series of Notes from any Collateral for any other Series of Notes and from any assets held in other client accounts or for its own accounts, Noteholders will be at risk if the Custodian does not, in practice, maintain such a segregation;
  - the Custodian may hold Collateral relating to a Series of Notes through a clearing system and/or through a Sub-custodian or other account keeper. In such cases, the Custodian's account with the clearing system, Sub-custodian or other account keeper may be held on a pooled basis (that is such Collateral may be held in an account with securities of the same type as such Collateral held by or on behalf of the Custodian for the account of other customers of the Custodian). Were a bankruptcy event to occur in relation to the Custodian and the securities held in any such pooled account are for any reason insufficient to meet in full the claims of all the customers for whom the Custodian holds securities of the same type as the Collateral, such customers (including the Issuer and therefore the Noteholders of the relevant Series) would bear any shortfall amongst themselves; and
- (iii) even where assets are held on trust (or otherwise outside the insolvent estate of the Custodian, Sub-custodian or depository) the bankruptcy or insolvency of any of the Custodian, any relevant Sub-custodian or depository may delay the Custodian's delivery to the Issuer of the relevant assets.

None of the Custodian or any Sub-custodian or depositary will have any duty or obligation to insure any Collateral held or received by it against any risk and the Custodian shall not be responsible for any loss or damage suffered by any party as a result of the Custodian performing its duties under the Custody Agreement unless the same results from its own negligence, bad faith, fraud or wilful default or that of its officers, employees or agents. The Custodian accepts the same responsibility for the acts of affiliate Sub-custodians as it does for its own acts.

The Custodian's obligations under the Custody Agreement are subject to certain exclusions and limitations as set out in the Custody Agreement.

Prospective investors should note that if the Issuer fails to make payment of any fees, costs, charges, expenses or liabilities due to the Custodian under the Custody Agreement and such failure has not been remedied on or before the 30th Reference Business Day after notice of such failure has been given to the Issuer and the aggregate unpaid amounts are greater than USD 500,000 or, where any such amount is not denominated in U.S. dollars, its equivalent in U.S. dollars (as determined by the Custodian in a commercially reasonable manner) the Custodian may give notice of such failure to the Issuer resulting in the Notes become due and payable. In such circumstances the Custodian will be entitled to direct the Trustee to enforce the Security subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed.

#### **Taxation Position of the Issuer**

The Issuer has been advised that it should fall within the Irish regime for the taxation of qualifying companies as set out in Section 110 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 (as amended) ("Section 110"), and as such should be taxed only on the amount of its retained profit after deducting all amounts of interest and other revenue expenses due to be paid by the Issuer. If, for any reason, the Issuer is not or ceases to be entitled to the benefits of Section 110, then profits or losses could arise in the Issuer which could have tax effects not contemplated in the cashflows connected with the Notes and as such could adversely affect the tax treatment of the Issuer and consequently the payments on the Notes

#### EU Directive on the taxation of savings income and other EU information exchange arrangements

Under European Directive 2003/48/EC on taxation of savings income (the "Savings Directive"), Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of payments of interest and other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to, or for the benefit of, an individual resident in another Member State, or in certain other jurisdictions or certain associated and dependent territories of a Member State, except that for a transitional period Austria instead operates a withholding system unless during that period it elects otherwise (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries and territories). The rate of withholding tax in Austria is 35%. Certain other jurisdictions, including Switzerland, have enacted equivalent legislation which imposes a withholding tax in substantially the same circumstances as envisaged by the Savings Directive.

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted an EU Council Directive amending and broadening the scope of the requirements described above (the "Amending Directive"). In particular, the changes expand the range of payments covered by the Savings Directive to include certain additional types of income, and widen the range of recipients payments to whom are covered by the Savings Directive, to include certain other types of entity and legal arrangement. Member States are required to implement national legislation giving effect to these changes by 01 January 2016 (which national legislation must apply from 01 January 2017).

On 09 December 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted a further Directive (EC Council Directive 2014/107/EU amending EU Council Directive 2011/16/EU) on the mandatory automatic exchange of information, to implement the OECD measures known as the "Common Reporting Standard". Member States are required to implement this Directive in respect of taxable periods from 1 January 2016 and to begin exchanging information pursuant to such Directive no later than 30 September 2017 (subject to deferral under transitional rules in the case of Austria). The Common Reporting Standard is generally broader than the Savings Directive, although it does not impose withholding taxes.

On 10 November 2015, the Council of the European Union adopted EU Council Directive 2015/2060/EU repealing the Savings Directive with effect from 1 January 2016 (or 1 January 2017 in the case of Austria), subject to ongoing requirements to fulfil administrative obligations such as the reporting and exchange of information relating to, and accounting for withholding taxes on, payments made before those dates. The repeal of the Savings Directive is intended to prevent overlap between the Savings Directive and the Common Reporting Standard.

Holders of the Notes should note that should any payment in respect of the Notes be subject to withholding imposed as a consequence of the Savings Directive or under equivalent legislation, no additional amounts would be payable by the Issuer pursuant to the provisions of Condition 11 of the Terms and Conditions.

#### The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and US Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder (together "FATCA") impose a new reporting regime and potentially a 30% withholding tax with respect to certain payments to (i) any non-U.S. financial institution (a "foreign financial institution", or "FFI"

(as defined by FATCA)) that does not become a "Participating FFI" by entering into an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") to provide the IRS with certain information in respect of its account holders or is not otherwise exempt from or in deemed compliance with FATCA and (ii) any account holder (unless otherwise exempt from FATCA) that does not provide information sufficient to determine whether such account holder is a U.S. person or should otherwise be treated as holding a "United States account" (as defined under FATCA) of the Issuer (a "Recalcitrant Holder").

FATCA implementation is being phased in for payments from sources within the United States and is currently proposed to apply to "foreign passthru payments" (a term not yet defined) made by an FFI to a non-participating FFI or Recalcitrant Holder no earlier than 01 January 2019. This withholding on foreign passthru payments would potentially apply to payments in respect of (i) any Notes issued or materially modified on or after the "grandfathering date", which is the date that is six months after the date on which final U.S. Treasury regulations defining the term 'foreign passthru payment' are filed with the Federal Register; and (ii) any Notes characterised as equity or which do not have a fixed term for U.S. federal tax purposes, whenever issued. If Notes are issued before the grandfathering date, and additional Notes of the same series are issued on or after that date, the additional Notes may not be treated as grandfathered, which may have negative consequences for the existing Notes, including a negative impact on market price.

The United States and a number of other jurisdictions have entered into or announced their intention to enter into intergovernmental agreements to facilitate the implementation of FATCA (each, an "IGA"). In some cases such IGAs have been signed; in other cases, negotiations are still ongoing. Pursuant to FATCA and the "Model 1" and "Model 2" IGAs released by the United States, most FFIs in an IGA signatory country should be treated as a "Reporting Financial Institution" or "Reporting FI" (as defined in the IGA) that would generally not be subject to withholding under FATCA on any payments it receives. Further, an FFI in a Model 1 IGA jurisdiction generally would not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an IGA or agreement with the IRS relating to FATCA) (any such withholding being a "FATCA Withholding") from payments it makes (unless, in certain circumstances, it has agreed to do so under the U.S. "qualified intermediary," "withholding foreign partnership," or "withholding foreign trust" regimes or, in certain limited circumstances, where the payments are made to a Recalcitrant Holder). The Model 2 IGA requires Reporting FIs to apply FATCA Withholding to U.S. source payments in certain circumstances and leaves open the possibility that a Reporting FI might in the future be required to make FATCA Withholdings on foreign passthru payments. Under each Model IGA, a Reporting FI would still be required to report certain information in respect of its account holders to its home government or to the IRS unless it is treated as exempt from having "financial accounts" for FATCA purposes. On 21 December 2012, the governments of Ireland and the United States signed an agreement based largely on the Model 1 GIA (the "US-Ireland IGA"). The Financial Accounts Reporting (United States of America) Regulations 2014 (the "Irish FATCA Regulations"), which give effect to FATCA in Ireland, were enacted on 20 June 2014 and are effective from 1 July 2014. As the Issuer is an FFI it is subject to the Irish FATCA Regulations and, as a consequence, registered with the Internal Revenue Service with Global Intermediary Identification Number of L5D9UU.99999.SL.372 and will report to the Irish Revenue Commissioners on an annual basis (starting in 2015) certain details regarding Noteholders that are "Specified US Persons", subject to any applicable exemptions.

The Issuer is a "Reporting FI" pursuant to the US-Ireland IGA and does not expect to be subject to FATCA Withholding on payments. There can be no assurance, however, that the Issuer would not in the future be required to deduct FATCA Withholding from future payments. Accordingly, the Issuer and financial institutions through which payments on the Notes are made may be required to withhold FATCA Withholding if (i) any FFI through or to which payment on such Notes is made is not a Participating FFI, a Reporting FI, or otherwise exempt from or in deemed compliance with FATCA or (ii) an investor is a Recalcitrant Holder.

In the case of Notes which are in global form and held within a clearing system, it is expected that FATCA will not affect the amount of any payments made under, or in respect of, the Notes by the Issuer or any paying agent and the common depositary for such clearing system, given that each of the entities in the payment chain between the Issuer and the participants in the clearing system is a major financial institution whose business is dependent on compliance with FATCA and that any alternative approach introduced under an IGA will be unlikely to affect the Notes. Notes may be issued in definitive form and therefore not held, or may be exchanged for Notes in definitive form and therefore may cease to be held, through a clearing system. If this were to happen then, depending on the circumstances, payments to a non-FATCA compliant holder could be subject to FATCA Withholding.

However, FATCA may affect payments made to custodians or intermediaries in the subsequent payment chain leading to the ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary generally is unable to receive payments free of FATCA Withholding. It may also affect payment to any ultimate investor that is a financial institution that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding under FATCA, or an ultimate investor that fails to provide its broker (or other

custodian or intermediary from which it receives payment) with any information, forms, other documentation or consents that may be necessary for the payments to be made free of FATCA Withholding. Investors should choose the custodians or intermediaries with care (to ensure that each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or agreements related to FATCA, including any legislation implementing IGAs relating to FATCA, if applicable), and provide each custodian or intermediary with any information, forms and/or other documentation or consents that may be necessary for such custodian or intermediary to make a payment free of FATCA Withholding. Investors should consult their own tax adviser to obtain a more detailed explanation of FATCA and how FATCA may affect them. The Issuer's obligations under the Notes are discharged once it has paid the common depositary for the clearing system (as legal owner of the Notes) and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any amount thereafter transmitted through the clearing systems and custodians or intermediaries.

If a FATCA Withholding were to be made from interest, principal or other payments made in respect of the Notes, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person would, pursuant to the conditions of the Notes, be required to pay any additional amounts as a result of the FATCA Withholding. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected.

THE FATCA PROVISIONS ARE PARTICULARLY COMPLEX AND THEIR APPLICATION TO THE ISSUER AND THE NOTES IS UNCERTAIN AT THIS TIME. THE ABOVE DESCRIPTION IS BASED IN PART ON REGULATIONS, OFFICIAL GUIDANCE AND MODEL IGAS, AND THE IGA BETWEEN IRELAND AND THE UNITED STATES, ALL OF WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE OR MAY BE IMPLEMENTED IN A MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FORM. NOTHING IN THIS SECTION CONSTITUTES OR PURPORTS TO CONSTITUTE TAX ADVICE AND NOTEHOLDERS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON ANY PROVISION SET OUT IN THIS SECTION FOR THE PURPOSES OF MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION, TAX DECISION OR OTHERWISE. EACH INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED EXPLANATION OF THE FATCA PROVISIONS AND TO LEARN HOW THIS LEGISLATION MIGHT AFFECT IT IN ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

#### **General tax considerations**

Potential investors should be aware that payments in respect of the Notes, Coupons or Receipts may be subject to withholding or deduction for or on account of tax, including (without limitation) as a consequence of an investor's connection with the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer or pursuant to the European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or FATCA. In the event of such withholding or deduction, payments will be made net of such withholding or deduction and investors will not be entitled to any additional amounts in respect of such withholding or deduction and, in certain circumstances, the Notes may be redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount (together with any accrued but unpaid interest). The Notes may also be so redeemed if the Issuer is subject to tax (including, without limitation, under FATCA) such that it is unable to make the full amount of any payments in respect of the Notes, Coupons or Receipts.

Potential investors should also be aware that transfers of any Notes or interests or rights in the Notes may be subject to stamp, documentary or other transfer taxes, duties or charges, including (without limitation) in the jurisdiction where the Notes or rights in the Notes are transferred. Transfers (or the registration thereof) of any Notes or interests or rights in the Notes may not be effected by or on behalf of the Issuer, Registrar or any Transfer Agent unless such tax, duty or charge is paid or indemnified by the relevant investor.

Potential investors should also be aware that, in certain circumstances, information and/or documentation relating to investors, including (without limitation) payments made to investors, may be required to be disclosed to a tax authority by or on behalf of the Issuer.

Potential investors should also be aware that any statements as to taxation in this Base Prospectus do not constitute legal or tax advice. Such statements do not cover all aspects of taxation that may be relevant and are based on current tax law and published practice as at the date of this Base Prospectus and as such are subject to change. Investors are advised to consult their own independent advisers on the tax implications of acquiring, holding or disposing of the Notes, Coupons or Receipts.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

#### General

Each of the Transaction Parties and any of their affiliates is acting or may act in a number of capacities in connection with any issue of Notes. The Transaction Parties and each of their respective affiliates when acting in such capacities in connection with the transactions described herein in respect of any Series of Notes shall have only the duties and responsibilities expressly agreed to by such entity in the relevant capacity and shall not, by virtue of its or any other affiliates acting in any other capacity, be deemed to have other duties or responsibilities or be deemed to hold a standard of care other than as expressly provided with respect to each such capacity. The Transaction Parties and any of their respective affiliates in their various capacities in connection with the contemplated transactions may enter into business dealings, including the acquisition of the Notes, from which they may derive revenues and profits in addition to any fees stated in the various documents, without any duty to account therefor.

The Transaction Parties and any of their respective affiliates may from time to time be in possession of certain information (confidential or otherwise) and/or opinions with regard to the issuer or obligor of any Collateral which information and/or opinions might, if known by a Noteholder, affect decisions made by it with respect to its investment in the Notes. Notwithstanding this, none of the Transaction Parties or any of their respective affiliates shall have any duty or obligation to notify the Noteholders or the Issuer or any other Transaction Party in respect of any Series (including any directors, officers or employees thereof) of such information and/or opinions.

The Transaction Parties and any of their respective affiliates may deal in any obligation of the issuer or obligor of any Collateral and may accept deposits from, make loans or otherwise extend credit to, and generally engage in any kind of commercial or investment banking or other business transactions with, the issuer or obligor of any Collateral and may act with respect to such transactions in the same manner as if the relevant Swap Agreement, if applicable, and the Notes of the relevant Series did not exist and without regard to whether any such action might have an adverse effect on the issuer or obligor of any Collateral, the Issuer or the holders of the Notes of the relevant Series.

The Transaction Parties and any of their respective affiliates may at any time be active and significant participants in or act as market maker in relation to a wide range of markets for currencies, instruments relating to currencies, securities and derivatives. Activities undertaken by the Transaction Parties and any of their respective affiliates may be on such a scale as to affect, temporarily or on a long-term basis, the price of such currencies, instruments relating to currencies, securities and derivatives or securities and derivatives based on, or relating to the Notes or any Collateral. Notwithstanding this, none of the Transaction Parties or any of their respective affiliates shall have any duty or obligation to take into account the interests of any party in relation to any Notes when effecting transactions in such markets.

One or more of the Transaction Parties and their respective affiliates may:

- (i) have placed or underwritten, or acted as a financial arranger, structuring agent or adviser in connection with the original issuance of, or may act as a broker or dealer with respect to the Collateral;
- (ii) act as trustee, paying agent and in other capacities in connection with certain of the Collateral or other classes of securities issued by an issuer of, or obligor with respect to, the Collateral or an affiliate thereof;
- (iii) be a counterparty to issuers of, or obligors with respect to, certain of the Collateral under a swap or other derivative agreements;
- (iv) lend to certain of the issuers of, or obligors with respect to, the Collateral or their respective affiliates or receive guarantees from such issuers, obligors or their respective affiliates;
- (v) provide other investment banking, asset management, commercial banking, financing or financial advisory services to the issuers of, or obligors with respect to, the Collateral or their respective affiliates; or
- (vi) have an equity interest, which may be a substantial equity interest, in certain issuers of, or obligors with respect to, the Collateral or their respective affiliates.

When acting as a trustee, paying agent, custodian, disposal agent or in any other service capacity with respect to any Collateral, a Transaction Party may be entitled to fees, charges and expenses senior in priority to payments on such Collateral. When acting as a trustee for other classes of securities or any other assets issued by the issuer or obligor of any Collateral or an affiliate thereof, a Transaction Party may owe fiduciary duties to the holders of such other classes of securities or assets, which classes of securities or assets may have differing interests from the holders of the class of securities or assets of which the relevant Collateral is a part, and may take actions that are adverse to the holders (including, where applicable, the Issuer) of the class of securities or assets of which the relevant Collateral is a part. As

a counterparty under swaps and other derivative agreements, a Transaction Party may take actions adverse to the interests of the Issuer, including, but not limited to, demanding collateralisation of its exposure under such agreements (if provided for thereunder) or terminating such swaps or agreements in accordance with the terms thereof. In making and administering loans and other obligations, a Transaction Party may take action including, but not limited to, restructuring a loan, foreclosing on or exercising other remedies with respect to a loan, requiring additional collateral or other credit enhancement, charging significant fees and interest, placing the issuers of, or obligors with respect to, any Collateral in bankruptcy and/or demanding payment on a loan guarantee or under other credit enhancement. The Issuer's acquisition, holding and sale of any Collateral may enhance the profitability or value of investments made by any Transaction Party in the issuers thereof or obligors in respect thereof. As a result of such transactions or arrangements between any Transaction Party and issuers of, and obligors with respect to, any Collateral or their respective affiliates, the Transaction Parties may have interests that are contrary to the interests of the Issuer and/or investors in the Notes.

#### The Trustee

In connection with the exercise of its functions, the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Noteholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or any other person be entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders. In acting as Trustee under the Principal Trust Deed and any Trust Deed, the Trustee shall not, in respect of Notes of any Series, assume any duty or responsibility to any Swap Counterparty (other than to pay to any Swap Counterparty any moneys received and payable to it and to act in accordance with the Conditions) and shall have regard solely to the interests of the Noteholders and shall not be obliged to act on any directions of the Swap Counterparty if this would, in the Trustee's opinion, be contrary to the interests of the Noteholders.

## The Swap Counterparty

Prospective investors should be aware that, if the Issuer enters into a Swap Agreement in connection with the Notes, where the Swap Counterparty is entitled to exercise its discretion or to undertake a decision in such capacity in respect of the Swap Agreement (including any right to terminate the Swap Agreement), in respect of the terms and conditions or otherwise in respect of the Notes, unless specified to the contrary therein, the Swap Counterparty will be entitled to act in its absolute discretion and will be under no obligation to, and will not assume any fiduciary duty or responsibility for, the Noteholders or any other person. In exercising its discretion or deciding upon a course of action, the Swap Counterparty shall attempt to maximise the beneficial outcome for itself (that is maximise any payments due to it and minimise any payments due from it) and will not be liable to account to the Noteholders or any other person for any profit or other benefit to it or any of its affiliates that may result directly or indirectly from any such selection.

#### Risk Factors relating to the market

## **Limited liquidity of the Notes**

Although application may be made to admit the Notes to the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange or the official list of another stock exchange and to admit them to trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange or another stock exchange, there is currently no secondary market for the Notes. There can be no assurance that a secondary market for any of the Notes will develop or, if a secondary market does develop, that it will provide the holders of the Notes with liquidity or that it will continue for the life of the Notes. Consequently, any investor of the Notes must be prepared to hold such Notes for an indefinite period of time or until redemption of the Notes. If the Arranger or any Dealer begins making a market for the Notes, it is under no obligation to continue to do so and may stop making a market at any time.

#### **Credit ratings**

Notes may or may not be rated. The applicable Series Prospectus for any Notes will specify if such rating is a condition to the issue of such Notes. The rating(s) will be on the basis of the assessment of each relevant Rating Agency of the ratings of any relevant Collateral, the rating of any relevant Swap Counterparty and the terms of the Notes. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold any Notes, inasmuch as such rating does not comment as to market price or suitability for a particular purchaser. There is no assurance that a rating will remain for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a Rating Agency if, in its judgement, circumstances in the future so warrant. In the event that a rating initially assigned to any Notes is

subsequently lowered for any reason, no person or entity is obliged to provide any additional support or credit enhancement with respect to such Notes and the market value of such Notes is likely to be adversely affected.

Prospective investors should ensure they understand what any rating associated with the Notes (whether of the Notes themselves, of the obligor of any relevant Collateral (or any guarantor or credit support provider in respect thereof), of any relevant Swap Counterparty or of any other party or entity involved in or related to the Notes) means and what it addresses and what it does not address.

The assignment of a rating to the Notes should not be treated by a prospective investor as meaning that such investor does not need to make its own investigations into, and determinations of, the risks and merits of an investment in the Notes.

During its holding of a Note, a Noteholder should take such steps as it considers necessary to evaluate the ongoing risks and merits of a continued investment in such Note. Such steps should not rely solely on ratings. In particular, prospective investors should not rely solely on downgrades of ratings as indicators of deteriorating credit. Market indicators (such as rising credit default spreads and yield spreads with respect to the relevant entity) often indicate significant credit issues prior to any downgrade. During the global financial crisis, rating agencies were the subject of criticism from a number of global governmental bodies that they did not downgrade entities on a sufficiently quick basis.

Prospective investors who place too much reliance on ratings, or who do not understand what the rating addresses, may be subject to losses as a result.

#### Risks relating to the Global Financial Crisis

#### General

Since mid-2007, the global economy and financial markets have experienced extreme levels of instability.

The initial trigger for the instability was a downturn in the U.S. housing market. Significant declines in house prices in the U.S. from early 2005, combined with interest rate rises, led to increases in mortgage default levels, particularly in relation to mortgages granted to sub-prime borrowers (that is borrowers with a poor or no credit history). Financial exposure to such mortgage assets had been widely distributed on a global basis via securitisations and other risk transfer mechanisms. As a result, a significant number of global commercial banks, investment banks, government-sponsored entities, hedge funds, structured investment vehicles and institutional investors had gained exposure to defaults in respect of such mortgage assets. By mid-2007, concerns about the value of mortgage assets held by these entities led to a general tightening of available credit and liquidity in the global financial markets.

During 2008 the initial instability intensified into a severe global financial crisis. Notwithstanding steps taken by the central banks of the U.S., the U.K. and certain other countries and the European Central Bank to increase liquidity, continued disruption to the credit and liquidity markets and concerns about the value of mortgage assets and credit-related products generally led to substantial write-downs of asset values by a number of institutions, including government-sponsored entities, insurers and major commercial and investment banks. These write-downs caused many such entities to seek additional capital, to merge with other institutions and, in some cases, to go into insolvency or to be the subject of government bail-out.

In September 2008, the crisis saw a series of collapses of government-sponsored entities, insurers and major commercial and investment banks around the world. These collapses included the bail-out by the U.S. government of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) and the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), the insolvency of investment bank Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., the bail-out by the U.S. government of the major U.S. insurer American International Group, Inc., and numerous other rescues and bail-outs in other countries.

In response to the crisis various governments and central banks took substantial measures to ease liquidity problems and enacted fiscal stimulus packages and measures to support certain entities affected by the crisis. Such measures included establishing special liquidity schemes and credit facilities, bank recapitalisation programmes and credit guarantee schemes. In an attempt to counteract recessionary pressures the central banks of the U.S., the U.K. and certain other countries and the European Central Bank also lowered interest rates, in some cases to record low levels.

No assurance can be given that any recovery of the global economy will be sustained or that certain economies will not encounter a "double dip" recession. In particular, a number of countries accumulated large amounts of public debt

as a result of the crisis to fund financial stimulus packages and other support measures. This has resulted in concerns about sovereign credit defaults which could undermine any recovery and could have the effect of taking credit crisis into a new recessionary phase, as nations begin to reach the limits of public sector support for the financial system and the real economy.

The above factors have also led to substantial volatility in markets across asset classes, including (without limitation) stock markets, foreign exchange markets, fixed income markets and credit markets.

There can be no assurance that the steps taken by governments, or international or supra-national organisations to ameliorate the global financial crisis and sovereign debt concerns will be successful or that any global recovery will continue. The structure, nature and regulation of financial markets in the future may be fundamentally altered as a consequence of the global financial crisis and high levels of public debt, possibly in unforeseen ways. There can be no assurance that similar or greater disruption may not occur in the future for similar or other reasons. Economic prospects are subject to considerable uncertainty.

Prospective investors should ensure that they have sufficient knowledge and awareness of the global financial crisis and the responses thereto and of the economic situation and outlook as they consider necessary to enable them to make their own evaluation of the risks and merits of an investment in the Notes.

Any person who had held securities during the periods considered above, particularly structured securities, would be highly likely to have suffered significant adverse effects as a result of such holding, including, but not limited to, major reductions in the value of those securities and a lack of liquidity. A significant number of credit events has occurred in respect of reference entities referenced in structured securities. Prospective investors should consider carefully whether they are prepared to take on similar risks by virtue of an investment in the Notes.

## Impact on liquidity

The events outlined above have had an extremely negative effect on the liquidity of financial markets generally and in the markets in respect of certain financial assets or in the obligations of certain obligors. This has particularly been the case with respect to the market for structured assets and the obligations of sovereigns and financial institutions. Such assets may either not be saleable at all or may only be saleable at significant discounts to their estimated fair value or to the amount originally invested. No assurance can be given that liquidity in the market generally, or in the market for any particular asset class or in the obligations of any sovereign or any particular financial institution, will improve or that it will not worsen in the future. Such limited liquidity may have a negative impact on the value of the Notes, the value of any Collateral or the value of any Swap Agreement, both in terms of the assets or indices referenced and in terms of the value of the obligations of any relevant Swap Counterparty. In particular, should the Notes be redeemed early, Noteholders will be exposed to the realisation value of the Collateral (if applicable) and/or the termination value of the Swap Agreement (if applicable), which value might be affected (in some cases significantly) by such lack of liquidity.

Concerns about the creditworthiness of the Custodian, the Issuing and Paying Agent and the other Paying Agents may also impact the value of the Notes.

## Impact on credit

The events outlined above have negatively affected the creditworthiness of a number of entities, in some cases to the extent of collapse or requiring government rescue. Such credit deterioration has and may continue to be widespread and is not confined to the financial services sector. The value of the Notes or of the amount of payments under them may be negatively affected by any widespread credit deterioration. Prospective investors should note that recoveries on assets of affected entities have in some cases been de minimis and that similarly low recovery levels may be experienced with respect to other entities in the future, which may include the obligors of any Collateral (or any guarantor or credit support provider in respect thereof) and/or any Swap Counterparty. Prospective investors should also consider the impact of a default by a Custodian, Issuing and Paying Agent or Paying Agent and possible delays and costs in being able to access property held with a failed custodian.

## Impact on valuations and calculations

Since 2007, actively traded markets for a number of asset classes and obligors have either ceased or have reduced significantly. To the extent that valuations or calculations in respect of instruments related to those asset classes were based on quoted market prices or market inputs, the lack or limited availability of such market prices or inputs has

significantly impaired the ability to make accurate valuations or calculations in respect of such instruments. No assurance can be given that similar impairment may not occur in the future.

Furthermore, in a number of asset classes, a significant reliance has historically been placed on valuations derived from models that use inputs that are not observable in the markets and/or that are based on historical data and trends. Such models often rely on certain assumptions about the values or behaviour of such unobservable inputs or about the behaviour of the markets generally or interpolate future outcomes from historical data. In a number of cases, the extent of the market volatility and disruption has resulted in the assumptions being incorrect to a significant degree or in extreme departures from historical trends. Where reliance is placed on historical data, in certain instances such data may only be available for relatively short time periods (for example, data with respect to prices in relatively new markets) and such data may not be as statistically representative as data for longer periods.

Potential investors should be aware of the risks inherent in any valuation or calculation that is determined by reference to a model and that certain assumptions will be made in operating the model which may prove to be incorrect and give rise to significantly different outcomes to those predicted by the model.

#### **Impact of Increased Regulation**

The events in the international financial markets since 2007 have seen increased involvement of governmental and regulatory authorities in the financial sector and in the operation of financial institutions. In particular, governmental and regulatory authorities in a number of jurisdictions have imposed stricter regulatory controls around certain financial activities and/or have indicated that they intend to impose such controls in the future. The United States of America, the European Union and other jurisdictions are actively considering or are in the process of implementing various reform measures.

Such regulatory changes and the method of their implementation may have a significant impact on the operation of the international financial markets. It is uncertain how a changed regulatory environment will affect the Swap Counterparty or other transaction parties. If there is a change in the regulatory environment, or the Swap Counterparty reasonably anticipates an imminent change in the regulatory environment, likely to have or having (as the case may be) the effect of altering the Swap Counterparty's compliance requirements in respect of any of the transactions under the Swap Agreement in a manner which, in the Swap Counterparty's reasonable judgement, materially increases or is likely to materially increase (as the case may be), the regulatory burden on the Swap Counterparty, the Swap Counterparty may seek to exercise a right to terminate (if any) the Swap Agreement if the Swap Agreement provides for such a right of termination.

## Systemic risk

Financial institutions and other significant participants in the financial markets that deal with each other are interrelated as a result of trading, investment, clearing, counterparty and other relationships. This risk is sometimes referred to as "systemic risk". Financial institutions such as the Arranger, the Dealer(s), the Trustee, the Swap Counterparty, the Custodian and the other Agents (or any affiliate of any of them) and any obligors of any Collateral (or any guarantor or credit support provider in respect thereof) that are financial institutions or are significant participants in the financial markets are likely routinely to execute a high volume of transactions with various types of counterparties, including brokers and dealers, commercial banks, investment banks, insurers, mutual and hedge funds and institutional clients. To the extent they do so, they are and will continue to be exposed to the risk of loss if counterparties fail or are otherwise unable to meet their obligations. In addition, a default by a financial institution or other significant participant in the financial markets, or concerns about the ability of a financial institution or other significant participant in the financial markets to meet its obligations, could lead to further significant systemic liquidity problems and other problems that could exacerbate the global financial crisis and as such have a material adverse impact on other entities.

#### **INVESTOR SUITABILITY**

Prospective investors should determine whether an investment in the Relevant Issuer is appropriate in their particular circumstances and should consult with their legal, business and tax advisers to determine the consequences of an investment in any Notes and to arrive at their own evaluation of the investment.

## Attention is drawn, in particular, to the section headed "Risk Factors" above.

Investment in the Notes is only suitable for investors who:

- (1) have the requisite knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, and access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical resources, to evaluate the information contained in this Base Prospectus as incorporated into the relevant Series Prospectus and the merits and risks of an investment in the Relevant Issuer in the context of such investors' financial position and circumstances;
- (2) are capable of bearing the economic risk of an investment in the Relevant Issuer for an indefinite period of time;
- (3) are acquiring the Notes for their own account for investment, not with a view to resale, distribution or other disposition of the Notes (subject to any applicable law requiring that the disposition of the investor's property be within its control);
- (4) recognise that it may not be possible to make any transfer of the Notes for a substantial period of time, if at all:
- (5) are banks, investment banks, pension funds, insurance companies, securities firms, investment institutions, central governments, large international or supranational organisations or other entities, including inter alia treasuries and finance companies of large enterprises which are active on a regular and professional basis in the financial markets for their own account;
- (6) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes; and
- (7) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and are familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets.

Investors' attention is also drawn to the section headed "Ireland Taxation" of this Base Prospectus.

The tax consequences for each investor in the Notes can be different and therefore investors are advised to consult with their tax advisers as to their specific consequences.

## SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS

If at any time any Relevant Issuer shall be required to prepare a prospectus supplement pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, it will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Base Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the Market, shall constitute a prospectus supplement for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive.

#### MASTER CONDITIONS

The following is the text of the master terms and conditions applicable to Notes issued under the Programme (the "Master Conditions"). The text of these Master Conditions, subject to completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Terms (as defined below), shall be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any). The full text of these Master Conditions together with the relevant provisions of the applicable Terms shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to Registered Notes. In respect of the Notes, "Conditions" shall mean (i) to the extent that the Notes are in definitive form, the text of these Master Conditions as completed, amended, supplemented and/or varied by the provisions of the applicable Terms and (ii) to the extent that the Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate, as the case may be, these Master Conditions as completed, amended, supplemented and/or varied by the provisions of the applicable Terms and by the terms of the Global Note or Global Certificate, as the case may be. In respect of the Notes, "Terms" means the terms and conditions of the Notes attached to the Supplemental Trust Deed, and contained in the relevant Series Prospectus, specifying the relevant issue details of the Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in the Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the Trust Deed (as defined below). Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References in the Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

The Notes are constituted and secured by a supplemental trust deed dated the issue date of the first Tranche of the Notes (the "Supplemental Trust Deed") and made between the Issuer, the Trustee and, if applicable, the other persons specified therein, supplemental to a principal trust deed dated 15 December 2015, as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Principal Trust Deed") and made between the Issuer and HSBC Corporate Trustee Company (UK) Limited (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed (as defined below)), as trustee for the holders of the Notes. The Principal Trust Deed and the Supplemental Trust Deed are referred to together as the "Trust Deed". These Master Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Bearer Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons referred to below. An agency agreement (as amended or supplemented from time to time and as at the Issue Date, the "Agency Agreement") dated 15 December 2015 has been entered into in relation to the Notes between the Issuer, the Trustee, HSBC Bank plc as initial issuing and paying agent and as calculation agent, ING Bank N.V. as determination agent and disposal agent and the other agents named in it. A custody agreement (as amended or supplemented from time to time and as at the Issue Date, the "Custody Agreement") dated 15 December 2015 has been entered into between the Issuer, the Trustee and HSBC Bank plc as custodian. The issuing and paying agent, the custodian, the paying agents, the registrar, the transfer agents, the calculation agent, the determination agent and the disposal agent for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Issuing and Paying Agent", the "Custodian", the "Paying Agents" (which expression shall include the Issuing and Paying Agent), the "Registrar", the "Transfer Agents" (which expression shall include the Registrar), the "Calculation Agent", the "Determination Agent" and the "Disposal Agent" and collectively as the "Agents". Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement are available for inspection during usual business hours at the principal office of the Issuer and at the specified offices of the Paying Agents.

The Noteholders (as defined below), the holders of the interest coupons (the "Coupons") relating to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the "Talons") (the "Couponholders") and the holders of the receipts for the payment of instalments of principal (the "Receipts") relating to Notes in bearer form of which the principal is payable in instalments are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement.

All capitalised terms that are not defined in the Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the Trust Deed, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes. In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the terms of the Principal Trust Deed, the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between the Master Conditions and the applicable Terms of the Notes, the Terms of the Notes shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of the Trust Deed, the Master Conditions and the applicable Terms of the Notes, the Terms of the Notes shall prevail. References in the Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 7 or any amendment or supplement to it and (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it.

## 1. Form, Specified Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes"), in each case in the Specified Denomination(s) specified in the applicable Terms.

All Registered Notes shall have the same Specified Denomination.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note or an Instalment Note, a combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis specified in the applicable Terms.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, in which case references to interest (other than in relation to default interest), Coupons and Talons in the Conditions are not applicable. Instalment Notes are issued with one or more Receipts attached.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates ("Certificates") and each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure will be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the "Register"). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In the Conditions, "Noteholder" means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts relating to it or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be) and "holder" (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be).

## 2. Exchange of Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

#### (a) No Exchange of Notes:

Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination. Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.

## (b) Transfers of Registered Notes:

One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be subject to and effected in accordance with the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon request.

#### (c) Delivery of New Certificates:

Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2(b) shall be available for delivery within three business days of the surrender of the relevant Certificate together with the requisite form of transfer. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such form of transfer or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant form of transfer or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar the costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(c), "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).

## (d) Transfers Free of Charge:

Transfers of Notes and Certificates shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).

#### (e) Closed Periods:

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the Maturity Date or the due date(s) for payment of any Instalment Amount in respect of that Note, (ii) after the occurrence of any Early Redemption Trigger Date and/or any Liquidation Event or (iii) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date.

#### 3. Constitution, Status, Collateral and Non-applicability

## (a) Constitution and Status of Notes:

The Notes are constituted and secured by the Trust Deed. The Notes are secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer, at all times ranking *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves, secured in the manner described in Condition 4 and recourse in respect of which is limited in the manner described in Condition 17(a).

#### (b) Collateral:

In connection with the issue of the Notes the Issuer may acquire rights, title and/or interests in and to:

- (i) one or more transferable securities (the "Securities") issued by or representing obligations of one or more persons, which will include any securities transferred by the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer pursuant to the Credit Support Annex (if any) (the "Posted Securities"); and/or
- (ii) loans, deposits, shares, partnership interests, units in unit trusts or any other asset or property (which may, for the avoidance of doubt, include the benefit of contractual rights),

(such rights, title and/or interests (if any) of the Issuer in and to (i) and (ii) constituting the "Collateral" and any person that has an obligation or duty to the Issuer in respect of the Collateral pursuant to the terms of such Collateral a "Collateral Obligor"). The initial Collateral (excluding for these purposes any Posted Securities) shall be as specified in the applicable Terms. The term "Collateral" shall include the rights, title and/or interests in (x) any further Collateral acquired by the Issuer in connection with any further issue of notes that are to be consolidated and form a single series with the Notes, (y) any Collateral acquired by the Issuer by way of substitution or replacement of any Collateral previously held by it and (z) any asset or property (which may, for the avoidance of

doubt, include the benefit of contractual rights) into which any of the Collateral is converted, exchanged, or issued to the Issuer by virtue of its holding of any of the Collateral.

In addition, in connection with the issue of the Notes, the Issuer may enter into a 2002 ISDA Master Agreement together with a schedule (the "Schedule") thereto (the "ISDA Master Agreement") with a counterparty (the "Swap Counterparty") and may also enter into a credit support annex to the Schedule to the ISDA Master Agreement in the form of the Credit Support Annex (Bilateral Form – Transfer) (the "Credit Support Annex"). The Credit Support Annex will supplement, form part of, and be subject to, the ISDA Master Agreement and will form part of the Schedule thereto (the ISDA Master Agreement as supplemented by the Credit Support Annex (if any) the "Master Agreement"). For the purposes of the ISDA Master Agreement, the credit support arrangements set out in the Credit Support Annex (if any) will constitute a transaction for the purposes of the ISDA Master Agreement (for which purposes the Credit Support Annex will constitute the confirmation). In connection with the issue of the Notes, the Issuer may enter into one or more transactions under the ISDA Master Agreement (each such transaction, a "Swap Transaction", and the confirmation(s) evidencing such transaction(s) together with the Master Agreement, the "Swap Agreement").

## (c) Mortgaged Property and Secured Payment Obligations:

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

#### "Mortgaged Property" means:

- (i) the Collateral and all property, assets and sums derived therefrom;
- (ii) the rights and interest of the Issuer in and under the Swap Agreement (if any) and the rights, title and interest of the Issuer in all property, assets and sums derived from the Swap Agreement;
- (iii) the rights and interest of the Issuer under the Agency Agreement and the Custody Agreement and the rights, title and interest of the Issuer in all property, assets and sums derived from such agreements; and
- (iv) the rights, title and interest of the Issuer in any other assets, property, income, rights and/or agreements of the Issuer from time to time charged or assigned or otherwise made subject to the security created by the Issuer in favour of the Trustee pursuant to the Security Documents, as the case may be,

in each case securing the Secured Payment Obligations and includes where the context permits any part of that Mortgaged Property.

"Rating Agency" means each rating agency that rates the Notes at the request of the Issuer and that has not withdrawn or discontinued its rating. Each initial Rating Agency (if any) shall be specified in the applicable Terms.

"Rating Agency Affirmation" means, with respect to any action that is specified to be subject to Rating Agency Affirmation in the Conditions or any Transaction Document, the prior affirmation from each Rating Agency, in the form (if any) specified for such purpose by such Rating Agency in accordance with any applicable internal requirements of such Rating Agency, that the then current rating of the Notes will not be adversely affected or withdrawn as a result of such action being undertaken, provided that it is the then current policy of such Rating Agency to either affirm or disaffirm the relevant type of action prior to such action being taken.

"Secured Creditor" means each person that is entitled to the benefit of Secured Payment Obligations.

"Security Document" means the Trust Deed and any other security document in respect of the Notes which creates or purports to create security in favour of the Trustee.

"Secured Payment Obligations" means the payment obligations of the Issuer under the Trust Deed, the Swap Agreement, the Custody Agreement and each Note, Coupon, Receipt and Talon, together with any obligation of the Issuer to reimburse the Issuing and Paying Agent in respect of payments made in accordance with the terms of the Agency Agreement to any person in discharge of a Secured Payment Obligation.

"Transaction Document" means each of the Security Document(s), the Agency Agreement, the Custody Agreement, the Dealer Agreement, the Swap Agreement (if any), and any other agreement specified as such in the applicable Terms.

"**Transaction Party**" means each party to a Transaction Document other than the Issuer and any other person specified as a Transaction Party in the applicable Terms.

#### (d) Non-applicability:

Where no reference is made in the Supplemental Trust Deed and the applicable Terms to any Collateral, references in the Conditions to any such Collateral, to any Secured Payment Obligation relating to such Collateral and to any related Collateral Obligor or Secured Creditor relating to such Collateral, as the case may be, shall not be applicable. Where no reference is made in the Supplemental Trust Deed and the applicable Terms to any Swap Agreement, Swap Counterparty and/or Credit Support Annex, references in the Conditions thereto shall not be applicable.

#### (e) Rating Agency Confirmation:

The Trustee shall be entitled to assume, without further investigation or inquiry, for the purpose of exercising or performing any right, power, trust, authority, duty or discretion under or in relation to the Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document (including, without limitation, any consent, approval, modification, waiver, authorisation or determination), that such exercise will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders, if each Rating Agency has confirmed in writing (whether or not such confirmation is addressed to, or provides that it may be relied upon by, the Trustee and irrespective of the method by which such confirmation is conveyed) that the then current rating by it of the outstanding Notes (if any) would not be adversely affected or withdrawn in connection therewith.

## 4. Security

## (a) Security:

Unless otherwise specified in the Supplemental Trust Deed, the Secured Payment Obligations are secured in favour of the Trustee, pursuant to the Trust Deed, by:

- (i) a first fixed charge over the Collateral (if any) and all property, assets and sums derived therefrom;
- (ii) an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer's rights attaching to or relating to the Collateral (if any) and all property, sums or assets derived therefrom, including without limitation any right to delivery thereof or to an equivalent number or nominal value thereof which arises in connection with any such assets being held in a clearing system or through a financial intermediary;
- (iii) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights, title and/or interest against the Custodian, to the extent that they relate to the Collateral (if any);
- (iv) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights, title and/or interest under the Agency Agreement, to the extent that they relate to the Notes;
- (v) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights, title and/or interest under the Swap Agreement (if any);

- (vi) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer's rights against the Disposal Agent under the terms of the Agency Agreement (or any other agreement entered into between the Issuer and the Disposal Agent) to the extent such rights relate to the Collateral (if any);
- (vii) a first fixed charge over (A) all sums held by the Issuing and Paying Agent and/or the Custodian to meet payments due in respect of any Secured Payment Obligation, and (B) any sums received by the Issuing and Paying Agent under the Swap Agreement; and
- (viii) a first fixed charge over all property, sums and assets held or received by the Disposal Agent relating to the Transaction Documents and the Collateral (if any).

Notwithstanding the above, investors should note that where any Collateral and/or any property, assets and sums derived therefrom are held by the Custodian in book-entry form, the security interests granted in respect of the same might, as a result of such book-entry holding, take the form only of a security interest over the Issuer's rights against the Custodian in respect of such Collateral and/or property, assets and sums derived therefrom, as the case may be, rather than a charge over such Collateral and/or property, assets and sums derived therefrom, themselves.

Additionally, the Secured Payment Obligations of the Issuer may be secured pursuant to a Security Document other than the Trust Deed as specified in the relevant Supplemental Trust Deed.

References in the Conditions to "Security" are to the security constituted by the Trust Deed and any other Security Documents (if applicable).

## (b) Substitution of Mortgaged Property:

The Issuer may from time to time if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or, where the Trustee is satisfied that such substitution is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders, upon agreement with the Trustee, and, in either case, with the prior written consent of the Swap Counterparty, substitute alternative Mortgaged Property for such of the Mortgaged Property as it may deem appropriate (provided, in either case, that on or prior to such substitution a Rating Agency Affirmation has been received from each Rating Agency) and the Security over such of the Mortgaged Property shall be released. Any such alternative Mortgaged Property shall be held subject to the Security in favour of the Trustee, and the Issuer shall execute such further documentation as the Trustee may require in order to constitute such Security as a condition to such substitution. If the Noteholders or the Trustee (where satisfied as stated above) and the Swap Counterparty agree to a substitution, the Issuer shall notify the Noteholders thereof in accordance with Condition 22 and, if the Notes are listed on any stock exchange, the Issuer shall also notify such stock exchange of such substitution.

## (c) Issuer's rights as beneficial owner of Collateral:

Prior to the Trustee effectively giving a valid Enforcement Notice to the Issuer (copied to the Custodian and the Disposal Agent), the Issuer may, with the sanction of an Extraordinary Resolution or with the prior written consent of the Trustee:

- (i) take such action in relation to the Mortgaged Property as it may think expedient; and
- (ii) exercise any rights incidental to the ownership of the Mortgaged Property and, in particular (but, without limitation, and without responsibility for their exercise), any voting rights in respect of such property and all rights to enforce any ownership interests in respect of such property.

The Issuer will not exercise any rights with respect to any Mortgaged Property unless it has the consents referred to above or is directed to do so by an Extraordinary Resolution and, if such direction or consent is given, the Issuer will act only in accordance with such direction or consent.

## (d) **Disposal Agent's right following Liquidation Event:**

Notwithstanding the above, following the effective delivery of a valid Liquidation Commencement Notice to the Disposal Agent (copied to each of the other Transaction Parties) the Disposal Agent on behalf of the Issuer shall have the right to undertake any action as contemplated by the Conditions and the Agency Agreement as it considers appropriate, and any actions in furtherance thereof or ancillary thereto as they relate to the Collateral, without requiring any sanction referred to therein. Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed, upon the effective delivery of a valid Liquidation Commencement Notice to the Disposal Agent, the Security described in Condition 4(a) will automatically be released without further action on the part of the Trustee to the extent necessary to effect the Liquidation (as defined in Condition 13) of the Collateral; provided that nothing in this Condition 4(d) will operate to release the charges and other security interests over the proceeds of the Liquidation of the Collateral.

#### 5. **Restrictions**

So long as any of the Notes remain outstanding, the Issuer shall not, without the prior consent in writing of the Trustee (other than where the relevant act is provided for or contemplated in the Conditions or any Transaction Document):

- (a) engage in any business other than the issuance or entry into of Obligations, the entry into of related agreements and transactions and the performing of acts incidental thereto or necessary in connection therewith, and provided that:
  - (i) such Obligations are secured on assets of the Issuer other than the Issuer's share capital and any assets securing any other Obligations (other than Equivalent Obligations); and
  - (ii) such Obligations and any related agreements contain provisions that limit the recourse of any holder of, or counterparty to, such Obligations and of any party to any related agreement to assets other than those to which any other Obligations (other than Equivalent Obligations) have recourse;
- (b) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the Mortgaged Property or any right or interest therein or create any mortgage, charge or other security or right of recourse in respect thereof (other than as contemplated by the Trust Deed, Conditions and/or any Security Document);
- (c) cause or permit the Swap Agreement or the priority of the Security created by the Trust Deed to be amended, terminated or discharged (other than as contemplated by the Trust Deed, the Conditions and/or any Security Document or Transaction Document);
- (d) release any party to the Swap Agreement, the Principal Trust Deed or the Supplemental Trust Deed from any existing obligations thereunder (other than as contemplated by the Trust Deed, the Conditions and/or any Security Document or Transaction Document);
- (e) have any subsidiaries;
- (f) consent to any variation of, or exercise any powers of consent or waiver pursuant to, the terms of the Swap Agreement, the Conditions, the Principal Trust Deed, the Supplemental Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document (other than as contemplated by the Trust Deed, the Conditions and/or any Security Document or Transaction Document);
- (g) consolidate or merge with any other person or convey or transfer its properties or assets substantially as an entirety to any person (other than in connection with a substitution of the Issuer under the Notes issued by it as provided in the Trust Deed and the Conditions);
- (h) have any employees;
- (i) issue any shares (other than such shares as are in issue at the date hereof) or make any distribution to its shareholders;
- (j) open or have any interest in any account with a bank or financial institution unless (i) such account relates to the issuance or entry into of Obligations and such Obligations have the benefit of security

over the Issuer's interest in such account or (ii) such account is opened in connection with the administration and management of the Issuer and only moneys necessary for that purpose are credited to it;

- (k) declare any dividends;
- (l) purchase, own, lease or otherwise acquire any real property (including office premises or like facilities);
- (m) guarantee, act as surety for or become obligated for the debts of any other entity or person or enter into any agreement with any other entity or person whereby it agrees to satisfy the obligations of such entity or person or any other entity or person;
- (n) acquire any securities or shareholdings whatsoever from its shareholders or enter into any agreements whereby it would be acquiring the obligations and/or liabilities of its shareholders;
- (o) except as is required in connection with the issuance or entry into of Obligations, advance or lend any of its moneys or assets to any other entity or person; or
- (p) approve, sanction or propose any amendment to its constitutional documents save for where Rating Agency Affirmation (as defined in Condition 3(c)) has been received from each Rating Agency (as defined in Condition 3(c)) other than for the purpose of complying with (a) the requirements of the Irish Companies Act 2014, (b) Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories dated 4 July 2012, and (c) the Regulation on Transparency of Securities Financing Transactions.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"**Equivalent Obligations**" means, in respect of any Obligations which are issued in fungible form, all Obligations that are fungible with one another and which share common terms and conditions.

"Obligation" means any obligation of the Issuer for the payment or repayment of borrowed money which shall include, without limitation, any Note and any other obligation that is in the form of, or represented by, a bond, note, certificated debt security or other debt security and any obligation that is documented by a term loan agreement, revolving loan agreement or other similar credit agreement.

#### 6. Interest

# (a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes:

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 6(f).

#### (b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes:

(i) Interest Payment Dates:

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 6(f).

(ii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes:

The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Terms and the provisions below

relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is specified in the applicable Terms.

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes:

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate, subject as provided in Condition 6(e) below. For the purposes of this paragraph 6(b)(ii)(A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Terms;
- (y) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Terms; and
- (z) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless otherwise specified in the applicable Terms.

For the purposes of this paragraph 6(b)(ii)(A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date" and "Swap Transaction" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

- (B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes
  - (x) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below and Condition 6(e), be either:
    - (I) the offered quotation; or
    - (II) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at either 11.00 a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR or Brussels time in the case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Terms as being other than LIBOR or EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as provided in the applicable Terms.

(y) if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if paragraph (x)(I) above applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page or if paragraph (x)(II) above applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page in each case as at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Calculation

Agent shall request, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the principal London office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), or if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and

(z) if paragraph (y) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time), on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Trustee and the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph (z), the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or maximum or minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or maximum or minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or maximum or minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).

## (c) Zero Coupon Notes:

Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified in the applicable Terms to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Early Redemption Amount. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) specified in the applicable Terms.

## (d) Accrual of Interest:

Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption save that if, upon due presentation, payment of the full amount of principal and/or interest due on such due date for redemption is not made, interest will accrue on the unpaid amount of principal and/or interest (after as well as before judgment and regardless of the Interest Basis) from and including the due date for redemption to but excluding the Relevant Date at the rate for each calendar day in that period equal to the rate for deposits in the currency in which the payment is due to be made as published on the Reuters Screen "LIBOR01" or "EURIBOR01" for a period of one day, as applicable, (or such successor screen page thereto determined by the Calculation Agent), or if such rate does not appear on the relevant Reuters Screen Page (or any successor screen page thereto), the rate determined by the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent as specified in the applicable Terms or such other rate as may be specified for such purposes in the applicable Terms. Such interest (the "Default Interest") shall be compounded daily with respect to the overdue sum at the above rate.

# (e) Margin and Maximum or Minimum Rates of Interest, Instalment Amounts, Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount:

- (i) If any Margin is specified in the applicable Terms (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the Rate(s) of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Period(s), in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with Condition 6(b) by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting (if a negative number) the absolute value of such Margin, subject always to paragraph (ii) below.
- (ii) If any Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Terms as being subject to a maximum or minimum amount or value, then such Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount, as applicable, shall be subject to such maximum or minimum as the case may be.

# (f) Interest Payable:

The interest payable in respect of any Note for a relevant period shall be an amount determined by the Calculation Agent or Determination Agent, as specified in the applicable Terms, equal to the product of the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount, as determined in accordance with this Condition 6(f), and the Calculation Amount Factor of the relevant Note. The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.

## (g) **Definitions:**

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Business Centre" means any business centre specified as such in the applicable Terms.

## "Business Day" means:

(i) in the case of a currency other than euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre for such currency;

- (ii) in the case of euro, a day on which the TARGET System is open for the settlement of payments in euro (a "TARGET Business Day"); or
- (iii) in the case of a currency and/or one or more Business Centres, a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such currency in such Business Centres or, if no currency is indicated, generally in each of such Business Centres.

"Calculation Amount" means, in respect of a Note and an Interest Accrual Period, the amount specified in the applicable Terms.

"Calculation Amount Factor" means, in respect of a Note, the number equal to the Specified Denomination of such Note divided by the Calculation Amount.

"Code" means the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last day of such period) (whether or not constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the "Calculation Period"):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual" or "Actual/Actual-ISDA" is specified in the applicable Terms, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Terms, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
- (iii) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Terms, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- (iv) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Terms, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \text{ x} (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \text{ x} (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $Y_2$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M}_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_2}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

- " $D_2$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and  $D_1$  is greater than 29, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30;
- (v) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Terms, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \text{ x} (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \text{ x} (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

" $Y_2$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_1}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_2}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

" $D_2$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30;

(vi) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Terms, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \text{ x } (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \text{ x } (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

 ${}^{\omega}Y_{2}$  is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_1}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_2}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30;

- (vii) If "Actual/Actual-ICMA" is specified in the applicable Terms:
  - (A) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
  - (B) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:
    - (I) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
    - (II) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year,

where:

"**Determination Period**" means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination Date.

"Determination Date" means the date specified as such in the applicable Terms or, if none is so specified, the Interest Payment Date.

"Euro-zone" means the region comprising Member States of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

#### "FATCA" means:

- (a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the Code or any associated regulations or other official guidance;
- (b) any intergovernmental agreement, treaty, law, regulation or other official guidance enacted in any other jurisdiction, or relating to an intergovernmental agreement between the US and any other jurisdiction, which (in either case) facilitates the implementation of paragraph (a) above; or
- (c) any agreement pursuant to the implementation of paragraphs (a) or (b) above with the US Internal Revenue Service, the US government or any governmental or taxation authority in any other jurisdiction.

"FATCA Withholding Tax" shall mean any withholding or deduction pursuant to FATCA.

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

## "Interest Amount" means:

(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified in the applicable Terms, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified in the applicable Terms as being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest Accrual Period forms part; and (ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that period.

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified in the applicable Terms.

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the date specified as such in the applicable Terms or, if none is so specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or (ii) the day falling two Business Days in London for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor euro or (iii) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is euro.

## "Interest Payment Date" means:

- (i) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes, each date specified as an Interest Payment Date in the applicable Terms; and
- (ii) in respect of all Notes other than Fixed Rate Notes:
  - (a) each date specified as a Specified Interest Payment Date in the applicable Terms; or
  - (b) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Terms, each date which falls the number of months or other period specified in the applicable Terms as the Interest Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.

"Interest Period Date" means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified in the applicable Terms.

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., unless otherwise specified in the applicable Terms.

"Rate of Interest" means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of a Note and that is either specified in, or calculated in accordance with the provisions of, the applicable Terms.

"Reference Banks" means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market and, in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent or as specified in the applicable Terms and in the case of any other rate, the banks specified as such in the applicable Terms or identified for such purposes in accordance with the provisions specified in the applicable Terms.

"Reference Rate" means the rate specified as such in the applicable Terms.

"Relevant Date" means, in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon, the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven calendar days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the Note (or relevant Certificate), Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation.

"Relevant Screen Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service as may be specified in the applicable Terms.

"Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the applicable Terms or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

"Specified Denomination" means, in respect of a Note, the amount specified in the applicable Terms.

"Specified Interest Payment Date(s)" means, in respect of a Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note), each date(s) specified as such in the applicable Terms.

"TARGET Settlement Day" means any day on which the TARGET System is open.

"TARGET System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) system or any successor thereto.

## 7. **Redemption and Purchase**

## (a) Final Redemption:

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions, each Note shall become due and payable on the Maturity Date at its Final Redemption Amount or, in the case of a Note falling within Condition 7(b), its final Instalment Amount.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Final Redemption Amount" means in respect of a Note, an amount (determined by the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent as specified in the applicable Terms) equal to (i) the amount specified as such in the applicable Terms (or the amount determined in accordance with the formula or method for determining such amount specified therein) or (ii) if no amount is so specified, the nominal amount of such Note.

## (b) **Redemption by Instalments:**

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions, each Note that provides in the applicable Terms for Instalment Dates and Instalment Amounts shall be partially redeemed on each Instalment Date at the related Instalment Amount. The outstanding nominal amount of each such Note shall be reduced by the relevant Instalment Amount (or, if such Instalment Amount is calculated by reference to a proportion of the nominal amount of such Note, such proportion) for all purposes with effect from the related Instalment Date, unless payment of the Instalment Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case such amount shall remain outstanding until the Relevant Date relating to such Instalment Amount.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Instalment Amount" means, in respect of a Note and an Instalment Date, an amount (determined by the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent as specified in the applicable Terms) equal to the amount specified as such in the applicable Terms or the amount determined in accordance with the formula or method for determining such amount specified therein.

"Instalment Date" means each date specified as such in the applicable Terms.

## (c) Redemption upon Collateral Default:

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(d), 7(e), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i) or Condition 12, the Issuer shall, if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution resolving that a Collateral Default has occurred and that a notice of

redemption in respect of the Series is to be given by the Issuer, give an Early Redemption Notice to the Noteholders and each Note shall become due and payable on the related Early Redemption Date at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon). The date on which such Early Redemption Notice is deemed to have been given shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Condition 19 or the Trust Deed, any Noteholder may deliver a request in writing to the Issuer (copied to the Determination Agent and the Trustee) requesting the Issuer to convene a meeting of Noteholders to be convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution to resolve that a Collateral Default has occurred and to instruct the Issuer to deliver an Early Redemption Notice in respect of the Notes. Any such request must (i) describe the Collateral Default alleged to have occurred, (ii) contain a description in reasonable detail of the facts relevant to the determination that such Collateral Default has occurred, and (iii) contain a copy of Publicly Available Information which in the sole opinion by the Issuer is satisfactory evidence of the occurrence of the Collateral Default. Upon receipt of a valid request from a Noteholder satisfying the requirements outlined in the preceding sentence, the Issuer shall convene a meeting of Noteholders in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed. The Collateral Default that is the subject of the request for a meeting of Noteholders and the Extraordinary Resolution must be continuing on the date any such request is so delivered and any such Extraordinary Resolution is resolved.

For the purpose of this Condition 7(c), references to "Collateral" shall exclude Posted Securities (if any).

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

## "Collateral Default" means any of the following events:

- (i) in respect of any Collateral Obligor Obligation:
  - (A) a Collateral Obligor Failure to Pay;
  - (B) a Collateral Obligor Obligation Acceleration;
  - (C) a Collateral Obligor Repudiation/Moratorium; and
  - (D) a Collateral Obligor Restructuring;
- (ii) in respect of the Collateral and/or any Identical Collateral, a Collateral Obligor Obligation Default; and
- (iii) in respect of any Collateral Obligor, a Collateral Obligor Bankruptcy.

## "Collateral Obligor Bankruptcy" means a Collateral Obligor:

- (i) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger);
- (ii) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing in a judicial, regulatory or administrative proceeding or filing its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due;
- (iii) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors:
- (iv) institutes or has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and, in the case of any such proceeding or petition instituted or presented against it, such proceeding or petition:

- (A) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation; or
- (B) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 30 days of the institution or presentation thereof;
- (v) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger);
- (vi) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets;
- (vii) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 30 days thereafter; or
- (viii) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in paragraphs (i) to (vii) above

"Collateral Obligor Default Requirement" means zero in respect of the Collateral or any Identical Collateral, and in respect of any other Collateral Obligor Obligations means U.S.\$10,000,000 or its equivalent in the currency or currencies in which the relevant Collateral Obligor Obligation is denominated as of the occurrence of the relevant Collateral Default.

## "Collateral Obligor Failure to Pay" means:

- (i) in respect of any Collateral or Identical Collateral, the failure by the relevant Collateral Obligor to make, when and where due, any payments under one or more of such Collateral or Identical Collateral, in accordance with the terms of such Collateral or Identical Collateral in effect as of the later of the Issue Date of the Notes to which such Collateral or Identical Collateral relates, the issue date of such Collateral or Identical Collateral and the date on which such Collateral or Identical Collateral was first acquired by the Issuer; and
- (ii) in respect of any other Collateral Obligor Obligations, after the expiration of any applicable Collateral Obligor Grace Period (after the satisfaction of any conditions precedent to the commencement of such Collateral Obligor Grace Period), the failure by the relevant Collateral Obligor to make, when and where due, any payments in an aggregate amount of not less than the Collateral Obligor Payment Requirement under one or more of such Collateral Obligor Obligations, in accordance with the terms of such Collateral Obligor Obligations at the time of such failure.

"Collateral Obligor Grace Period" shall not apply to the Collateral or any Identical Collateral, and in respect of any other Collateral Obligor Obligations means the greater of (i) the applicable grace period with respect to payments under the relevant Collateral Obligor Obligation under the terms of such Collateral Obligor Obligation in effect as of the later of the Issue Date and the date as of which such Collateral Obligor Obligation is issued or incurred and (ii) three Collateral Obligor Grace Period Business Days.

"Collateral Obligor Grace Period Business Day" means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are generally open to settle payments in the place or places and on the days specified for that purpose under the relevant Collateral Obligor Obligation and if a place or places are not so specified, a Business Day for the currency or currencies in which the relevant Collateral Obligor Obligation is denominated (but disregarding for such purpose paragraph (iii) of the definition of "Business Day" in Condition 6(g)).

"Collateral Obligor Obligation" means, in respect of a Collateral Obligor, any Collateral, any Identical Collateral or any other obligation of such Collateral Obligor (excluding an obligation under a revolving credit arrangement for which there are no outstanding, unpaid drawings in respect of principal) for the payment or repayment of borrowed money (which term shall include, without limitation, deposits and reimbursement obligations arising from drawings pursuant to letters of credit).

"Collateral Obligor Obligation Acceleration" means one or more Collateral Obligor Obligations in an aggregate amount of not less than the Collateral Obligor Default Requirement has become due and payable before it or they would otherwise have been due and payable as a result of, or on the basis of, the occurrence of a default, event of default or other similar condition or event (however described), other than a failure to make any required payment, in respect of a Collateral Obligor under one or more Collateral Obligor Obligations.

"Collateral Obligor Obligation Default" means one or more Collateral Obligor Obligations forming part of the Collateral and/or Identical Collateral has become capable of being declared due and payable before it or they would otherwise have been due and payable as a result of, or on the basis of, the occurrence of a default, event of default or other similar condition or event (however described), other than a failure to make any required payment, in respect of a Collateral Obligor under one or more Collateral Obligor Obligations forming part of the Collateral and/or Identical Collateral.

"Collateral Obligor Payment Requirement" means, in respect of any Collateral Obligor Obligation other than the Collateral and any Identical Collateral, U.S.\$1,000,000 or its equivalent in the currency or currencies in which the relevant Collateral Obligor Obligation is denominated as of the occurrence of the relevant Collateral Default.

"Collateral Obligor Repudiation/Moratorium" means the occurrence of both of the following events:

- (i) an authorised officer of a Collateral Obligor or a Government:
  - (A) disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates or rejects, in whole or in part, or challenges the validity of, one or more Collateral Obligor Obligations in an aggregate amount of not less than the Collateral Obligor Default Requirement; or
  - (B) declares or imposes a moratorium, standstill, roll-over or deferral, whether de facto or de jure, with respect to one or more Collateral Obligor Obligations in an aggregate amount of not less than the Collateral Obligor Default Requirement; and
- (ii) a Collateral Obligor Failure to Pay, determined without regard to the Collateral Obligor Payment Requirement, or a Collateral Obligor Restructuring, determined without regard to the Collateral Obligor Default Requirement, with respect to any such Collateral Obligor Obligation occurs on or prior to the later of:
  - (A) the date that is 60 days after the occurrence of the relevant event described in paragraph (i) above; and
  - (B) where such Collateral Obligor Obligation is in the form of, or represented by, a bond, note (other than notes delivered pursuant to term loan agreements, revolving loan agreements or other similar credit agreements), certificated debt security or other debt security, the first payment date under such Collateral Obligor Obligation after the occurrence of the relevant event described in paragraph (i) above (or, if later, the expiration date of any applicable Collateral Obligor Grace Period in respect of such payment date).

"Collateral Obligor Restructuring" means that, with respect to one or more Collateral Obligor Obligations and in relation to an aggregate amount of not less than the Collateral Obligor Default Requirement, any one or more of the following events occurs in a form that binds all holders of such Collateral Obligor Obligation, is agreed between the Collateral Obligor or a Government and a

sufficient number of holders of such Collateral Obligor Obligation to bind all holders of the Collateral Obligor Obligation or is announced (or otherwise decreed) by a Collateral Obligor or a Government in a form that binds all holders of such Collateral Obligor Obligation, and such event is not expressly provided for under the terms of such Collateral Obligor Obligation in effect as of the later of the Issue Date and the date as of which such Collateral Obligor Obligation is issued or incurred:

- (i) a reduction in the rate or amount of interest payable or the amount of scheduled interest accruals:
- (ii) a reduction in the amount of principal or premium payable at maturity or at scheduled redemption dates;
- (iii) a postponement or other deferral of a date or dates for either:
  - (A) the payment or accrual of interest; or
  - (B) the payment of principal or premium;
- (iv) a change in the ranking in priority of payment of any Collateral Obligor Obligation, causing the subordination of such Collateral Obligor Obligation to any other Collateral Obligor Obligation; or
- (v) any change in the currency or composition of any payment of interest or principal.

Notwithstanding the above, none of the following shall constitute a Collateral Obligor Restructuring:

- (A) the payment in euro of interest or principal in relation to a Collateral Obligor Obligation denominated in a currency of a Member State of the European Union that adopts or has adopted the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended;
- (B) the occurrence of, agreement to or announcement of any of the events described in paragraphs (i) to (v) above due to an administrative adjustment, accounting adjustment or tax adjustment or other technical adjustment occurring in the ordinary course of business; and
- (C) the occurrence of, agreement to or announcement of any of the events described in paragraphs (i) to (v) above in circumstances where such event does not directly or indirectly result from a deterioration in the creditworthiness or financial condition of the Collateral Obligor.

"Government" means any de facto or de jure government (or any agency, instrumentality, ministry or department thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of a Collateral Obligor or of the jurisdiction of organisation of a Collateral Obligor.

"Identical Collateral" means, in respect of Collateral in the form of securities, shares or any other assets which can be issued in fungible form, any such securities, shares or other assets that, immediately prior to the event in question, were part of the same issuance or series of fungible issuances of securities, shares or assets, shared common terms and conditions and ranked *pari passu* with such securities, shares or assets.

"Publicly Available Information" means, in relation to a Collateral Default, information that reasonably confirms any of the facts relevant to the determination that such Collateral Default has occurred and which: (i) has been published in or on not less than the Specified Number of Public Sources, regardless of whether the reader or user thereof pays a fee to obtain such information; (ii) is information received from or published by (A) a Collateral Obligor or (B) a trustee, fiscal agent, administrative agent, clearing agent, paying agent, facility agent or agent bank for a Collateral Obligor Obligation; (iii) is information contained in any petition or filing instituting a proceeding

described in sub-paragraph (iv) of the definition of Collateral Obligor Bankruptcy against or by a Collateral Obligor; or (iv) is information contained in any order, decree, notice or filing, however described, of or filed with a court, tribunal, exchange, regulatory authority or similar administrative, regulatory or judicial body.

"Public Source" means each source of Publicly Available Information specified as such in the applicable Terms or, if a source is not so specified, each of Bloomberg Service, Dow Jones Telerate Service, Reuter Monitor Money Rates Services, Dow Jones News Wire, Wall Street Journal, New York Times, Nihon Keizai Shinbun, Asahi Shinbun, Yomiuri Shinbun, Financial Times, La Tribune, Les Echos and The Australian Financial Review (and successor publications), the main source(s) of business news in the country in which the Collateral Obligor is organised and any other internationally recognised published or electronically displayed news sources.

"Specified Number" means the number of Public Sources specified in the applicable Terms or, if a number is not so specified, two.

## (d) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:

For the purpose of this Condition 7(d), references to "Collateral" shall exclude Posted Securities.

(i) Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions, subject to Condition 7(d)(ii) and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(e), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i) or Condition 12, the Issuer shall, as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the occurrence of a Note Tax Event and/or a Collateral Tax Event, give an Early Redemption Notice to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Trustee) and each Note shall become due and payable on the related Early Redemption Date at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon). The date on which such Early Redemption Notice is deemed to have been given shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

A "Note Tax Event" will occur if, following the occurrence of a Tax Substitution Event (as defined in Condition 11), the Issuer determines on or prior to the due date for the next payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes that it has not been or will not be able to arrange the relevant substitution or change of residence prior to such due date for payment.

## A "Collateral Tax Event" will occur if the Issuer:

- (I) is or will be unable to receive any payment due in respect of any Collateral in full on the due date therefor without a deduction for or on account of any withholding tax, back-up withholding or other tax, duties or charges of whatsoever nature imposed by any authority of any jurisdiction; and/or
- (II) is or will be required to pay any tax, duty or charge of whatsoever nature imposed by any authority of any jurisdiction in respect of any payment received in respect of any Collateral; and/or
- (III) is or will be required to comply with any reporting requirement of any authority of any jurisdiction in respect of any payment received in respect of any Collateral,

provided that the Issuer using reasonable efforts prior to the due date for the relevant payment is (or would be) unable to avoid such deduction(s), payment(s) and/or reporting requirements described in sub-paragraphs (I) to (III) of this definition by filing a valid declaration that it is not a resident of such jurisdiction and/or by executing any certificate, form or other document in order to make a claim under a double taxation treaty or other exemption available to it. If the action that the Issuer would be required to undertake so as to avoid any such deduction(s), payment(s) and/or reporting requirements would involve any material expense or is, in the sole opinion of the Issuer, unduly onerous the Issuer shall not be required to take any such action.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall not be required to monitor whether any Note Tax Event or Collateral Tax Event has occurred and shall have no obligation, responsibility or liability for giving or not giving any notice thereof to the Issuer. If the Issuer effectively gives a valid notice to the Trustee pursuant to this Condition 7(d) of the occurrence of a Note Tax Event or Collateral Tax Event the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such notice without further investigation.

- (ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the requirement to withhold, deduct or account for any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatsoever nature referred to in Condition 7(d)(i) above arises solely as a result of:
  - (I) any Noteholder's or Couponholder's connection with Ireland otherwise than by reason only of the holding of any Note or receiving or being entitled to any payment in respect thereof;
  - (II) a withholding or deduction imposed on a payment by or on behalf of the Issuer to an individual required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive;
  - (III) the presentation for payment of any Bearer Note, Receipt or Coupon by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Bearer Note, Receipt or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union; or
  - (IV) any withholding or deduction of a FATCA Withholding Tax from the amounts payable to any Noteholder pursuant to Condition 11,

then, to the extent possible, the Issuer shall deduct such taxes, duties or charges, as applicable, from the amount(s) payable to such Noteholder or Couponholder and, provided that payments to other Noteholders or Couponholders would not be impaired, the Issuer shall not give an Early Redemption Notice pursuant to Condition 7(d)(i). Any such deduction shall not constitute an Event of Default under Condition 12, a Liquidation Event under Condition 13 or an Enforcement Event under Condition 14.

#### (e) Redemption for a Collateral Call:

For the purpose of this Condition 7(e), references to "Collateral" shall exclude Posted Securities.

(i) Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i) or Condition 12, the Issuer shall, as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the occurrence of a Partial Collateral Call, give an Early Redemption Notice to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Trustee) and each Note shall become due and payable on the related Early Redemption Date at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon). The date on which such Early Redemption Notice is deemed to have been given shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Partial Collateral Call" means part (but not all) of the Collateral is called for redemption or repayment prior to its scheduled maturity date.

(ii) Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions, subject to Condition 7(e)(iii) and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i) or Condition 12, the Issuer shall, as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the

occurrence of a Collateral Call, give an Early Redemption Notice to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Trustee) and each Note shall become due and payable at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon) on the related Early Redemption Date. The date on which such Early Redemption Notice is deemed to have been given in respect of a Collateral Call shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Collateral Call" means all (but not part only) of the Collateral is called for redemption or repayment prior to its scheduled maturity date.

(iii) If, following the occurrence of a Collateral Call, any of the Collateral is not redeemed or repaid in full on the Collateral Early Payment Date (a "Collateral Early Payment Default"), the Issuer shall, as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the occurrence of such Collateral Early Payment Default, give notice (such notice an "Adjusted Collateral Call Early Redemption Notice") to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Trustee) and each Note shall not be redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(e)(ii) but shall be redeemed pursuant to this Condition 7(e)(iii) at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any accrued interest thereon) on the Early Redemption Date applicable under this Condition being the day which falls 15 Reference Business Days after the Early Redemption Trigger Date hereunder. The date on which such Adjusted Collateral Call Early Redemption Notice is deemed to have been given in respect of a Collateral Early Payment Default shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Collateral Early Payment Date" means, in respect of the Collateral and following the occurrence of a Collateral Call, the day on which the Collateral is scheduled to redeem or repay early (and if any securities, loans, deposits, shares, partnership interests, units in unit trusts or any other assets forming part of the Collateral are scheduled to redeem or repay early on two or more days, the Collateral Early Payment Date shall be the last of such days to occur in time).

"Reference Business Day" means (i) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in each of the places and on the days specified for that purpose in the applicable Terms and/or (ii) if "TARGET" or "TARGET Settlement Day" is specified under "Reference Business Day" in the applicable Terms, a TARGET Settlement Day.

(iv) For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall not be required to monitor whether any Partial Collateral Call, Collateral Call or Collateral Early Payment Default has occurred and shall have no obligation, responsibility or liability for giving or not giving any notice thereof to the Issuer. If the Issuer effectively gives a valid notice to the Trustee pursuant to this Condition 7(e) of the occurrence of a Partial Collateral Call, a Collateral Call and/or a Collateral Early Payment Default, as the case may be, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such notice without further investigation.

## (f) Redemption for Termination of Swap Agreement:

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i) or Condition 12, the Issuer shall, as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the occurrence of a Swap Termination Event, give an Early Redemption Notice to the Noteholders and each Note shall become due and payable on the related Early Redemption Date at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon). The "Early Redemption Trigger Date" in respect of such Swap Termination Event shall be (i) the day on which the relevant Swap Termination Notice to which the Swap Termination Event relates was effective, or (ii) if, in accordance with the terms of the Swap Agreement, the Early

Termination Date to which the Swap Termination Event relates occurs or is designated automatically or without notice the earliest effective date of the notice(s) given by the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty, as applicable, to the other of the occurrence or designation of such Early Termination Date.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall not be required to monitor whether any Swap Termination Event has occurred and shall have no obligation, responsibility or liability for giving or not giving any notice thereof to the Issuer. Until it has received express written notice to the contrary, the Trustee may assume that no Swap Termination Event has occurred.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Early Termination Date" has the meaning given to it in the Swap Agreement.

"Swap Termination Event" means that an Early Termination Date in respect of all outstanding Swap Transactions has been designated or deemed to have been designated by the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty, as applicable, under the Swap Agreement for any reason other than where such Early Termination Date is designated or deemed to have been designated as a result of the occurrence of an Early Redemption Trigger Date in respect of the Notes pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(g), 7(h), 7(i) or Condition 12.

"Swap Termination Notice" means a notice of termination given under the Swap Agreement by the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty, as the case may be, in connection with which an Early Termination Date is designated or is deemed to have been designated in respect of all outstanding Swap Transactions thereunder.

## (g) Redemption for Swap Counterparty Event:

If, prior to the Maturity Date, (i) pursuant to the terms of the Swap Agreement the Issuer becomes aware that it is able to exercise a right to designate an Early Termination Date in respect of all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement pursuant to the occurrence of a Swap Counterparty Event and such right is then continuing, (ii) no Early Termination Date has already been designated or occurred under the Swap Agreement and (iii) no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred under the Notes, the Issuer shall notify the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 22 and the Trustee of the same. Following delivery of such notice from the Issuer, the Trustee shall, if so requested by holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution, provided that the Trustee shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(f), 7(h), 7(i) or Condition 12, give notice to the Issuer and deliver an Early Redemption Notice to the Noteholders and each Note shall become due and payable on the related Early Redemption Date at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon). The date on which such Early Redemption Notice is deemed to have been given shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

The Trustee need not do anything to find out if a Swap Counterparty Event has occurred. Until it has received express written notice to the contrary, the Trustee may assume that no such event has occurred. If the Issuer notifies the Trustee of the occurrence of a Swap Counterparty Event, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such notification without further investigation.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Swap Counterparty Event" means, in accordance with the terms of the Swap Agreement, that an Event of Default (as defined in the Swap Agreement) has occurred with respect to the Swap Counterparty or a Termination Event has occurred where the Issuer has the right to designate an Early Termination Date in respect of all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement.

## (h) Redemption for a Bankruptcy Credit Event of Swap Counterparty:

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(f), 7(g), 7(i) or Condition 12, the Issuer shall, if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution resolving that a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred and that a notice of redemption in respect of the Series is to be given by the Issuer, give an Early Redemption Notice to the Noteholders and each Note shall become due and payable on the related Early Redemption Date at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon). The date on which such Early Redemption Notice is deemed to have been given shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Condition 19 or the Trust Deed, any Noteholder may deliver a request in writing to the Issuer (copied to the Determination Agent and the Trustee) requesting the Issuer to convene a meeting of Noteholders to be convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution to resolve that a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred and to instruct the Issuer to deliver an Early Redemption Notice in respect of the Notes. Any such request must (i) describe the Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event alleged to have occurred, and (ii) contain information that reasonably confirms that the Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred which in the sole opinion by the Issuer is satisfactory evidence of the occurrence of the Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event. Upon receipt of a valid request from a Noteholder satisfying the requirements outlined in the preceding sentence, the Issuer shall convene a meeting of Noteholders in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall not be required to monitor whether any Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred and shall have no obligation, responsibility or liability for giving or not giving any notice thereof to the Issuer. Until the Trustee has received express written notice to the contrary, the Trustee may assume that no Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Bankruptcy Credit Event" means the occurrence of a Credit Event as a result of Bankruptcy, and with each of Credit Event and Bankruptcy having the meaning given them in the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions.

"Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee" has the meaning given to it in the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions.

"ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions" means the 2014 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc..

"Resolved" has the meaning given to it in the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions.

"Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event" means that a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved that a Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred in respect of the Swap Counterparty, or any analogous determination has been made by a committee or person under any definitions that replace the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions as the market standard terms for credit derivatives or under any amendment or supplement of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions.

## (i) Redemption for Custodian Enforcement Event:

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions and provided that no Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount has already become due, the Issuer shall, as soon as practicable after receipt by it of an Enforcement Notice relating to a Custodian Enforcement Event and provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date or Early Redemption Date has already occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h) or Condition 12, give an Early Redemption Notice and each Note shall become due and payable on the related Early Redemption Date at its Early Redemption Amount (together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon).

## (j) Purchases:

If the Issuer has satisfied the Trustee that it has made arrangements for the realisation of no more than the equivalent proportion of the Collateral, for the reduction in the notional amount of the Swap Agreement and for the purchase of the Notes, which transactions will leave the Issuer with no assets or net liabilities in respect thereof, it may purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price.

## (k) Cancellation:

All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent and, in the case of Registered Notes, by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each case, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

## (1) Early Redemption Amount and Early Redemption Date:

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Early Redemption Amount" means, in respect of each Note outstanding on the relevant Early Redemption Date, the amount determined by the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent as applicable, equal to (i) the amount specified as such in the applicable Terms (or the amount determined in accordance with the formula or method for determining such amount specified therein), or (ii) if no amount is so specified, the outstanding nominal amount of such Note.

# "Early Redemption Date" means:

- (i) for the purposes of Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e)(i), 7(e)(iii), 7(f), 7(g) or 7(h) or Condition 12, the 15th Reference Business Day following the relevant Early Redemption Trigger Date;
- (ii) for the purposes of Condition 7(e)(ii) the later of the day which falls (a) three Reference Business Days after the Collateral Early Payment Date and (b) where the Issuer does not become aware of such Collateral Call on or prior to the third Reference Business Day immediately preceding the related Collateral Early Payment Date, six Reference Business Days after the earlier of the date of the Collateral Call Early Redemption Notice or the effective date of the notice from the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer of the occurrence of such Collateral Call (if any);
- (iii) for the purposes of Condition 7(i), the date on which the Enforcement Notice relating to the Custodian Enforcement Event is delivered by the Trustee to the Issuer.

"Early Redemption Notice" means an irrevocable notice from the Issuer or the Trustee, as the case may be, to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 22 and that gives notice that the Notes are to be redeemed under Condition 7 or Condition 12. An Early Redemption Notice must contain a description in reasonable detail of the facts relevant to the determination that the Notes are to be redeemed and must specify which of Conditions 7(c) to (i) or Condition 12 are applicable. A copy of any Early Redemption Notice shall also be sent by the Issuer or the Trustee, as the case may be, to all Transaction Parties, save that any failure to deliver a copy shall not invalidate the relevant Early Redemption Notice.

## 8. Calculations and Determinations, Rounding and Business Day Convention

(a) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts and Instalment Amounts:

The Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent as specified in the applicable Terms shall, as soon as practicable on each Interest Determination Date or on such other date and/or at such time as the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent, as applicable, may be required in accordance with the Conditions and the Transaction Documents, perform such duties and obligations as are required to be performed by it in accordance therewith including without limitation:

- (i) obtaining quotation(s) and calculating any rate(s) or amount(s) and making any determinations or calculations as may be required to determine the Interest Amount for each relevant Interest Accrual Period and Interest Payment Date and any relevant component thereof;
- (ii) cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, each other Transaction Party and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 22 and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, such exchange;
- (iii) obtaining quotation(s) and calculating any rate(s), value(s) or amount(s) and making any determinations or calculations as may be required to determine the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount, each Instalment Amount and any other amount as required pursuant to the Conditions or any Transaction Document and any relevant component thereof; and
- (iv) cause the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount, each Instalment Amount and any such other amount to be notified to the Issuer, each other Transaction Party and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 22 and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, such exchange.

Such calculations and determinations are to be so notified as soon as possible after their determination and in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Accrual Period or Interest Period, as the case may be, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the earlier of the date on which any relevant payment is due (if determined prior to such time) and the fourth Business Day after such determination.

The Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent, as applicable, shall only be liable to obtain any quotation and/or make any determination or calculation required in connection with the occurrence of an Early Redemption Trigger Date in respect of a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event upon the earlier of (i) it being notified by the Issuer or the Trustee of the occurrence of such Early Redemption Trigger Date and (ii) it reasonably determining that an Early Redemption Trigger Date has occurred.

Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 8(d), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made with the consent of the Trustee by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period.

If, in respect of any due date for redemption, payment of the full amount of principal due for redemption is not made, no publication of the daily rates determined in accordance with this Condition 8(a) to be used in the calculation of any Default Interest need be made unless the Trustee otherwise requires. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent, as applicable, shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties. If the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent, as applicable, at any time does not make any determination or calculation or take any action that it is required to do pursuant to the Conditions, it shall forthwith notify the Issuer, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent.

## (b) **Determination or Calculation by Trustee:**

If the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent, as applicable, does not at any time for any reason determine or calculate the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or any Interest

Amount, any Instalment Amount, the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount or any other amount, then the Trustee may appoint an agent on its behalf to make such determinations and calculations in place of the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent, as applicable. Any such determination or calculation made by the Trustee, or an agent on its behalf, shall, for the purposes of the Conditions and the Transaction Documents, be deemed to have been made by the Calculation Agent or the Determination Agent, as applicable. In doing so, the Trustee, or an agent on its behalf, shall apply the provisions of Conditions and/or the relevant Transaction Document(s), with any necessary consequential amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and, in all other respects it shall do so in such manner as it shall deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances.

## (c) Rounding:

For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to the Conditions (unless otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up) and (y) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded, if necessary, downwards to the nearest unit of such currency, save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these purposes "unit" means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country(ies) of such currency (e.g. one cent or one penny).

## (d) **Business Day Convention:**

If any date referred to in the Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified in the applicable Terms is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

## 9. **Payments and Talons**

## (a) Bearer Notes:

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is presented for payment together with its relative Note), Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 9(e)(v)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in Condition 9(e)(v)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with a Bank nominated by such holder presenting such Bearer Note.

"Bank" means a bank in the principal financial centre for such currency or in the case of euro in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.

## (b) Registered Notes:

(i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 9(b) shall include final Instalment Amounts but not other Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in Condition 9(b)(ii).

(ii) Interest (which for the purposes of this Condition 9(b) shall include all Instalment Amounts other than final Instalment Amounts) on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made in the relevant currency by transfer to an account nominated by such person shown in the Register in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank.

## (c) Payments in the United States:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.

# (d) Payments subject to Fiscal Laws:

All payments are subject in all cases to (i) any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 11 (Taxation) and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto (in each case without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 11 (Taxation)). No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or the Couponholders in respect of such payments.

## (e) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and Unexchanged Talons:

- (i) Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (ii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.
- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Note which is redeemable in instalments, all Receipts relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling on or after such due date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (iv) Where any Note is presented for redemption without all unmatured Receipts, unmatured Coupons and any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provisions of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.
- (v) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Note.

## (f) Talons:

On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if

necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void pursuant to Condition 18).

## (g) Non-Business Days:

If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, "business day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as "Financial Centres" in the applicable Terms and:

- (i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency; or
- (ii) (in the case of a payment in euro) which is a TARGET Business Day.

## 10. Agents

## (a) Appointment of Agents:

The Issuing and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents, the Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Determination Agent and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed in the applicable Terms. The Issuing and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents, the Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Determination Agent and the Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time with the approval of the Trustee (except that the approval of the Trustee shall not be required for the appointment of a replacement Disposal Agent, Determination Agent or Calculation Agent where Noteholders direct the Issuer to appoint such replacement pursuant to this Condition) to vary or terminate the appointment of the Issuing and Paying Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent, the Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Determination Agent or the Calculation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents, Transfer Agents, Custodians, Disposal Agent(s), Determination Agent(s) or Calculation Agent(s), provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) an Issuing and Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes, (iv) a Disposal Agent, (v) a Calculation Agent, (vi) a Determination Agent, (vii) a Custodian, (viii) a Paying Agent having its specified office in a major European city, (ix) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed, in each case as approved by the Trustee (subject as provided above) and (x) a Paying Agent with a specified office in a European Union Member State that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to any law implementing European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 9(c).

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 22.

## (b) **Appointment of Calculation Agent:**

The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be a Calculation Agent for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed). If the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest Amount, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount or to make any other calculation or determination required of it under the Conditions or the Agency Agreement, as the case may be, or fails to comply with any other material requirement under the Conditions, the Agency Agreement or

any other Transaction Document, and in each case such failure has not been remedied within a reasonable period, or a Calculation Agent Bankruptcy Event occurs, then the Issuer shall:

- (i) provided that a Determination Agent has been appointed in respect of the Notes and no Determination Agent Bankruptcy Event has occurred, subject to the consent of the Determination Agent, vary the appointment of the Determination Agent for such period as may be agreed between the Issuer and the Determination Agent (taking into account the time required for the Determination Agent to put in place the relevant systems and procedures) so as to include the determinations and calculations which the Calculation Agent is required to make pursuant to the Agency Agreement and the Conditions and any relevant Transaction Documents will be construed accordingly. In doing so, the Determination Agent will apply the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the Conditions and the other Transaction Documents, with any necessary consequential amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and in all other respects it shall do so in such manner as it shall deem fair and reasonable in the circumstances: and/or
- (ii) with the prior approval of the Trustee and, provided no Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event or Swap Counterparty Event has occurred, the Swap Counterparty, appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the interbank market or other appropriate market that is most closely connected with the calculation(s) and/or determination(s) to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market), to act as Calculation Agent; or
- (iii) if (x) a Determination Agent Bankruptcy Event or Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Event has occurred, (y) the Issuer has been instructed in writing by (I) the holders of all Notes then outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) or (II) the Trustee in accordance with an Extraordinary Resolution resolving that the Trustee give such instruction and (z) the Issuer has been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction for any costs, charges, fees and/or expenses the Issuer may incur in connection with the appointment of a replacement Calculation Agent (whether by one or more Noteholders, a Secured Creditor or any other third party), then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint the person nominated in such instruction as Calculation Agent in respect of the Notes. The Trustee shall not be obliged to give any such instruction to the Issuer unless the Trustee has been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Calculation Agent Bankruptcy Event" means (i) the Calculation Agent becomes incapable of acting, is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger), is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors, consents to the appointment of a receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official of either the entity or all or substantially all of its assets or admits in writing its inability to pay or meet its debts as they mature or suspends payment thereof, or if a resolution is passed or an order made for the winding-up, official management, liquidation or dissolution of such entity (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger), a receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official of either the entity or all or substantially all of its assets is appointed, a court order is entered approving a petition filed by or against it under applicable bankruptcy or insolvency law, or a public officer takes charge or control of the entity or its property or affairs for the purpose of liquidation, and/or (ii) a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved that a Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred in respect of the Calculation Agent, or any analogous determination has been made by a committee or person under any definitions that replace the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions as the market standard terms for credit derivatives or under any amendment or supplement of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions.

## (c) Appointment of Determination Agent:

Subject to the automatic termination of the appointment of the Determination Agent as a result of the occurrence of a Determination Agent Bankruptcy Event, the Issuer shall, if the applicable Terms specified that the Determination Agent is to make any calculations or determinations in respect of the Notes or the Swap Agreement, procure that there shall at all times be a Determination Agent for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed). If the Determination Agent fails duly to establish any rate, amount or value required to be determined by it or to make any other calculation or determination required of it under the Conditions or the Agency Agreement, as the case may be, or to comply with any other material requirement pursuant to Conditions, the Agency Agreement or any other Transaction Document, and in each case such failure has not been remedied within a reasonable period, or a Determination Agent Bankruptcy Event occurs, then the Issuer shall:

- (i) with the prior approval of the Trustee and, provided no Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event or Swap Counterparty Event has occurred, the Swap Counterparty, appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the interbank market or other appropriate market that is most closely connected with the calculation(s) and/or determination(s) to be made by the Determination Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market), to act as Determination Agent. The Determination Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid; or
- (ii) if the Issuer has been instructed in writing by (x) the holders of all Notes then outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) or (y) the Trustee in accordance with an Extraordinary Resolution resolving that the Trustee give such instruction and (z) the Issuer has been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction for any costs, charges, fees and/or expenses the Issuer may incur in connection with the appointment of a replacement Determination Agent (whether by one or more Noteholders, a Secured Creditor or any other third party), then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint the person nominated in such instruction as Determination Agent in respect of the Notes. The Trustee shall not be obliged to give any such instruction to the Issuer unless indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined term shall have the meaning set out below:

"Determination Agent Bankruptcy Event" means (i) the Determination Agent becomes incapable of acting, is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger), is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors, consents to the appointment of a receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official of either the entity or all or substantially all of its assets or admits in writing its inability to pay or meet its debts as they mature or suspends payment thereof, or if a resolution is passed or an order made for the winding-up, official management, liquidation or dissolution of such entity (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger), a receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official of either the entity or all or substantially all of its assets is appointed, a court order is entered approving a petition filed by or against it under applicable bankruptcy or insolvency law, or a public officer takes charge or control of the entity or its property or affairs for the purpose of liquidation, and/or (ii) a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved that a Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred in respect of the Determination Agent, or any analogous determination has been made by a committee or person under any definitions that replace the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions as the market standard terms for credit derivatives or under any amendment or supplement of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions.

## (d) Appointment of Disposal Agent:

Subject to the automatic termination of the appointment of the Disposal Agent as a result of the occurrence of a Disposal Agent Bankruptcy Event, the Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be a Disposal Agent for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed). If the Disposal Agent fails duly to establish any rate, amount or value required to be determined by it under the Conditions or any Transaction Document or to take the steps required of it under the Conditions or the Agency Agreement to Liquidate the Collateral (if any), as the case may be, or fails to comply with any other material requirement pursuant to Conditions, the Agency Agreement or

any other Transaction Document, or a Disposal Agent Bankruptcy Event occurs, then the Issuer shall:

- (i) with the prior approval of the Trustee and, provided no Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event or Swap Counterparty Event has occurred, the Swap Counterparty, appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the interbank market or other appropriate market that is most closely connected with the calculation(s) and/or determination(s) to be made by the Disposal Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market), to act as such in its place. The Disposal Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid; or
- (ii) if the Issuer has been instructed in writing by (x) the holders of all Notes then outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) or (y) the Trustee in accordance with an Extraordinary Resolution resolving that the Trustee give such instruction and (z) the Issuer has been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction for any costs, charges, fees and/or expenses the Issuer may incur in connection with the appointment of a replacement Disposal Agent (whether by one or more Noteholders, a Secured Creditor or any other third party), then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint the person nominated in such instruction as Disposal Agent in respect of the Notes. The Trustee shall not be obliged to give any such instruction to the Issuer unless indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined term shall have the meaning set out below:

"Disposal Agent Bankruptcy Event" means (i) the Disposal Agent becomes incapable of acting, is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger), is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors, consents to the appointment of a receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official of either the entity or all or substantially all of its assets or admits in writing its inability to pay or meet its debts as they mature or suspends payment thereof, or if a resolution is passed or an order made for the winding-up, official management, liquidation or dissolution of such entity (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger), a receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official of either the entity or all or substantially all of its assets is appointed, a court order is entered approving a petition filed by or against it under applicable bankruptcy or insolvency law, or a public officer takes charge or control of the entity or its property or affairs for the purpose of liquidation, and/or (ii) a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved that a Bankruptcy Credit Event has occurred in respect of the Disposal Agent, or any analogous determination has been made by a committee or person under any definitions that replace the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions as the market standard terms for credit derivatives or under any amendment or supplement of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions.

## 11. Taxation

Without prejudice to Condition 7(d), all payments in respect of the Notes will be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatsoever nature unless the Issuer or any Agent is required by applicable law to make any such payments in respect of the Notes subject to any withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatsoever nature. In that event, the Issuer or such Agent shall make such payment after such withholding or deduction has been made and shall account to the relevant authorities for the amount(s) so required to be withheld or deducted. Neither the Issuer nor any Agent will be obliged to make any additional payments to holders of Notes in respect of such withholding or deduction, or any other amounts withheld or deducted pursuant to Condition 9(d).

If the Issuer in good faith determines on or prior to the due date for the next payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes that it will or would but for any substitution or change of residence contemplated herein be required by any applicable law to withhold, deduct or account an amount for any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatsoever nature (including where such withholding or deduction is in respect of a FATCA Withholding Tax) or would suffer the same in respect of its income so that it would be unable to make in full the payment of such principal or interest in respect of the Notes (a "Tax Substitution Event"),

then the Issuer shall as soon as reasonably practicable upon becoming aware of such Tax Substitution Event so inform the Trustee. If a Tax Substitution Event occurs, the Issuer shall either:

- (i) use all reasonable endeavours to arrange for the substitution of a company incorporated in another jurisdiction approved beforehand in writing by the Trustee and the Swap Counterparty (provided that Rating Agency Affirmation has been received by the time of such substitution from each Rating Agency) as the principal obligor or to change (to the satisfaction of the Trustee and the Swap Counterparty (provided that Rating Agency Affirmation has been received at the time of such change from each Rating Agency)) its residence for taxation purposes to another jurisdiction approved beforehand in writing by the Trustee and the Swap Counterparty such that following such substitution or change of residence no Tax Substitution Event will exist; or
- (ii) in respect of any withholding or deduction in respect of a FATCA Withholding Tax and to the extent that it is able to do so, deduct such FATCA Withholding Tax from the amounts payable to the relevant Noteholder. This shall not affect the rights of any other Noteholders hereunder and the Issuer shall not be required by reason of such deduction to endeavour to arrange for its substitution or change of residence, each as describe above, or redeem the Notes. Any such deduction shall not constitute an Event of Default under Condition 12.

The Issuer (or any nominated service provider) shall be entitled to require Noteholders, Couponholders or holders of Receipts to provide any information regarding their tax status, identity or residency in order to satisfy any reporting requirements which the Issuer may have as a result of FATCA and investors will be deemed, by their subscription for or holding of the Notes, Coupons or Receipts to have authorised the automatic disclosure of such information by the Issuer (or any nominated service provider) or any other person to the relevant tax authorities.

The Issuer (or any nominated service provider) will agree that information (including the identity of any Noteholder, Couponholder or holder of Receipts) supplied for purposes of FATCA compliance is intended for the Issuer's (or any nominated service provider's) use for purposes of satisfying FATCA requirements and the Issuer (or any nominated service provider) will agree, to the extent permitted by applicable law, that it will take reasonable steps to treat such information in a confidential manner, except that the Issuer may disclose such information (i) to its officers, directors, agents and advisors, (ii) to the extent reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with tax matters, including achieving FATCA compliance, (iii) to any person with the consent of the applicable Noteholder, Couponholder or holder of Receipts or (iv) as otherwise required by law or court order or on the advice of its advisors.

## 12. Events of Default

If any of the following events (each an "Events of Default") occurs, provided that no Early Redemption Trigger Date has occurred pursuant to Condition 7(c), 7(d), 7(e), 7(f), 7(g), 7(h) or 7(i), the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested by holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (provided that the Trustee shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer and each Transaction Party (such notice being an "Early Redemption Notice") that all but not some only of the Notes shall become due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount on the Early Redemption Date:

- (a) default is made for more than 14 calendar days in the payment of any interest or Instalment Amount in respect of the Notes or any of them, other than any interest or Instalment Amount due and payable on the Maturity Date;
- (b) the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other obligations under the Notes or the Trust Deed, which default is incapable of remedy or, if in the opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy, is not in the opinion of the Trustee remedied within 30 calendar days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee; or
- (c) the Issuer: (1) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger on terms previously approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution); (2) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due; (3) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors; (4)(A) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or

any similar official with insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official, or (B) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in clause (A) above and results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation; (5) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger on terms previously approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution); (6) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; or (7) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in clauses (1) to (6) above (inclusive).

For the purposes of the Conditions and the Transaction Documents, in relation to an Events of Default the date on which the related Early Redemption Notice is deemed to be given shall be an "Early Redemption Trigger Date".

The Issuer has undertaken in the Principal Trust Deed that, in September of each year and within 14 calendar days of any request from the Trustee, it will send to the Trustee a certificate signed by a Director to the effect that, having made all reasonable enquiries, to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Issuer as at a date not more than five days before the date of delivery of the certificate no Event of Default or event or circumstance that could with the giving of notice, lapse of time and/or issue of a certificate become an Event of Default had occurred since the certification date of the last such certificate or (if none) the date of such Principal Trust Deed or, if such an event had occurred, giving details of it.

#### 13. Liquidation

## (a) Liquidation Event:

Upon the Issuer becoming aware of the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, it shall send a notice thereof to the Disposal Agent, the Trustee and the Custodian as soon as is reasonably practicable, provided that if at such time the Issuer would be required to use its reasonable efforts to appoint a replacement Disposal Agent pursuant to Condition 10, then such notice shall be provided to such replacement Disposal Agent (if any) upon its appointment as Disposal Agent.

The Disposal Agent need not do anything to find out if a Liquidation Event has occurred. Prior to receipt by it of a Liquidation Commencement Notice, the Disposal Agent may assume that no such event has occurred.

The Disposal Agent shall be entitled to rely on a Liquidation Commencement Notice without investigation of whether the relevant Liquidation Event has occurred, save that in the case of notice from one or more Noteholders of the occurrence of a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event, the Disposal Agent shall be required to verify that such event has occurred by checking "www.isda.org" or any such successor website of ISDA or any other media outlet which may be used by the DC Secretary (as defined in the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees Rules as supplemented, amended or updated form time to time (the "DC Rules")) as a replacement for purposes of publication of information that the DC Secretary is required to publish in accordance with such DC Rules. Any Liquidation Commencement Notice delivered by the Issuer, the Trustee, any Noteholder and/or the Swap Counterparty shall not be valid and the Disposal Agent shall not take any action in relation thereto if the Disposal Agent has already received a valid Liquidation Commencement Notice in respect of the same or a prior Liquidation Event or the Disposal Agent has been notified by the Trustee that (i) an Enforcement Event has occurred, (ii) it is enforcing the Security and (iii) the Disposal Agent is to cease its activities in relation to the Collateral.

## (b) Liquidation Process:

Following receipt by it of a valid Liquidation Commencement Notice and, where the Liquidation Commencement Notice relates to a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event, after the Disposal Agent having verified the occurrence of a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event as provided in Condition 13(a), the Disposal Agent shall, on behalf of the Issuer, so far as is practicable in the circumstances and to the extent that such Collateral is outstanding, effect an orderly Liquidation of the Collateral with a view to Liquidating all the Collateral on or prior to the Early Redemption Date or Relevant Payment Date, as applicable, and provided that the Disposal Agent shall have no liability if the Liquidation of all Collateral has not been effected by such date. If the Collateral has not been Liquidated in full by such date, the Disposal Agent shall continue in its attempts to effect a Liquidation of the Collateral until such time (if any) as it is instructed by the Issuer to the contrary or until notified by the Trustee that (i) an Enforcement Event has occurred, (ii) the Trustee is enforcing the Security and (iii) the Disposal Agent is to cease its activities in relation to the Collateral.

The Disposal Agent may take such steps as it considers appropriate in order to effect such Liquidation, including but not limited to selecting the method of Liquidating any Collateral. The Disposal Agent must effect any Liquidation as soon as reasonably practicable and in a commercially reasonable manner, even where a larger amount could possibly be received in respect of such Collateral if any such Liquidation were to be delayed. Subject to such requirement, the Disposal Agent shall be entitled to effect any Liquidation by way of one or multiple transactions on a single or multiple day(s). In accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Condition 4(d), following the occurrence of a Liquidation Event and delivery of a valid Liquidation Commencement Notice, the Security shall be released without further action on the part of the Trustee to the extent necessary for the Disposal Agent to effect the Liquidation of the Collateral. Nothing in this Condition 13(b) or Condition 4(d) will operate to release the charges and other security interests over the proceeds of the Liquidation of the Collateral. The Disposal Agent will not be liable to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Swap Counterparty, the Noteholders, the Couponholders, holders of Receipts or any other person merely because a larger amount could have been received had any such Liquidation been delayed or had the Disposal Agent selected a different method of Liquidating any such Collateral. Notwithstanding the obligations of the Disposal Agent pursuant to this Condition 13(b), the Disposal Agent shall not effect a Liquidation of any Collateral which is due to be redeemed or repaid on or before the day falling three Reference Business Days prior to the Early Redemption Date or Relevant Payment Date, as applicable, unless a Liquidation Default has occurred in respect thereof prior to or on such day.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Liquidation" means, in respect of any Collateral, the realisation of such Collateral for cash proceeds whether by way of sale, early redemption, early repayment or agreed termination or by such other means as the Disposal Agent determines appropriate or in any other manner specified in the applicable Terms and "Liquidate", "Liquidated" and "Liquidating" shall be construed accordingly.

"Liquidation Commencement Notice" means (i) a notice in writing to the Disposal Agent from the Issuer or the Trustee, as applicable, of the occurrence of a Liquidation Event and each Early Redemption Notice and Swap Termination Notice given or copied to the Disposal Agent shall constitute a Liquidation Commencement Notice for these purposes, (ii) with respect to a Liquidation Event relating to a failure to pay the Final Redemption Amount or any interest or Instalment Amount that became due and payable on the Maturity Date, a notice in writing to the Disposal Agent from the Issuer, the Trustee or any Noteholder of the occurrence of such Liquidation Event, and (iii) with respect to a Liquidation Event relating to a Swap Counterparty Bankruptcy Credit Event only, a notice in writing to the Disposal Agent from the Issuer, the Trustee or any Noteholder of the occurrence of such Liquidation Event.

"Liquidation Default" means, in respect of any Collateral, either (a) a Collateral Obligor Failure to Pay has occurred in respect of such Collateral or (b) a Collateral Obligor Bankruptcy has occurred in respect of the Collateral Obligor of such Collateral.

## "Liquidation Event" means:

(i) default is made in the payment of (a) the Final Redemption Amount or (b) any interest or Instalment Amount that becomes due and payable on the Maturity Date;

- (ii) the occurrence of an Early Redemption Trigger Date other than pursuant to Condition 7(e)(ii) in respect of a Collateral Call; or
- (iii) following the occurrence of a Collateral Call pursuant to Condition 7(e)(ii), default is made in the payment of the Early Redemption Amount due and payable on the relevant Early Redemption Date (other than as a result of a Collateral Early Payment Default); or
- (iv) the occurrence of a Swap Termination Event.

"Relevant Payment Date" means in the case of a Liquidation relating to a Liquidation Event arising due to the failure to pay the Final Redemption Amount or any interest or Instalment Amount that became due and payable on the Maturity Date, the day which falls 15 Reference Business Days after the Maturity Date.

## (c) **Proceeds of Liquidation:**

The Disposal Agent shall not be liable:

- (i) to account for anything except actual proceeds of the Collateral received by it which, upon receipt, shall automatically become subject to the Security created by the Trust Deed; or
- (ii) for any taxes, costs, charges, losses, damages, liabilities, fees, commissions or expenses arising from or connected with any Liquidation or from any act or omission in relation to the Collateral or otherwise unless such taxes, costs, charges, losses, damages, liabilities or expenses shall be caused by its own fraud or wilful default.

In addition, the Disposal Agent shall not be obliged to pay to the Issuer, any Transaction Party, any Noteholder or any Couponholder interest on any proceeds from any Liquidation held by it at any time.

## (d) Costs and Expenses:

The Disposal Agent may at any time prior to it remitting the Liquidation proceeds to the Issuer or Trustee, as the case may be, deduct therefrom any and all taxes, costs, charges, losses, damages, expenses, liabilities, fees or commissions incurred by it for or on behalf of the Issuer in connection with any Liquidation.

## (e) Good Faith of Disposal Agent:

In effecting any Liquidation, the Disposal Agent shall act in good faith and, subject as provided above, in respect of any sale, early repayment, early redemption or agreed termination in respect of the Collateral, shall agree a price that it reasonably believes to be representative of or better than the price available in the market for the sale of such Collateral in the appropriate size taking into account the total amount of Collateral to be sold, repaid, redeemed or terminated.

## (f) Disposal Agent to use all Reasonable Care:

The Disposal Agent shall use all reasonable care in the performance of its duties hereunder but shall not be responsible for any loss or damage suffered by any party as a result of the Disposal Agent's performing its duties hereunder save that the Disposal Agent's liability to the Issuer shall not be so limited where the loss or damage results from the fraud or wilful default of the Disposal Agent.

## (g) No Relationship of Agency or Trust:

The Disposal Agent shall not have any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust with any Noteholder, Couponholder or other Transaction Party.

# (h) Consultations on Legal Matters:

The Disposal Agent may consult on any legal matter any reputable legal adviser of international standing selected by it, who may be an employee of or adviser to the Issuer, and it shall not be liable in respect of anything done or omitted to be done relating to that matter in good faith in accordance with that adviser's opinion.

## (i) Reliance on Documents:

The Disposal Agent shall not be liable in respect of anything done or suffered by it in reliance on a document it reasonably believed to be genuine and to have been signed by the proper parties or on information to which it should properly have regard and which it reasonably believed to be genuine and to have been originated by the proper parties.

# (j) Entry into Contracts and other Transactions:

The Disposal Agent may enter into any contracts or any other transactions or arrangements with any of the Issuer, any other Transaction Party, any Noteholder, any Couponholder or any Collateral Obligor or any affiliate of any of them (whether in relation to the Notes, the Collateral, the Security, an Obligation or any other transaction or obligation whatsoever) and may hold or deal in or be a party to the assets, obligations or agreements of which the relevant Collateral form a part and other assets, obligations or agreements of any Collateral Obligor in respect of the Collateral. The Disposal Agent shall not be required to disclose any such contract, transaction or arrangement to any Noteholder, Couponholder or other Transaction Party and shall be in no way accountable to the Issuer or (save as otherwise provided in this Agency Agreement and the Conditions) to any Noteholder, Couponholder or any other Transaction Party for any profits or benefits arising from any such contract, transaction(s) or arrangement(s).

## (k) Illegality:

The Disposal Agent shall not be liable to effect a Liquidation of any of the Collateral if it determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that any such Liquidation of some or all of the Collateral in accordance with Condition 13 would or might require or result in a violation of any applicable law or regulation of Ireland or any other relevant jurisdiction, including any insolvency prohibition or moratorium on the disposal of assets, or that for any other reason it is not possible for it to dispose of the Collateral (even at zero), and the Disposal Agent notifies the Issuer and the Trustee of the same.

## (1) Sales to Affiliates:

In effecting any Liquidation, the Disposal Agent may sell any Collateral to affiliates of itself or affiliates of the Swap Counterparty provided that the Disposal Agent sells at a price that it believes to be a fair market price.

## (m) **Notification of Enforcement Event:**

Upon the Trustee effectively giving an Enforcement Notice to the Disposal Agent following the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, the Disposal Agent shall cease to effect any further Liquidation of any Collateral and shall take no further action to Liquidate any Collateral, save that any transaction entered into in connection with the Liquidation prior to the effective date of any such Enforcement Notice shall be settled and the Disposal Agent shall take any steps and action necessary to settle such transaction and/or which is incidental thereto.

## (n) Transfer of Collateral:

In effecting any Liquidation, the Disposal Agent may sell any Collateral to itself (subject to subparagraph (l) above) or to any third party, provided that the price for such Collateral is paid to the Custodian or to the order of the Issuer. The Disposal Agent shall not have the right to transfer the Collateral to itself or to any of its affiliates other than in connection with a sale thereof to the Custodian or one of its affiliates, as applicable, and provided that such sale is executed on a delivery versus payment basis.

## 14. Enforcement of Security

## (a) Trustee to Enforce Security:

At any time after the Trustee becomes aware of the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, it may and (i) if so requested by holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding, (ii) if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution, (iii) if so directed the Swap Counterparty or (iv) in the case of a Custodian Enforcement Event only, if so directed by the Custodian, shall, provided in each case that the Trustee shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction, enforce the Security constituted by the Trust Deed and/or any other Security Documents (if applicable).

## (b) **Enforcement Notice:**

Prior to taking any steps to enforce the Security, the Trustee shall notify the Issuer, the Custodian and any Disposal Agent appointed at that time (such notice being an "Enforcement Notice") that (i) the Trustee intends to enforce the Security constituted by the Trust Deed and/or any other Security Documents (if applicable) and specifying in reasonable detail the nature of the Enforcement Event and (ii) the Disposal Agent is to cease to effect any further Liquidation of the Collateral (if such Liquidation is taking place) save that any transaction entered into in connection with the Liquidation on or prior to the effective date of such Enforcement Notice shall be settled and the Disposal Agent shall take any steps necessary to settle such transaction.

## (c) Enforcement of Security:

In order to enforce the Security the Trustee may:

- (i) sell, call in, collect and convert the Mortgaged Property into money in such manner and on such terms as it shall think fit, and the Trustee may, at its discretion, take possession of all or part of the Mortgaged Property over which the Security shall have become enforceable;
- (ii) take such action against any Collateral Obligor as it deems appropriate but without any liability to the Noteholders or Couponholders as to the consequence of such action and without having regard to the effect of such action on individual Noteholders or Couponholders; and
- (iii) take any such other action or enter into any such other proceedings as it deems appropriate (including, without limitation, taking possession of all or any of the Mortgaged Property and/or appointing a receiver) as are permitted under the terms of the Trust Deed.

The Trustee shall not be required to take any action in relation to the enforcement of the Security that would involve any personal liability or expense without first being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

## (d) **Enforcement Events:**

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined term shall have the meaning set out below:

"Enforcement Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (i) the Issuer fails to pay (a) the Final Redemption Amount and/or (b) any interest or Instalment Amount that becomes due and payable on the Maturity Date, and, in each case, has not paid any such amount (together with any Default Interest accrued thereon) by the Relevant Payment Date;
- (ii) following the occurrence of an Early Redemption Trigger Date other than pursuant to Condition 7(e)(ii) in respect of a Collateral Call, payment in respect of the Early Redemption Amount in respect of the Notes is not made on the Early Redemption Date;

- (iii) following payment in full by the Issuer of any amount that has become due and payable to the Noteholders and the Couponholders (whether before or after the Maturity Date), the failure by the Issuer to pay any amount due and payable to the Swap Counterparty on the relevant due date for payment under the Swap Agreement;
- (iv) following the occurrence of an Early Redemption Trigger Date in respect of a Collateral Call pursuant to Condition 7(e)(ii), default is made for 15 Reference Business Days in the payment of the Early Redemption Amount due and payable on the relevant Early Redemption Date (other than as a result of a Collateral Early Payment Default); and/or
- (v) the Issuer has failed to make payment of any fees, costs, charges, expenses or liabilities due to the Custodian under the Custody Agreement and (i) such failure has not been remedied on or before the 30th Reference Business Day after notice of such failure has been given to the Issuer (copied to the Arranger, the Swap Counterparty, the Disposal Agent and the Trustee) and (ii) the aggregate unpaid amounts are greater than USD 500,000 or, where any such amount is not denominated in U.S. dollars, its equivalent in U.S. dollars (as determined by the Custodian in a commercially reasonable manner as of the date on which notice of such failure is given to the Issuer by the Custodian and with the relevant exchange rate being as specified in such notice) (and with an Enforcement Event under this paragraph (v) being a "Custodian Enforcement Event").

## 15. **Application of Proceeds**

## (a) Application of Proceeds of Liquidation:

Following the Liquidation in full of the Collateral as a result of a Liquidation Event the Issuer shall, on the Early Redemption Date or Relevant Payment Date, as applicable (or, if later, the date falling two Reference Business Days after all the Collateral has been liquidated in full and the cash proceeds have been received by or on behalf of the Issuer) apply the Available Proceeds as follows:

- (A) first, in payment or satisfaction of the fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities (if any) of, and any other amount payable to, the Trustee or any agent, delegate or other appointee thereof under the Trust Deed (including any taxes required to be paid and the Trustee's remuneration);
- (B) secondly, *pro rata* and *pari passu* in payment of any amounts owing to the Custodian for reimbursement in respect of payments made by it in accordance with the terms of the Custody Agreement relating to sums receivable on or in respect of the relevant Collateral (if any) and in payment of any amounts owing to the Issuing and Paying Agent for reimbursement in respect of payments made in accordance with the terms of the Agency Agreement to any person in discharge of a Secured Payment Obligation;
- (C) thirdly, in payment of any fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities then due and payable to the Custodian under the Custody Agreement;
- (D) fourthly, in payment of any amounts owing to the Swap Counterparty under the Swap Agreement (if any);
- (E) fifthly, in payment of (i) the Early Redemption Amount, (ii) the Final Redemption Amount or (iii) any interest or Instalment Amount due and payable on the Maturity Date, as the case may be, and, in each case, any interest accrued thereon (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include Default Interest) to the holders of Notes; and
- (F) sixthly, in payment rateably of the Residual Amount (if any) to the Issuer,

save that no such application shall be made (i) at any time following an Enforcement Notice having been delivered by the Trustee following the occurrence of an Enforcement Event and (ii) until such time as the amount owing to or from the Swap Counterparty under the Swap Agreement (if any) and the Early Redemption Amount, Final Redemption Amount and any interest or Instalment Amount

due and payable on the Maturity Date, as applicable, have been determined pursuant to the terms of the Conditions and/or the relevant Transaction Document, as applicable.

Any Secured Creditor that has a claim in respect of more than one Secured Payment Obligation may rank differently in respect of each Secured Payment Obligation.

In the Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined term shall have the meaning set out below:

"Available Proceeds" means with respect to a Liquidation Event or an Enforcement Event, all sums derived from a Liquidation of the Collateral (if any) for the Notes, any amount paid by the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer as a result of the termination of all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement (if any) relating to the Notes and all other sums available to the Issuer or the Trustee, as the case may be, derived from the Mortgaged Property for such Series.

"Residual Amount" means, with respect to an application of Available Proceeds in connection with a Liquidation Event or an Enforcement Event, as applicable, all remaining proceeds (if any) after the application of the Available Proceeds to satisfy the payments set out in paragraphs (A) to (E) of Condition 15(a) or (b), as applicable.

## (b) Application of Proceeds of Enforcement of the Security:

Subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Security Documents, with effect from the effective date of any Enforcement Notice delivered by the Trustee following the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, the Trustee will hold the Available Proceeds received by it under the Trust Deed on trust to apply them as follows:

- (A) first, in payment or satisfaction of the fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities (if any) of, and any other amount payable to, the Trustee or any receiver or any agent, delegate or other appointee thereof under the Trust Deed (including any taxes required to be paid, the cost of realising any Security and the Trustee's remuneration);
- (B) secondly, *pro rata* and *pari passu* in payment of any amounts owing to the Custodian for reimbursement in respect of payments made by it in accordance with the terms of the Custody Agreement relating to sums receivable on or in respect of the relevant Collateral and in payment of any amounts owing to the Issuing and Paying Agent for reimbursement in respect of payments made in accordance with the terms of the Agency Agreement to any person in discharge of a Secured Payment Obligation;
- (C) thirdly, in payment of any fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities then due and payable to the Custodian under the Custody Agreement;
- (D) fourthly, in payment of any amounts owing to the Swap Counterparty under the Swap Agreement;
- (E) fifthly, in payment of (i) the Early Redemption Amount, (ii) the Final Redemption Amount or (iii) any interest or Instalment Amount due and payable on the Maturity Date, as the case may be, and, in each case, any interest accrued thereon (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include Default Interest) to the holders of Notes; and
- (F) sixthly, in payment rateably of the Residual Amount (if any) to the Issuer.

Any Secured Creditor that has a claim in respect of more than one Secured Payment Obligation may rank differently in respect of each Secured Payment Obligation.

If, following a Liquidation Event or an Enforcement Event, the available cash sums pursuant to Condition 15(a) or 15(b), as applicable, are insufficient for the holders of Notes to receive payment in full of (i) the Early Redemption Amount, (ii) the Final Redemption Amount or (iii) any interest or Instalment Amount due and payable on the Maturity Date, as the case may be, and, in each case,

any interest accrued thereon, the holders of Notes will receive an amount which is less than any such amount and the provisions of Condition 17 will apply.

# (c) Foreign Exchange Conversion:

To the extent that any proceeds payable to any party pursuant to this Condition 15 are not in the Relevant Currency, then such proceeds shall be converted at such rate or rates, in accordance with such method and as at such date as may reasonably be specified by the Disposal Agent (prior to the Trustee enforcing the Security pursuant to Security Documents and as described in Condition 14) or the Trustee (following the Trustee enforcing the Security pursuant to Security Documents and as described in Condition 14), but having regard to current rates of exchange, if available. Any rate, method and date so specified shall be binding on the Issuer, the Noteholders, the Couponholders, the Swap Counterparty and the Custodian.

For such purposes, "**Relevant Currency**" means the currency in which the Notes are denominated unless otherwise specified in the applicable Terms.

# 16. **Enforcement of Rights**

Only the Trustee may pursue the remedies available under the Trust Deed to enforce the rights of the Secured Creditors under the Trust Deed, any other Security Document and the Conditions and none of the Noteholders, the Couponholders, the other Secured Creditors or the other Transaction Parties is entitled to proceed against the Issuer in respect of any such remedy unless the Trustee, having become bound to proceed in accordance with the terms of the Security Documents, fails or neglects to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing.

The Trustee shall in no circumstances be obliged to take any action, step or proceeding whether pursuant to the Trust Deed, any other Security Document or otherwise that would involve any personal liability or expense without first being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

# 17. Limited Recourse and Non-Petition

# (a) General Limited Recourse:

In respect of the Notes, the Transaction Parties, the Noteholders and the Couponholders shall have recourse only to the Mortgaged Property, subject always to the Security, and not to any other assets of the Issuer. If after (i) the Mortgaged Property is exhausted (whether following Liquidation or enforcement of the Security) and (ii) the Available Proceeds are applied as provided in Condition 15(a) or 15(b) (as applicable), any outstanding claim against the Issuer in relation to the Notes or the Transaction Documents relating to the Notes remains unpaid, then such outstanding claim shall be extinguished and no debt shall be owed by the Issuer in respect thereof. Following extinguishment in accordance with this Condition 17(a), none of the Transaction Parties, the Noteholders, the Couponholders or any other person acting on behalf of any of them shall be entitled to take any further steps against the Issuer or any of its officers, shareholders, corporate service providers or directors to recover any further sum in respect of the extinguished claim and no debt shall be owed to any such persons by the Issuer in respect of such further sum.

### (b) **Non-Petition:**

None of the Transaction Parties, the Noteholders, the Couponholders or any person acting on behalf of any of them may at any time institute, or join with any other person in bringing, instituting or joining, insolvency, administration, bankruptcy, winding-up, examinership or any other similar proceedings (whether court-based or otherwise) in relation to the Issuer or any of its assets, and none of them shall have any claim arising with respect to the assets and/or property attributable to any other notes issued by the Issuer (save for any further notes which form a single series with the Notes) or Obligations of the Issuer.

### (c) Survival:

The provisions of this Condition 17 shall survive notwithstanding any redemption of the Notes or the termination or expiration of any Transaction Document.

# 18. **Prescription**

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which, for this purpose, shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within ten years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

### 19. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution

### (a) Meetings of Noteholders:

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of the Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than ten per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution shall be one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes, any Instalment Date or any date for payment of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount in respect of the Notes, (iv) if any Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Terms as being subject to a maximum or minimum amount or value, to reduce any such minimum and/or maximum, (v) to vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the Final Redemption Amount or the Early Redemption Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes, (vii) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the Extraordinary Resolution, (viii) to modify the provisions of the Trust Deed concerning this exception or this Condition 19(a) or (ix) to modify Condition 4, in which case the necessary quorum ("Special Quorum") shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than 75 per cent. or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25 per cent. of the Notes for the time being outstanding in accordance with the Trust Deed. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present at or participated in the meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on the holders of Coupons, Receipts and Talons.

The Trust Deed provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding shall for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed at a meeting for which the Special Quorum was satisfied) be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders. Such a resolution will be binding on all Noteholders, whether or not they participated in such written resolution, and on the holders of Coupons, Receipts and Talons.

# (b) Modification of the Trust Deed:

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, to (i) any modification of any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of the Transaction Documents that is in its opinion of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error, and (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of the Transaction Documents that is in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders and, if the Trustee so requires, such modification shall be notified by the

Issuer to the Noteholders as soon as practicable. The Issuer shall notify each Rating Agency of any modification made by it in accordance with this Condition 19(b).

# (c) Substitution:

The Trust Deed contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree, subject to such amendment of the Trust Deed and such other conditions as the Trustee may require, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders but subject to the prior written consent of the Swap Counterparty, to the substitution of any other company in place of the Issuer, or of any previous substituted company, as principal debtor under the Trust Deed and the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons, as applicable, provided that Rating Agency Affirmation has been received at the time of substitution from each Rating Agency. In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, to a change of the law governing the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons, the Talons and/or the Trust Deed provided that such change would not in the opinion of the Trustee be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders and that Rating Agency Affirmation has been received at the time of such change from each Rating Agency. Under the Trust Deed, the Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure the substitution as principal debtor under the Trust Deed and the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons of a company incorporated in some other jurisdiction if a Tax Substitution Event occurs, subject to the approval of the Swap Counterparty and provided that Rating Agency Affirmation has been received at the time of substitution from each Rating Agency.

# (d) **Entitlement of the Trustee:**

In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition 19) the Trustee shall have regard to the general interests of the Noteholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their number) and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders.

## 20. Replacement of Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

If a Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority regulations, at the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent in the applicable Terms (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and of the Registrar (in the case of Certificates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 22, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, *inter alia*, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Receipt or Coupon is subsequently presented for payment, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

# 21. Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders but subject to Condition 5 create and issue further notes or other Obligations either having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the Notes or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. Any such further notes shall only form a single series with the Notes (unless otherwise approved by an Extraordinary Resolution) if the Issuer provides additional assets as security for such further notes which are fungible with, and have the same proportionate composition as, those forming part of the Mortgaged Property for the Notes and in the same proportion that the nominal amount of such new notes bears to the Notes and the Issuer enters into an additional or supplemental Swap Agreement extending the terms of any existing Swap Agreement to the new notes on terms no less favourable than such existing documents and agreements. Any new notes forming a single series with the Notes shall be constituted and secured by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed, such further security shall be added to the Mortgaged Property so that the new notes and the existing Notes shall be secured by the same Mortgaged

Property and references in the Conditions to "Notes", "Collateral", "Mortgaged Property", the "Swap Agreement", "Secured Payment Obligations" and "Secured Creditor" shall be construed accordingly. The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the holders of the Notes and the holders of notes of other specified series in certain circumstances where the Trustee so decides.

#### 22. Notices

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register and deemed to have been given on the day it is delivered in the case of recorded delivery and three calendar days (excluding Saturdays and Sundays) in the case of inland post or seven calendar days (excluding Saturdays and Sundays) in the case of overseas post after despatch or if earlier when delivered, save that for purposes only of determining any Early Redemption Trigger Date the relevant Early Redemption Notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date despatched. Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*). If in the opinion of the Trustee any such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made, as provided above.

Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition 22.

Notices from the holders of Notes to the Issuer, the Trustee or the Calculation Agent shall be in writing and mailed to the specified office of the relevant party (in each case with a copy of such notice to the specified office of the Trustee and the Issuer) or to such other address as may be notified to the holders of Notes as set out in this Condition 22. Any such notice shall be effective when the actual notice is delivered. For the purpose of determining when such notice shall be effective the delivery of the copies of such notice shall not be relevant.

#### 23. Indemnification and Obligations of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee, for its relief from responsibility including for the exercise of any voting rights in respect of the Collateral, for the validity, sufficiency and enforceability (which the Trustee has not investigated) of the Security created over the Mortgaged Property and for the limitation or exclusion of the Trustee's liability in certain circumstances. The Trustee is not obliged or required to take any action under the Trust Deed which may involve it in incurring any personal liability or expense unless indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. The Trustee and any affiliate are entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer, any Collateral Obligor or Swap Counterparty or any of their subsidiaries, holding or associated companies without accounting to the Noteholders or Couponholders for profit resulting therefrom.

The Trustee is exempted from liability with respect to any loss or theft or reduction in value of the Collateral, from any obligation to insure or to procure the insuring of the Collateral and from any claim arising from the fact that the Collateral will be held in safe custody by the Custodian or any custodian selected by the Trustee (in each case, if applicable). The Trustee is not responsible for monitoring or supervising the performance by any other person of its obligations to the Issuer and may assume these are being performed unless and until it has actual knowledge to the contrary.

The Trust Deed provides that in acting as Trustee under the Trust Deed the Trustee does not assume any duty or responsibility to the Swap Counterparty, the Custodian or the Issuing and Paying Agent or any other Transaction Party (other than to pay to any of such parties any moneys received and repayable to it and to act in accordance with the provisions of Condition 15) and shall have regard solely to the interests of the Noteholders.

# 24. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

# 25. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

# (a) Governing Law:

The Trust Deed, the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

# (b) Jurisdiction:

The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons ("**Proceedings**") may be brought in such courts. The Issuer has in the Trust Deed irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts.

# (c) Service of Process:

The Issuer has irrevocably appointed pursuant to the Trust Deed an agent in England to receive, for it and on its behalf, service of process in any Proceedings in England.

### SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

#### **Initial Issue of Notes**

If the Global Notes or the Global Certificates are stated in the applicable Terms to be issued in NGN form or to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure, the Global Notes or the Global Certificates will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper. Depositing the Global Notes or the Global Certificates with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.

Global Notes which are issued in CGN form and Global Certificates which are not held under the New Safekeeping Structure may be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Depositary.

If the Global Note is a CGN, upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the "Common Depositary") or registration of Registered Notes in the name of any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and delivery of the relative Global Certificate to the Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. If the Global Note is an NGN, the nominal amount of the Notes shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. The records of such clearing system shall be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by the Global Note and a statement issued by such clearing system at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant clearing system at that time.

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of subscribers with (if indicated in the applicable Terms) other clearing systems through direct or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg held by other clearing systems. Conversely, Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or other clearing systems.

# Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, or any other clearing system ("Alternative Clearing System") as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid.

# Exchange

# **Temporary Global Notes**

Each temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date:

- (i) if the applicable Terms indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with the C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see "Overview of the Programme Selling Restrictions"), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Notes defined and described below; and
- (ii) otherwise, in whole or in part upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement for interests in a permanent Global Note or, if so provided in the applicable Terms, for Definitive Notes.

#### **Permanent Global Notes**

Each permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date in whole but not in part for Definitive Notes if the permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so.

In the event that a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes, such Definitive Notes shall be issued in Specified Denomination(s) only. A Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a Definitive Note in respect of such holding and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.

#### **Permanent Global Certificates**

If the Terms state that the Notes are to be represented by a permanent Global Certificate on issue, the following will apply in respect of transfers of Notes held in Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System. These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the Notes within a clearing system whilst they are held on behalf of such clearing system, but will limit the circumstances in which the Notes may be withdrawn from the relevant clearing system.

Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2(b) may only be made in part:

- (i) if the Notes represented by the Global Certificate are held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or
- (ii) with the consent of the Issuer,

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to paragraph (i) above, the holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days' notice at its specified office of the holder's intention to effect such transfer. Where the holding of Notes represented by a Global Certificate is only transferable in its entirety, the Certificate issued to the transferee upon transfer of such holding shall be a Global Certificate. Where transfers are permitted in part, Certificates issued to transferees shall not be Global Certificates unless the transferee so requests and certifies to the Registrar that it is, or is acting as a nominee for, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and/or an Alternative Clearing System.

# **Delivery of Notes**

On or after any due date for exchange, the holder of a Global Note may surrender such Global Note to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, the Issuer will (i) in the case of a temporary Global Note exchangeable for a permanent Global Note, deliver, or procure the delivery of, a permanent Global Note in an aggregate nominal amount equal to that of the whole or that part of a temporary Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a permanent Global Note to reflect such exchange or (ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes, deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes. In this Base Prospectus, "Definitive Notes" means, in relation to any Global Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons and Receipts in respect of interest or Instalment Amounts that have not already been paid on the Global Note and a Talon). Definitive Notes will be security printed. On exchange in full of each permanent Global Note, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive Notes.

### **Exchange Date**

"Exchange Date" means, in relation to a temporary Global Note, the day falling after the expiry of 40 calendar days after its issue date and, in relation to a permanent Global Note, a day falling not less than 60 calendar days after that on which the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the

specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent is located and in the city in which the relevant clearing system is located.

#### **Amendment to Conditions**

The temporary Global Notes, permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions that apply to the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Notes set out in this Base Prospectus. The following is a summary of those provisions.

### **Payments**

No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note unless exchange for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any temporary Global Note issued in compliance with the D Rules before the Exchange Date will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note will be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent as shall have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose. If the Global Note is a CGN, a record of each payment so made will be endorsed on each Global Note, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made in respect of the Notes. Condition 7(d)(ii)(III) and Condition 10(a)(x) will apply to the Definitive Notes only. If the Global Note is a NGN or if the Global Certificate is held under the NSS, the Issuer shall procure that details of each such payment shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing system and in the case of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes recorded in the records of the relevant clearing system and represented by the Global Note or the Global Certificate will be reduced accordingly. Payments under a NGN will be made to its holder. Each payment so made will discharge the Issuer's obligations in respect thereof. Any failure to make the entries in the records of the relevant clearing system shall not affect such discharge. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Note, the words "in the relevant place of presentation," shall not apply in the definition of "business day" in Condition 9(g) (Non-Business Days).

Condition 9(b) is amended such that all payments in respect of Registered Notes represented by a Global Certificate will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the due date for payment (such date shall be the "**Record Date**" in respect of such Registered Notes), where Clearing System Business Day means Monday to Friday inclusive except 25 December and 1 January.

# Prescription

Claims against the Issuer in respect of Notes that are represented by a permanent Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of ten years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in the Conditions).

# Meetings

The holder of a permanent Global Note or of the Notes represented by a Global Certificate shall (unless such permanent Global Note or Global Certificate represents only one Note) be treated as being two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, the holder of a permanent Global Note shall be treated as having one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes. (All holders of Registered Notes are entitled to one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes comprising such Noteholder's holding, whether or not represented by a Global Certificate.)

#### Cancellation

Cancellation of any Note represented by a permanent Global Note that is required by the Conditions to be cancelled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in the nominal amount of the relevant permanent Global Note.

#### **Purchase**

Notes represented by a permanent Global Note may only be purchased by the Issuer if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest and Instalment Amounts (if any) thereon.

### NGN nominal amount

Where the Global Note is a NGN, the Issuer shall procure that any exchange, payment, cancellation, exercise of any option or any right under the Notes, as the case may be, in addition to the circumstances set out above shall be entered in the records of the relevant clearing systems and upon any such entry being made, in respect of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note shall be adjusted accordingly.

### **Trustee's Powers**

In considering the interests of Noteholders while any Global Note is held on behalf of, or Registered Notes are registered in the name of any nominee for, a clearing system, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such clearing system or its operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to such Global Note or Registered Notes and may consider such interests as if such accountholders were the holders of the Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate.

#### **Notices**

So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the Global Note except that, so long as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, notices shall also be filed with the companies announcement office of the Irish Stock Exchange or such other stock exchange, as applicable. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes on the Reference Business Day immediately following the day on which the said notice was given to the relevant clearing system.

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be used to purchase the Collateral (if applicable) in respect of the relevant Series and/or, if so specified in the applicable Series Prospectus, used to enter into any Credit Support Annex and/or Swap Transaction(s) relating to the relevant Series and/or to pay fees, charges and expenses in connection with the administration of the Issuer and/or the issue of such Notes to the extent such fees, charges and expenses are not covered by payments received under the Swap Agreement relating to such Series.

### **DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER**

#### General

The Issuer was registered and incorporated on 4 November 2009 under the Companies Act 1963 to 2009 of Ireland, registration number 477113. The Issuer has been incorporated for an indefinite period. The Issuer has been established as a special purpose vehicle. The Registered Office of the Issuer is at 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, Beaux Lane House, Mercer Street Lower, Dublin 2, Ireland (tel. number +353 1 6973200). The authorised share capital of the Issuer is €100,000 divided into 100,000 ordinary shares of €1.00 each, of which one ordinary share has been issued. The issued share is fully-paid and held by MaplesFS Trustees Ireland Limited as share trustee (the "Share Trustee") under the terms of a declaration of trust (the "Declaration of Trust") dated 18 October 2010 and a Deed of Appointment and Retirement of Trustees dated 25 March 2014 (the "Deed of Appointment and Retirement"), under which the Share Trustee holds it on trust for the holders of Notes until all payments in respect of such Notes have been duly made and thereafter on trust for charities or charitable purposes. The Share Trustee has no beneficial interest in and derives no benefit (other than its fees for acting as Share Trustee) from its holding of the shares of the Issuer.

#### **Business**

So long as any of the Notes remain outstanding, the Issuer shall not, without the consent in writing of the Trustee (other than where the relevant act is provided for or contemplated in the Conditions or any Transaction Document) engage in any business other than the issuance or entry into of Obligations (as defined in the Master Conditions), the entry into of related agreements and transactions and the performing of acts incidental thereto or necessary in connection therewith, and provided that (i) such Obligations are secured on assets of the Issuer other than the Issuer's share capital and any assets securing any other Obligations (other than Equivalent Obligations) and (ii) such Obligations and any related agreements contain provisions that limit the recourse of any holder of, or counterparty to, such Obligations and of any party to any related agreement to assets other than those to which any other Obligations (other than Equivalent Obligations) have recourse, or, *inter alia*, declare any dividends, have any subsidiaries or employees, purchase, own, lease or otherwise acquire any real property (including office premises or like facilities), consolidate or merge with any other person or convey or transfer its properties or assets substantially as an entity to any person (otherwise than as contemplated in the Conditions and the Principal Trust Deed) or issue any shares (other than such shares as were in issue as at the date of this Base Prospectus). Further details of the restrictions applicable to the Issuer are set out in Condition 5 of the Master Conditions.

The above amounts of ordinary share capital are stated as at the date of this Base Prospectus. The Issuer has not conducted any business since its date of incorporation and registration to the date hereof except as contemplated by this Base Prospectus and the Transaction Documents and except for receiving the ordinary capital subscriptions referenced above. The Issuer has, and will have, no assets other than the sum of &1.00 representing the issued and paid-up share capital, such fees (as agreed) payable to it in connection with the issue of Notes, borrowing under, purchase, sale or entering into of other Obligations and any Mortgaged Property and any other assets on which Notes and/or other Obligations are secured.

No person other than the Issuer will be obliged to make payments on the Notes and the Notes will not be guaranteed by, or be the responsibility of, any other entity. In particular, the Notes (i) do not represent an interest in and will not be obligations of, or insured or guaranteed by, the Arranger, any Transaction Party or any subsidiary, holding company or any company associated with any of them, (ii) will not have the status of a bank deposit and will not be within the scope of any deposit protection scheme and (iii) are not insured or guaranteed by any government, government agency or other body.

The Custodian may be responsible under the Custody Agreement, as the case may be, for receiving payments on the Collateral relating to a Series and remitting them to the relevant Swap Counterparty or the Issuing and Paying Agent, as the case may be.

Save in respect of the fees generated in connection with Notes and/or any other Obligations, any related profits and the proceeds of any deposits and investments made from such fees or from amounts representing the Issuer's issued and paid-up share capital, the Issuer does not expect to accumulate any surpluses. Fees payable by the Issuer to its administrator, the Trustee, the Custodian and other Agents will be paid out of the proceeds of issuing of and/or entering into the relevant Notes or other relevant Obligations and no Transaction Party shall have recourse to assets of the Issuer which are held as security for any Series of Notes or other Obligations other than the Notes in respect of which the claim arises. Additionally, the Paying Agents, the Custodian, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent(s) have agreed that upon enforcement of the Security payments of outstanding fees (if any) shall be

limited to amounts available, following application in accordance with the terms of the relevant Conditions and Trust Deed, to discharge such liabilities.

#### **Directors**

The Directors of the Issuer are as follows:

Name Principal Occupation
Paul Morrision Senior Vice President
Brendan Byrne Vice President

The business address of the Directors is the same as the Registered Office of the Issuer.

Maples Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Ireland with registration number 534947, of 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, Beaux Lane House, Mercer Street Lower, Dublin 2, Ireland is the administrator of the Issuer. Its duties include the provision of certain management, administrative, accounting and related services. The appointment of the administrator may be terminated and the administrator may retire upon three months' notice subject to the appointment of an alternative administrator on similar terms to the existing administrator.

#### **Financial Statements**

The Issuer has prepared unaudited financial statements for the periods ending 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014. The Issuer currently benefits from the exemption provided for by Part 6, Chapter 16 (Special audit exemption for dormant companies) of the Irish Companies Act 2014 to not have its financial statements audited. Once the Issuer is no longer able to avail of this exemption it will prepare annual audited accounts in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

### THE SWAP AGREEMENT

The following applies only in relation to Notes in connection with which there is a Swap Agreement in respect of which ING Bank N.V. is specified in the applicable Terms as the Swap Counterparty. If in respect of a Series ING Bank N.V. is not the Swap Counterparty, the applicable Terms will provide details of the Swap Counterparty and the Swap Agreement.

#### General

The Swap Counterparty shall be ING Bank N.V. or such other entity as specified in the applicable Series Prospectus.

#### ING Bank N.V.

ING Bank N.V. is part of ING Groep N.V.. ING Groep N.V., also called "ING Group" is the holding company of a broad spectrum of companies (together, "**ING**"). ING Group holds all shares of ING Bank N.V., which is a non-listed 100% subsidiary of ING Group.

ING is a holding company incorporated in 1991 under the laws of The Netherlands. ING currently is a global financial institution with a strong European base, offering banking services. ING draws on its experience and expertise, its commitment to excellent service and its global scale to meet the needs of a broad customer base, comprising individuals, families, small businesses, large corporations, institutions and governments. ING services more than 32 million customers in over 40 countries. ING has more than 53,000 employees.

The IPO of NN Group, ING's former European/Japanese insurance businesses, the reduction of ING's stake in NN Group and the full divestment of ING's shares in Voya Financial, Inc. ("Voya") largely completed ING's restructuring.

ING Bank N.V. currently offers retail banking services to individuals, small and medium-sized enterprises ("**SMEs**") and mid-corporates in Europe, Asia and Australia and commercial banking services to customers around the world, including multinational corporations, governments, financial institutions and supranational organisations. ING Bank currently serves more than 32 million customers through an extensive network in more than 40 countries. ING Bank has more than 53,000 employees.

ING Bank N.V.'s reporting structure reflects the two main business lines through which it is active: Retail Banking and Commercial Banking.

# Retail Banking

Retail Banking provides banking services to individuals, SMEs and mid-corporates in Europe, Asia and Australia. A full range of products and services is provided, albeit offerings may vary according to local demand.

ING Bank N.V. believes Retail Banking has market-leading positions in The Netherlands, Belgium and Luxembourg; solid positions in Australia, Austria, France, Germany, Italy and Spain; competitive positions in Poland and Romania, and a promising position in Turkey, and through stakes in Bank of Beijing and TMB, in China and Thailand, respectively.

In the past few years, Retail Banking has been working towards converging its traditional banking model to a digital-first model to provide transparent products, consistent fair pricing and process excellence at low costs.

### Commercial Banking

ING Bank N.V. views Commercial Banking as a European-centric network bank with global franchises in Industry Lending, Financial Markets, Cash Pooling and Trade Finance, having a goal to deliver a differentiating client experience. ING Bank N.V. is a relationship bank for clients around the world and serves a range of organisations, including multinational corporations, financial institutions, governments and supranational organisations through an extensive network of offices in more than 40 countries. ING Bank N.V. provides a range of products and services to support its clients' needs. ING Bank N.V.'s lending capabilities anchor most of its client relationships and its offering are enhanced through Transaction Services, such as International Payments & Cash Management, Trade Finance Services and Working Capital Solutions. Financial Markets, as ING Bank N.V.'s gateway to the professional markets

of the world, services its clients from treasury through to capital markets, risk management and structured financial products.

ING Bank N.V. is investing in its business transformation programme to create a differentiating client experience. It is targeting continued growth in its client base and in Industry Lending and Transaction Services. In Challenger countries (Germany, Austria, Spain, Italy, France and Australia) it is expanding its asset generating capabilities to promote locally optimised balance sheets and broader franchises.

ING Bank N.V. was incorporated under Dutch law in The Netherlands on 12 November 1927 for an indefinite duration in the form of a public limited company as Nederlandsche Middenstandsbank N.V. The registered office of ING Bank N.V. is at Bijlmerplein 888, 1102 MG Amsterdam, The Netherlands (telephone number: +31 20 563 9111). ING Bank N.V. is registered at the Chamber of Commerce of Amsterdam under no.33031431 and its corporate seat is in Amsterdam, The Netherlands. ING Bank N.V. has securities listed on Euronext Amsterdam.

# **Swap Agreement**

In connection with the issue of the Notes, the Issuer may enter into a 2002 ISDA Master Agreement together with a Schedule thereto (the "ISDA Master Agreement") with a counterparty (the "Swap Counterparty") and may also enter into a credit support annex to the Schedule to the ISDA Master Agreement in the form of the Credit Support Annex (Bilateral Form – Transfer) (the "Credit Support Annex"). The Credit Support Annex (if any) will supplement, form part of, and be subject to, the ISDA Master Agreement and will form part of the Schedule thereto (the ISDA Master Agreement as supplemented by the Credit Support Annex (if any) the "Master Agreement"). For the purposes of the ISDA Master Agreement, the credit support arrangements set out in the Credit Support Annex (if any) will constitute a transaction for the purposes of the ISDA Master Agreement (for which purposes the Credit Support Annex will constitute the confirmation). In connection with the issue of the Notes, the Issuer may enter into one or more transactions under the ISDA Master Agreement (each such transaction, a "Swap Transaction", and the confirmation(s) evidencing such transaction(s) together with the Master Agreement, the "Swap Agreement"). Any Swap Agreement will be governed by the laws of England.

Except as provided in the Trust Deed, the terms of a Swap Agreement may not be amended without the consent of the Trustee, and in respect of a material change only, the Noteholders themselves. The Trustee can agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any modification which is, in its opinion, of a formal, minor or technical nature or to correct a manifest error.

Set out below are summaries of certain provisions of the Swap Agreement. Such summaries are qualified in their entirety by the terms of the Swap Agreement.

#### **Payments**

The Swap Agreement sets out certain payments to be made from the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty and vice versa. Payments made by the Issuer under the Swap Agreement will be funded from sums received by the Issuer on the issue of the relevant Notes and/or received in respect of the Collateral (if any) relating to such Notes.

The payments required between the Issuer and the Swap Counterparty under the Swap Agreement are designed to ensure that following the making of such payments the Issuer will have such funds, when taken together with amounts available to it from the issue of the relevant Notes and/or received in respect of the Collateral relating to such Notes (if any), as are necessary for it to meet its payment obligations under such Notes and the related Transaction Documents. Such payment obligations may, without limitation, include:

- (i) to pay the purchase price for the Collateral (if any) relating to the relevant Series of Notes;
- (ii) to make payments of any Interest Amount (or any other amount payable by it by way of interest), Instalment Amount and the Final Redemption Amount in respect of the Notes;
- (iii) to make payment of certain fees, charges and expenses to Agents, rating agencies, accountants, auditors or other service providers which fees, charges and expenses are associated with or are attributable to such Notes; and/or

(iv) to make payment of any fees payable to any portfolio manager (if any) appointed by the Issuer in respect of the Swap Agreement and/or the Notes or any other manager, administrator or adviser providing a service or performing a function with respect to any Collateral, the Swap Agreement and/or the Notes.

The exact payments due under the Swap Agreement for a particular Series will vary from Series to Series depending on the terms of those Series. The exact payments will be agreed between the Issuer and the Swap Counterparty at the time of entry into of the relevant Swap Agreement. There is no restriction upon the payments that may be agreed.

#### **Events of Default**

The Swap Agreement provides for certain "Events of Default" relating to the Issuer and the Swap Counterparty, the occurrence of which may lead to a termination of the Swap Agreement.

The Events of Default (as defined in the Swap Agreement) which relate to the Issuer are limited to:

- (i) failure by the Issuer to make, when due, any payment or delivery under the Swap Agreement required to be made by it if not remedied within the time period specified therein;
- (ii) certain bankruptcy events relating to the Issuer; and
- (iii) the Issuer consolidating or amalgamating with, or merging with or into, or transferring all or substantially all its assets to, or reorganising, reincorporating or reconstituting into or as, another entity in circumstances where the resulting, surviving or transferee entity fails to assume all the obligations of the Issuer under the Swap Agreement.

The Events of Default (as defined in the Swap Agreement) which relate to the Swap Counterparty are limited to:

- (i) failure by the Swap Counterparty to make, when due, any payment or delivery under the Swap Agreement required to be made by it if not remedied within the time period specified therein;
- (ii) certain breaches by the Swap Counterparty of its obligations under the Swap Agreement which are not, following notice of such failure, remedied with the time period specified therein;
- (iii) the Swap Counterparty disaffirming, disclaiming, repudiating or rejecting, in whole or in part, or challenging the validity of the Swap Agreement, any relevant Confirmation or Swap Transaction;
- (iv) certain representations made by the Swap Counterparty in the Swap Agreement proving to be incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or repeated;
- (v) certain defaults of the Swap Counterparty under one or more agreements relating to certain specified indebtedness in an aggregate amount greater than the relevant specified threshold amount;
- (vi) certain bankruptcy events relating to the Swap Counterparty; and
- (vii) the Swap Counterparty consolidating or amalgamating with, or merging with or into, or transferring all or substantially all its assets to, or reorganising, reincorporating or reconstituting into or as, another entity in circumstances where the resulting, surviving or transferee entity fails to assume all the obligations of the Issuer under the Swap Agreement.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Swap Agreement, the non-defaulting party may deliver a notice of termination in respect of which an Early Termination Date shall be deemed to have been designated in respect of all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement on the 12th Reference Business Day following the day on which such notice to the defaulting party is effective.

### **Termination Events**

The Swap Agreement provides for certain "Termination Events" the occurrence of any of which may lead to termination of all outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement, these include:

- (i) certain illegality and force majeure events;
- (ii) certain tax events pursuant to which, but for the provisions of the Swap Agreement providing that neither party has any obligation to gross-up payments under the Swap Agreement, the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty, as applicable, would have been required to pay the other additional amounts in respect of certain specified indemnifiable taxes or receive a payment from which an amount is required to be deducted or withheld for or on account of tax;
- (iii) a Collateral Default, a Collateral Call, the occurrence of an Early Redemption Trigger Date or an Event of Default under the relevant Series of Notes;
- (iv) the Issuer failing to give an Early Redemption notice to Noteholders when required to do so under the Conditions of the relevant Series of Notes; and
- (v) the delivery by the Trustee of an Enforcement Notice relating to a Custodian Enforcement Event to the Issuer.

The occurrence of the events described in (i) to (ii) above will, pursuant to the terms of the Swap Agreement, entitle the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty, depending on who is specified as the "Affected Party" in the Swap Agreement, to deliver a notice of termination under the Swap Agreement. If the events described in (iii) and (v) above occur, an Early Termination Date will be deemed to have been designated under the Swap Agreement without the need for a notice of termination from the Affected Party. If the events described in (iv) occur, an Early Termination Date will be deemed to have been designated by the Swap Counterparty following delivery by the Swap Counterparty of a notice of termination to the Issuer.

Pursuant to the terms of the Swap Agreement, the Early Termination Date designated or deemed to have been designated in connection with a Termination Event will generally be a date falling three Reference Business Days prior to the related Early Redemption Date under the relevant Series of Notes.

# **Early Termination Amount**

In connection with the designation or deemed designation of an Early Termination Date under the Swap Agreement relating to a Series of Notes either the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty (depending on who is the Non-Defaulting Party or Non-Affected Party in respect of the relevant Event of Default or Termination Event (as defined in the Swap Agreement)), will determine the amount payable in respect of such Early Termination Date (the "Early Termination Amount") in accordance with the terms of the Swap Agreement. The Early Termination Amount is calculated by reference to costs that would be incurred by the determining party in replacing (or providing the economic equivalent of) the rights and obligations that have been terminated, or the gain that would be made in doing so (referred to in the Swap Agreement as the "Close-out Amount"). Pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement, where the Issuer is the party required to effect the calculation of the Close-out Amount the Determination Agent has agreed to make the requisite determinations on behalf of the Issuer. If a Determination Agent Bankruptcy Event occurs in such circumstances, there may be a delay in the determination of the Close-out Amount and the payment of the Early Termination Amount under the Swap Agreement pending appointment of a replacement Determination Agent as provided in the Conditions. The termination currency in respect of a Swap Agreement will be the currency in which the relevant Series to which such Swap Agreement relates is denominated.

# SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS FOR COLLATERAL HELD IN CLEARING SYSTEM

The Security may include a fixed charge over the Collateral (if any) which may be held by or through the Custodian through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or an alternative clearing system (each a "clearing system") in relation to any Collateral in the form of securities. The charge is intended to create a property interest in any such Collateral in favour of the Trustee to secure the relevant Secured Payment Obligations. However, where the Collateral is held through a clearing system, the interests which the Custodian holds and which are traded in the clearing system is not the physical Collateral itself but a series of contractual rights. These rights consist of (i) the Issuer's rights against the Custodian, (ii) the Custodian's rights as an accountholder against the clearing system, (iii) the rights of the clearing system against the common depositary, and (iv) the rights of the common depositary against the issuer of the Collateral. As a result, where any Collateral is held in a clearing system, the Security will take the form of an assignment of the Issuer's rights against the Custodian under the Custody Agreement, as the case may be, rather than a charge over the Collateral itself.

### **TAXATION**

#### IRELAND TAXATION

The following is a summary based on the laws and practices currently in force in Ireland regarding the tax position of investors beneficially owning their Notes and should be treated with appropriate caution. Particular rules may apply to certain classes of taxpayers holding Notes. The summary does not constitute tax or legal advice and the comments below are of a general nature only. Prospective investors in the Notes should consult their professional advisers on the tax implications of the purchase, holding, redemption or sale of the Notes and the receipt of interest thereon under the laws of their country of residence, citizenship or domicile.

# Withholding Tax

In general, tax at the standard rate of income tax (currently 20 per cent.) is required to be withheld from payments of Irish source interest. However, an exemption from withholding on interest payments exists under Section 64 of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997 (the "TCA") for certain underlying securities ("quoted Eurobonds") issued by a body corporate (such as the Issuer) that are interest bearing and quoted on a recognised stock exchange (which would include the Irish Stock Exchange).

Any interest paid on such quoted Eurobonds can be paid free of withholding tax provided:

- (i) the person by or through whom the payment is made is not in Ireland; or
- (ii) the payment is made by or through a person in Ireland, and
- (iii) either (x) the quoted Eurobond is held in a clearing system recognised by the Irish Revenue Commissioners (Euroclear, Clearstream Banking S.A. and Clearstream Banking AG are so recognised) or (y) the person who is the beneficial owner of the quoted Eurobond and who is beneficially entitled to the interest is not resident in Ireland and has made a declaration to the person by or through whom the payment is made in the prescribed form.

So long as the Notes are quoted on a recognised stock exchange and are held in Euroclear and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. and/or Clearstream Banking AG, interest on the Notes can be paid by the Issuer and any paying agent acting on behalf of the Issuer without any withholding or deduction for or on account of Irish income tax.

If, for any reason, the quoted Eurobond exemption referred to above ceases to apply, the Issuer can still pay interest on the Notes free of withholding tax provided it is a "qualifying company" (within the meaning of Section 110 of the TCA) and provided the interest is paid to a person resident in a "relevant territory" (i.e. a Member State of the European Union (other than Ireland) or a country with which Ireland has a double taxation agreement). For this purpose, residence is determined by reference to the law of the country in which the recipient claims to be resident. This exemption from withholding tax will not apply, however, if the interest is paid to a company in connection with a trade or business carried on by it through a branch or agency located in Ireland.

In certain circumstances, Irish tax will be required to be withheld at the standard rate from interest on any quoted Eurobond, where such interest is collected by a bank or other Agent in Ireland on behalf of any Noteholder.

Irish tax will be required to be withheld at the standard rate of income tax (currently 20 per cent.) from interest on any Note, where such interest is collected or realised by a bank or encashment agent in Ireland on behalf of any Noteholder. There is an exemption from encashment tax where the beneficial owner of the interest is not resident in Ireland and has made a declaration to this effect in the prescribed form to the encashment agent or bank.

# **Taxation of Noteholders**

Notwithstanding that a Noteholder may receive interest on the Notes free of withholding tax, the Noteholder may still be liable to pay Irish income tax. Interest paid on the Notes may have an Irish source and therefore be within the charge to Irish income tax and levies. Ireland operates a self assessment system in respect of income tax and any person, including a person who is neither resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland, with Irish source income comes within its scope.

However, interest on the Notes will be exempt from Irish income tax if the recipient of the interest is not resident in Ireland and is resident in a relevant territory provided either (i) the Notes are quoted Eurobonds and are exempt from withholding tax as set out above or (ii) in the event of the Notes not being or ceasing to be quoted Eurobonds exempt from withholding tax, if the Issuer is a qualifying company within the meaning of Section 110 of the TCA, or if the Issuer has ceased to be a qualifying company, the recipient of the interest is a company.

In addition, provided that the Notes are quoted Eurobonds and are exempt from withholding tax as set out above, the interest on the Notes will be exempt from Irish income tax if the recipient of the interest is (i) a company under the control, directly or indirectly, of persons who by virtue of the law of a relevant territory are resident in that country and that person or persons are not themselves under the control, whether directly or indirectly, of a person who is not resident in such a country, or (ii) a company, the principal class of shares of such company, or another company of which the recipient company is a 75 per cent. subsidiary, is substantially and regularly traded on one or more recognised stock exchanges in a relevant territory or a stock exchange approved by the Irish Minister for Finance.

Noteholders receiving interest on the Notes which does not fall within the above exemptions may in limited circumstances be liable to Irish income tax.

Notwithstanding these exemptions from income tax, a corporate recipient that carries on a trade in Ireland through a branch or agency in respect of which the Notes are held or attributed, may have a liability to Irish corporation tax on the interest.

### **Capital Gains Tax**

A holder of Notes will be subject to Irish tax on capital gains on a disposal of Notes unless such holder is neither resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and does not carry on a trade in Ireland through a branch or agency in respect of which the Notes are used or held or to which or to whom the Notes are attributable.

# **Capital Acquisitions Tax**

A gift or inheritance comprising Notes will be within the charge to capital acquisitions tax if either (i) the disponer or the donee/successor in relation to the gift or inheritance is resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland (or, in certain circumstances, if the disponer is domiciled in Ireland irrespective of his residence or that of the donee/successor) or (ii) if the Notes are regarded as property situated in Ireland. Bearer notes are generally regarded as situated where they are physically located at any particular time and registered notes are generally regarded as situated where the principal register is maintained or obliged to be maintained, but the Notes may be regarded as situated in Ireland regardless of their physical location or the location of the register as they are secured over Irish property, and they themselves secure a debt due by an Irish resident debtor. Accordingly, if such Notes are comprised in a gift or inheritance, the gift or inheritance may be within the charge to tax regardless of the residence status of the disponer or the donee/successor.

# **Stamp Duty**

On the basis of an exemption provided for in Section 85(2)(c) to the Stamp Duties Consolidation Act, 1999 provided the proceeds of the Notes are used in the course of the Issuer's business, no stamp duty or similar tax is imposed in Ireland on the issue, transfer or redemption of the Notes whether they are represented by Global Notes or Definitive Notes.

# EU Directive on the taxation of savings income and other eu information exchange arrangements

Under European Directive 2003/48/EC on taxation of savings income (the "Savings Directive"), Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of payments of interest and other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to, or for the benefit of, an individual resident in another Member State, or in certain other jurisdictions or associated and dependent territories of a Member States, except that for a transitional period Austria instead operates a withholding system unless during that period it elects otherwise (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries and territories). The rate of withholding tax in Austria is 35%. Certain other jurisdictions, including Switzerland, have enacted equivalent legislation which imposes a withholding tax in substantially the same circumstances as envisaged by the Savings Directive.

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted the Amending Directive amending and broadening the scope of the requirements described above. In particular, the changes expand the range of payments covered by the

Savings Directive to include certain additional types of income, and widen the range of recipients payments to whom are covered by the Savings Directive, to include certain other types of entity and legal arrangement. Member States are required to implement national legislation giving effect to these changes by 01 January 2016 (which national legislation must apply from 01 January 2017).

On 09 December 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted a further Directive (EC Council Directive 2014/107/EU amending EU Council Directive 2011/16/EU) on the mandatory automatic exchange of information, to implement the OECD measures known as the "Common Reporting Standard". Member States are required to implement this Directive in respect of taxable periods from 1 January 2016 and to begin exchanging information pursuant to such Directive no later than 30 September 2017 (subject to deferral under transitional rules in the case of Austria). The Common Reporting Standard is generally broader than the Savings Directive, although it does not impose withholding taxes.

On 10 November 2015, the Council of the European Union adopted EU Council Directive 2015/2060/EU repealing the Savings Directive with effect from 1 January 2016 (or 1 January 2017 in the case of Austria), subject to ongoing requirements to fulfil administrative obligations such as the reporting and exchange of information relating to, and accounting for withholding taxes on, payments made before those dates. The repeal of the Savings Directive is intended to prevent overlap between the Savings Directive and the Common Reporting Standard.

Holders of the Notes should note that should any payment in respect of the Notes be subject to withholding imposed as a consequence of the Savings Directive or under equivalent legislation, no additional amounts would be payable by the Issuer pursuant to the provisions of Condition 11 of the Terms and Conditions.

# THE FOREIGN ACCOUNT TAX COMPLIANCE ACT

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and US Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder (together "FATCA") impose a new reporting regime and potentially a 30% withholding tax with respect to certain payments to (i) any non-U.S. financial institution (a "foreign financial institution", or "FFI" (as defined by FATCA)) that does not become a "Participating FFI" by entering into an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") to provide the IRS with certain information in respect of its account holders or is not otherwise exempt from or in deemed compliance with FATCA and (ii) any account holder (unless otherwise exempt from FATCA) that does not provide information sufficient to determine whether such account holder is a U.S. person or should otherwise be treated as holding a "United States account" (as defined under FATCA) of the Issuer (a "Recalcitrant Holder").

FATCA implementation is being phased in for payments from sources within the United States and is currently proposed to apply to "foreign passthru payments" (a term not yet defined) made by an FFI to a non-participating FFI or Recalcitrant Holder no earlier than 01 January 2019. This withholding on foreign passthru payments would potentially apply to payments in respect of (i) any Notes issued or materially modified on or after the "grandfathering date", which is the date that is six months after the date on which final U.S. Treasury regulations defining the term 'foreign passthru payment' are filed with the Federal Register; and (ii) any Notes characterised as equity or which do not have a fixed term for U.S. federal tax purposes, whenever issued. If Notes are issued before the grandfathering date, and additional Notes of the same series are issued on or after that date, the additional Notes may not be treated as grandfathered, which may have negative consequences for the existing Notes, including a negative impact on market price.

The United States and a number of other jurisdictions have entered into or announced their intention to enter into intergovernmental agreements to facilitate the implementation of FATCA (each, an "IGA"). In some cases such IGAs have been signed; in other cases, negotiations are still ongoing. Pursuant to FATCA and the "Model 1" and "Model 2" IGAs released by the United States, most FFIs in an IGA signatory country should be treated as a "Reporting Financial Institution" or "Reporting FI" (as defined in the IGA) that would generally not be subject to withholding under FATCA on any payments it receives. Further, an FFI in a Model 1 IGA jurisdiction generally would not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an IGA or agreement with the IRS relating to FATCA) (any such withholding being a "FATCA Withholding") from payments it makes (unless, in certain circumstances, it has agreed to do so under the U.S. "qualified intermediary," "withholding foreign partnership," or "withholding foreign trust" regimes or, in certain limited circumstances, where the payments are made to a Recalcitrant Holder). The Model 2 IGA requires Reporting FIs to apply FATCA Withholding to U.S. source payments in certain circumstances and leaves open the possibility that a Reporting FI might in the future be required to make FATCA Withholdings on foreign passthru payments. Under each Model IGA, a Reporting FI would still be required to report certain information in respect of its account holders to its home government or to the IRS unless it is treated as exempt from having "financial accounts" for FATCA purposes. On 21 December 2012, the governments of Ireland

and the United States signed an agreement based largely on the Model 1 IGA (the "US-Ireland IGA"). The Financial Accounts Reporting (United States of America) Regulations 2014 ("Irish FATCA Regulations"), which give effect to FATCA in Ireland, were enacted on 20 June 2014 and are effective from 1 July 2014. As the Issuer is an FFI it is subject to the Irish FATCA Regulations and, as a consequence, registered with the Internal Revenue Service with Global Intermediary Identification Number L5D9UU.99999.SL.372 and will report to the Irish Revenue Commissioners on an annual basis (starting in 2015) certain details regarding Noteholders that are "Specified US Persons", subject to any applicable exemptions.

The Issuer is a "Reporting FI" pursuant to the US-Ireland IGA and does not expect to be subject to FATCA Withholding on payments. There can be no assurance, however, that the Issuer would not in the future be required to deduct FATCA Withholding from future payments. Accordingly, the Issuer and financial institutions through which payments on the Notes are made may be required to withhold FATCA Withholding if (i) any FFI through or to which payment on such Notes is made is not a Participating FFI, a Reporting FI, or otherwise exempt from or in deemed compliance with FATCA or (ii) an investor is a Recalcitrant Holder.

In the case of Notes which are in global form and held within a clearing system, it is expected that FATCA will not affect the amount of any payments made under, or in respect of, the Notes by the Issuer or any paying agent and the common depositary for such clearing system, given that each of the entities in the payment chain between the Issuer and the participants in the clearing system is a major financial institution whose business is dependent on compliance with FATCA and that any alternative approach introduced under an IGA will be unlikely to affect the Notes. Notes may be issued in definitive form and therefore not held, or may be exchanged for Notes in definitive form and therefore may cease to be held, through a clearing system. If this were to happen then, depending on the circumstances, payments to a non-FATCA compliant holder could be subject to FATCA Withholding.

However, FATCA may affect payments made to custodians or intermediaries in the subsequent payment chain leading to the ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary generally is unable to receive payments free of FATCA Withholding. It may also affect payment to any ultimate investor that is a financial institution that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding under FATCA, or an ultimate investor that fails to provide its broker (or other custodian or intermediary from which it receives payment) with any information, forms, other documentation or consents that may be necessary for the payments to be made free of FATCA Withholding. Investors should choose the custodians or intermediaries with care (to ensure that each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or agreements related to FATCA, including any legislation implementing IGAs relating to FATCA, if applicable), and provide each custodian or intermediary with any information, forms and/or other documentation or consents that may be necessary for such custodian or intermediary to make a payment free of FATCA Withholding. Investors should consult their own tax adviser to obtain a more detailed explanation of FATCA and how FATCA may affect them. The Issuer's obligations under the Notes are discharged once it has paid the common depositary for the clearing system (as legal owner of the Notes) and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any amount thereafter transmitted through the clearing systems and custodians or intermediaries.

If a FATCA Withholding were to be made from interest, principal or other payments made in respect of the Notes, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person would, pursuant to the conditions of the Notes, be required to pay any additional amounts as a result of the FATCA Withholding. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected.

THE FATCA PROVISIONS ARE PARTICULARLY COMPLEX AND THEIR APPLICATION TO THE ISSUER AND THE NOTES IS UNCERTAIN AT THIS TIME. THE ABOVE DESCRIPTION IS BASED IN PART ON REGULATIONS, OFFICIAL GUIDANCE AND MODEL IGAS, AND THE IGA BETWEEN IRELAND AND THE UNITED STATES, ALL OF WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE OR MAY BE IMPLEMENTED IN A MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FORM. NOTHING IN THIS SECTION CONSTITUTES OR PURPORTS TO CONSTITUTE TAX ADVICE AND NOTEHOLDERS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON ANY PROVISION SET OUT IN THIS SECTION FOR THE PURPOSES OF MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION, TAX DECISION OR OTHERWISE. EACH INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED EXPLANATION OF THE FATCA PROVISIONS AND TO LEARN HOW THIS LEGISLATION MIGHT AFFECT IT IN ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

### COMMON REPORTING STANDARD

Ireland and a number of other jurisdictions have also announced that they propose to enter into multilateral arrangements modelled on the Common Reporting Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD"). If implemented into Irish law, this may require the Issuer to provide certain information to the Irish Revenue Commissioners about

Noteholders resident or established in the jurisdictions which are party to such arrangements (which information will in turn be provided to the relevant tax authorities).

### SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

### **Summary of Dealer Agreement**

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in a dealer agreement dated 15 December 2015 (the "**Dealer Agreement**") between the Issuer, the Permanent Dealers and the Arranger the Notes will be offered on a continuous basis by the Issuer to the Permanent Dealers or such other Dealers as may be appointed from time to time in respect of any Series pursuant to the Dealer Agreement. The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Dealer Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are jointly and severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

The Issuer has agreed to pay the commissions as agreed between them in respect of each issue of Notes on a syndicated basis or otherwise. Such commissions (if any) will be stated in the applicable Series Prospectus.

The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the Issuer.

#### **Selling Restrictions**

#### **United States**

The Issuer has not been and will not be registered under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act") and the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). Consequently, the Notes may not be offered, sold, resold, delivered or transferred within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Residents (as defined below) or U.S. persons (as such term is defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) or persons that are not Non-United States Persons (as defined by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission).

In addition, Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and regulations thereunder.

The Base Prospectus has been prepared by the Issuer for use in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes outside the United States to non-U.S. Residents or non-U.S. persons.

#### "U.S. Resident" means:

- (a) any natural person resident in the United States (for purposes of the definition of "U.S. Resident," the term "United States" means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of the United States, the District of Columbia and any enclave of the United States government, its agencies or instrumentalities);
- (b) any partnership, corporation or other business entity organized or incorporated under the laws of the United States or any state thereof;
- (c) any estate of which any executor or administrator is a resident of the United States;
- (d) any trust of which any trustee, beneficiary or, if the trust is revocable, any settlor is a resident of the United States;
- (e) any agency or branch of a foreign entity located in the United States;
- (f) any discretionary or non-discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or fiduciary for the benefit or account of a resident of the United States;
- (g) any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or fiduciary organized or incorporated in the United States, or (if an individual) a resident of the United States; or

(h) any partnership, corporation or other entity organized or incorporated under the laws of any foreign jurisdiction formed by or for a resident of the United States principally for the purpose of engaging in one or more transactions described in the Volcker Rule's permitted activity exemptions for certain activities conducted solely outside of the United States (the "Volcker Rule" refers to Section 13 of the U.S. Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 and its implementing regulations).

# European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State"), each Dealer has represented and agreed that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date") it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes (which are the subject of an offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus) to the public in that Relevant Member State, except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State:

- (a) if the Series Prospectus in relation to the Notes specifies that an offer of those Notes may be made other than pursuant to Article (3)2 of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State (a "Non-exempt Offer") following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the Series Prospectus contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable, and the Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of that Non-exempt Offer;
- (b) at any time to any legal entity which is a "qualified investor" as defined in the Prospectus Directive;
- (c) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the Issuer or Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State and the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the Directive 2010/73/EU) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

# **United Kingdom**

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that:

- in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year (a) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) (the "FSMA") by the Issuer;
- (ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section

- 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to such Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

#### Ireland

Each of the Dealers has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold, placed or underwritten and will not offer, sell, place or underwrite the Notes, or do anything in Ireland in respect of the Notes, otherwise than in conformity with the provisions of:

- (i) the European Communities (Markets in Financial Instruments) Regulations 2007 (Nos. 1 to 3), and any codes of conduct or rules issued in connection therewith and any conditions, requirements or other enactments imposed or approved by the Central Bank, and the provisions of the Irish Investor Compensation Act 1998 (as amended);
- (ii) the Irish Central Bank Acts 1942 2014 and any codes of practice made under section 117(1) of the Irish Central Bank Act 1989 or any regulation made pursuant to Part 8 of the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013;
- (iii) the provisions of the Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations 2005 (as amended) and any rules issued under section 1363 of the Irish Companies Act 2014 by the Central Bank;
- (iv) the provisions of the Market Abuse (Directive 2003/6/EC) Regulations 2005 and any rules issued under section 1370 of the Irish Companies Act 2014 by the Central Bank;
- (v) the provisions of section 68(3) of the Irish Companies Act 2014; and
- (vi) it will ensure that no Notes will be offered or sold with a maturity of less than 12 months except in full compliance with Notice BSD C 01/02 issued by the Central Bank.

### General

These selling restrictions may be modified by the agreement of the Issuer and the Dealers following a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification will be set out in the applicable Series Prospectus relating to the Notes.

No representation is made that any action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of the Base Prospectus or any other offering material(s) or any Series Prospectus, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.

Each Dealer has agreed that it will, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant laws, regulations and directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or distributes the Base Prospectus, any other offering material or any Series Prospectus and neither the Issuer nor any other Dealer shall have responsibility therefor.

### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

- (i) The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with the establishment of the Programme. The update of the Programme was authorised by a board resolution passed on 14 December 2015.
- (ii) The Issuer is not nor has been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) during the 12 months preceding the date of this Base Prospectus which may have or has had in the recent past significant effects on its financial position or profitability.
- (iii) Each Bearer Note having a maturity of more than one year, Receipt and Coupon will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".
- (iv) The Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg systems (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records). The Common Code, the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and (where applicable) the identification number for any other relevant clearing system for each Series of Notes will be set out in the applicable Series Prospectus in respect thereof.
  - The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. The address of any alternative clearing system will be specified in the applicable Series Prospectus.
- (v) The Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance information in relation to any Series of Notes or the Collateral relating to any Series of Notes.
- (vi) For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to the Programme (in respect of (vi)(a), (vi)(b), (vi)(d), (vi)(e) and (vi)(f)) and for so long as any listed Notes remain outstanding, from the date of the relevant document (in respect of (vi)(c) and (vi)(g)), the following documents will be available in printed form free of charge, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer and at the specified office of HSBC Bank plc:
  - (a) the Principal Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the definitive Bearer Notes, the Certificates, the Coupons, the Receipts and the Talons);
  - (b) the Agency Agreement;
  - (c) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer;
  - (d) the Declaration of Trust and Deed of Appointment and Retirement;
  - (e) a copy of this Base Prospectus together with any supplement to this Base Prospectus;
  - (f) the audited accounts of the Issuer for the two financial years most recently ended, if applicable; and
  - (g) each applicable Series Prospectus (save that where a Series of Notes is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Directive the applicable Terms will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the Issuing and Paying Agent as to its holding of Notes and identity) and each subscription agreement (if any) and the related Supplemental Trust Deed, Swap Agreement and Custody Agreement for Notes which are listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the Market.

The Base Prospectus and the applicable Prospectus for Notes that are listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the Market may be published on the website of the Central Bank (<a href="www.centralbank.ie">www.centralbank.ie</a>).

- (vii) In the period from incorporation to the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer has not commenced operations and has prepared unaudited financial statements for the periods ending 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014. The Issuer does not publish interim accounts.
- (viii) KPMG, Chartered Accountants, at 1 Harbourmaster Place, IFSC, Dublin 1, a firm of Chartered Accountants, who are members of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and are qualified to act as auditors in Ireland have been appointed as auditors of the Issuer. As at the date of the Base Prospectus the Issuer has not commenced operations (other than the finalisation of documentation relating to the Programme).
- (ix) The EU has adopted a directive regarding the taxation of savings income. The directive requires Member States to provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of payments of interest and other similar income paid by a person to an individual or to certain other persons in another Member State, except that Austria, Belgium and Luxembourg may instead impose a withholding system for a transitional period (subject to a procedure whereby, on meeting certain conditions, the beneficial owner of the interest or other income may request that no tax be withheld) unless during such period they elect otherwise.
- (x) The Issuer is a company incorporated under the laws of Ireland. No Director of the Issuer is a resident of the United States, and all or a substantial portion of the assets of the Issuer and such persons are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon the Issuer or such persons or to enforce against any of them in the United States courts judgments obtained in the United States courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States.
- (xi) So long as any of the Notes are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, the Issuer will, unless it becomes subject to and complies with the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act or the information furnishing requirements of Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder, provide to any holder or beneficial owner of Notes that are restricted securities, or to any prospective purchaser of Notes that are restricted securities designated by a holder or beneficial owner, upon the request of such holder, beneficial owner or prospective purchaser, the information required to be provided by Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

# Registered Office of the Issuer

2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, Beaux Lane House Mercer Street Lower Dublin 2 Ireland

#### Trustee

# **Issuing and Paying Agent and Calculation Agent**

**HSBC Corporate Trustee Company (UK) Limited** 

Level 27 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ

Registrar, Paying Agent and Transfer Agent

HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ

Custodian

**Determination Agent** 

ING Bank N.V. 60 London Wall London EC2M 5TQ United Kingdom

Arranger

ING Bank N.V. 60 London Wall London EC2M 5TQ

**Listing Agent** 

Maples and Calder 75 St. Stephen's Green Dublin 2 Ireland

**Legal Advisers** 

To the Arranger in respect of English law

To the Issuer in respect of Irish Law

To the Trustee In respect of English law

Simmons & Simmons LLP

CityPoint One Ropemaker Street London EC2Y 9SS Maples and Calder 75 St. Stephen's Green Dublin 2 Ireland Allen & Overy LLP One Bishops Square London E1 6AD